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ABOUT THIS REPORT

In this annual report, “Safe Bulkers,” “the Compgdnye,” “us” and “our” are sometimes used for c@mience where references are
made to Safe Bulkers, Inc. and its subsidiariesvgbas the predecessors of the foregoing). Th&peessions are also used where no useful
purpose is served by identifying the particular pamy or companies. Our affiliated management compaafety Management Overseas S.A.
a company incorporated under the laws of the RépobPanama, is sometimes referred to in this ahreport as “Safety Managemeiat” our
“Manager.”

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements in this annual report that are matesnents of historical fact are “forward-lookirtgtements” within the meaning of the
United States Private Securities Litigation Refdkot of 1995. The disclosure and analysis set fortihis annual report includes assumptions,
expectations, projections, intentions and belibfsua future events in a number of places, partityla relation to our operations, cash flows,
financial position, plans, strategies, businesspeots, changes and trends in our business amdattikets in which we operate. These
statements are intended as forward-looking statesnBnsome cases, predictive, future-tense ordoawooking words such as “believe,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “fogcast,” “plan,” “potential,” “may,” “should,” andeéxpect” and similar expressions are intende
to identify forward-looking statements, but are tiw exclusive means of identifying such statemdntaddition, we and our representatives
may from time to time make other oral or writteatsments which are forward-looking statementspiticlg in our periodic reports that we file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SE@Ber information sent to our security holders] ather written materials.

Forward-looking statements include, but are noitéthto, such matters as:

. future operating or financial results and futureereues and expenses;

. future, pending or recent acquisitions, businesgexiy, areas of possible expansion and expectethcspending or operating
expenses

. availability of key employees, crew, length and iemof off-hire days, drydocking requirements amel fand insurance costs;

. general market conditions and shipping industrgdee including charter rates, vessel values andrfaaffecting supply and
demand

. our financial condition and liquidity, including pability to make required payments under our aridilities, comply with our
loan covenants and obtain additional financindhafuture to fund capital expenditures, acquisgiand other corporate
activities;

. the overall health and condition of the U.S. arabgl financial markets, including the value of thé. dollar relative to other
currencies



. our expectations about availability of vesselsueochase, the time that it may take to constructdeider new vessels or the
useful lives of our vessel

. our continued ability to enter into period time dhas with our customers and secure profitable egnpent for our vessels in the
spot market

. our expectations relating to dividend paymentsalitity to make such payments;

. our ability to leverage our Manager's relationshapsl reputation within the drybulk shipping indydis our advantage;

. our anticipated general and administrative expenses

. environmental and regulatory conditions, includatgnges in laws and regulations or actions takemredpylatory authorities;
. risks inherent in vessel operation, including tesm, piracy and discharge of pollutants;

. potential liability from future litigation; and

. other factors discussed in “Item 3. Key InformatienD. Risk Factors” of this annual report.

We caution that the forward-looking statementstded in this annual report represent our estinatdsassumptions only as of the
date of this annual report and are not intendagivi® any assurance as to future results. Assungtexpectations, projections, intentions and
beliefs about future events may, and often do, framy actual results and these differences canddenml. The reasons for this include the
risks, uncertainties and factors described undentI3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors.” As auksthe forward-looking events discussed
in this annual report might not occur and our datesults may differ materially from those antidigéiin the forward-looking statements.
Accordingly, you should not unduly rely on any famd-looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to update or revisefanyard-looking statements contained in this anmapbrt, whether as a result of
new information, future events, a change in ouwsier expectations or otherwise. New factors eméuge time to time, and it is not possible
for us to predict all of these factors. Further,a@@not assess the impact of each such factor mbusiness or the extent to which any facto
combination of factors, may cause actual resultsetmaterially different from those contained ity éorward-looking statement.
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PART |

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISE RS
Not applicable
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A. Selected Financial Date

The following table presents selected consolidéitexhcial and other data of Safe Bulkers, Inc.dach of the five years in the five
year period ended December 31, 2012. The tablddheuead together wit‘ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Protpédhe
selected consolidated financial data of Safe Bslkierc. is a summary of, is derived from, and ialified by reference to, our audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thendtich have been prepared in accordance with g§eBerally accepted accounting princip
or “U.S. GAAP.”

Our audited consolidated statements of incomegsiadders’ equity and cash flows for the years erdecember 31, 2010, 2011 and
2012 and the consolidated balance sheets at Dec&hp2011 and 2012, together with the notes tbeegt included in “Iltem 18. Financial

Statements” and should be read in their entirety.

Year Ended December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

(In thousands of U.S. dollars except share dati
STATEMENT OF INCOME

Revenue! $ 208,41. $ 168,40 $ 159,69¢ $ 172,03t $ 187,55
Commissions (7,639 (3,799 (2,67¢) (3,129 (3,269
Net revenue 200,77. 164,60t 157,02 168,90t 184,291
Voyage expense (273) (577) (610 (1,987 (7,286
Vessel operating expens (17,619 (19,629 (23,129 (26,06¢) (34,54()
Depreciatior (10,619 (13,897 (19,679 (23,63 (32,25()
General and administrative expen

Management fee to related pa (4,420 (4,43¢) (4,880 (6,026 (7,726

Third party expense (3,625 (2,610 (2,139 (2,469 (2,220
Early redelivery (cost)/incom (565) 74,95: 132 207 11,677
Loss on asset purchase cancellati — (20,699 — — —
Gain on sale of assets — — 15,19¢ — —
Operating income 163,66( 177,71« 121,92. 108,93 111,95:
Interest expens (16,39 (10,349 (6,429 (5,250 (9,072
Other finance cosi (408) (442) (330 (1,055 (1,26%)
Interest incom 1,49 2,16¢ 2,627 1,04¢ 1,122
Loss on derivative (19,509 (4,41¢) (8,169 (12,49) (5,389
Foreign currency (loss)/ga (9,509 83¢ 281 (799 ©)]
Amortization and write-off of deferred finance

charges (137) (10€) (26€) (6539) (1,226
Net income $ 119,21: $ 165,41 $ 109,64  $ 89,73  $ 96,12(
Earnings per share, basic and dilu $ 21¢ % 3.0 3% 1.7 $ 12¢ 3 1.27
Cash dividends declared per sh $ 3.8 % 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 06 $ 0.5(
Weighted average number of shares outstand

basic and dilute 54,500,88 54,510,58 63,300,46 69,463,09 75,468,46



Year Ended December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

(In thousands of U.S. dollars except share data)
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 259,59° $ 211,33t $ 118,14  $ 107,18¢ $ 105,06!
Net cash (used in) investing activiti (148,22) (191,867 (131,709 (125,889 (158,149
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activi (83,679 (28,747 60,13¢ (18,519 127,68:
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

equivalents 27,70 (9,267 46,57 (37,219 74,60

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

(In thousands of U.S. dollars except share dati
BALANCE SHEET DATA

Total current asse $ 88,08t $ 105,64t $ 104,27¢  $ 37,95¢ $ 171,82
Total fixed asset 387,29t 467,51 640,25! 777,66: 849,90:
Other noi-current asset 6,90( 55,56 60,83¢ 61,64¢ 60,48
Total assets 482,28 628,72 805,37 877,27: 1,082,21.
Total current liabilities 70,86: 65,55 52,98 51,67 47,49
Derivative liabilitie—Long-term 21,71¢ 15,51( 9,78 10,13( 8,97¢
Long-term debt, net of current portic 413,48: 420,99: 467,07( 465,80! 596,46!
Unearned reven—Long-term 11,76¢ 29,45( 31,39¢ 17,82: 3,41¢
Total shareholde’ (deficit)/equity (35,549 97,21¢ 244,13: 331,84. 425,821
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 482,28: 628,72: 805,37 877,27: 1,082,21.
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable

D. Risk Factors

SOME OF THE FOLLOWING RISKS RELATE PRINCIPALLY TOHE INDUSTRY IN WHICH WE OPERATE AND OUR BUSINESS
IN GENERAL. OTHER RISKS RELATE PRINCIPALLY TO THEBCURITIES MARKET AND OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON
STOCK, INCLUDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF OWNERSH@®F OUR COMMON STOCK. THE OCCURRENCE OF ANY OF
THE EVENTS DESCRIBED IN THIS SECTION COULD SIGNIFANTLY AND NEGATIVELY AFFECT
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OUR BUSINESS, FINANCIAL CONDITION OR OPERATING RE3JS OR THE TRADING PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK.

Risks Inherent in Our Industry and Our Business

The international drybulk shipping industry is cyiclal and volatile, and charter rates are significtlip lower than their highs in the middle ¢
2008; these factors may lead to further reducticarsd volatility in our charter rates, vessel valuaad results of operations.

The drybulk shipping industry is cyclical with attiant volatility in charter rates, vessel valued profitability. Because we charter some of
vessels pursuant to short-term time charters, andxpect that the number of vessels in our flestwre charter pursuant to short-term time
charters will increase during 2013 as period tiln@ters contracted during past periods expire,n@e@posed to changes in spot market and
short-term time charter rates for drybulk carri@nsl such changes may affect our earnings and the wéour drybulk carriers at any given
time. The spot market is highly competitive andatité, while period time charter contracts of londaration provide income at pdetermine:
rates over more extended periods of time. We maynable to keep our vessels fully employed in trstgat-term markets. Charter rates
available in the spot market may be insufficieneétable our vessels to be operated profitablygAicant decrease in charter rates would
affect asset values and adversely affect our piufity, cash flows and ability to pay dividends.

During 2012, the Baltic Dry Index, or “BDI,” remad volatile, reaching a high of 1,624 on Janua303,2 and a low of 647 on February 3,
2012.

As of February 15, 2013, 17 of our 25 drybulk véssesre deployed or scheduled to be deployed adogé&me charters of more than three
months term. In addition, we have contracted taiaecseven vessels comprised of six newbuilds aedsecondhand vessel, scheduled to be
delivered through 2015, six of which do not curlghtave contracted charters. As more vessels beevaitable for employment, we may hz
difficulty entering into additional multi-year, fed-rate time charters for our vessels, and asudtresir cash flows may be subject to instability
in the long-term. We may be required to enter additional variable rate charters, as opposed méracts based on fixed rates, which could
result in a decrease in our cash flows and netmecim periods when the market for drybulk shipggdepressed. If low charter rates in the
drybulk market prevail during periods when we nregtiace our existing charters, it will have an adeesffect on our revenues, profitability,
cash flows and our ability to comply with the firdad covenants in our loan and credit facilities.

The factors affecting the supply and demand fobdlly vessels are outside of our control and arfecdif to predict with confidence. As a
result, the nature, timing, direction and degreehanges in industry conditions are also unprekieta

Factors that influence demand for vessel capaciyde:
. demand for and production of drybulk products;
. global and regional economic and political conditip
. environmental and other regulatory developments;
. the distance drybulk cargoes are to be moved byaseha

. changes in seaborne and other transportation pstter



Factors that influence the supply of vessel capacdiude:

. the size of the newbuilding orderbook;

. the number of newbuild deliveries, which among ofaetors relates to the ability of shipyards téivd® newbuilds by contracted
delivery dates and the ability of purchasers tarfite such newbuild

. the scrapping rate of older vessels;

. port and canal congestion;

. the number of vessels that are in or out of sepwiduding due to vessel casualties; and
. changes in environmental and other regulationsrttaat limit the useful lives of vessels.

We anticipate that the future demand for our driglwgissels and, in turn, drybulk charter rates, belldependent, among other things, upon
economic growth in the world’s developing economgesmsonal and regional changes in demand, chantfesscapacity of the global drybulk
vessel fleet and the sources and supply of drybanlgo to be transported by sea. A decline in denfiancbmmodities transported in drybulk
vessels or an increase in supply of drybulk vessmldd cause a significant decline in charter ratdsch could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openst

A negative change in global economic or regulatargnditions, especially in the Asian region, whichdludes countries like China, Japan
India, could reduce drybulk trade and demand, whicbuld reduce charter rates and have a material atse effect on our busines
financial condition and results of operation:

We expect that a significant number of the porscalade by our vessels will involve the loadinglmcharging of raw materials in ports in the
Asian region, particularly China, Japan and Indiaa result, a negative change in economic or eggry conditions in any Asian country,
particularly China, Japan or, to some extent, Inca have a material adverse effect on our busifieancial position and results of
operations, as well as our future prospects, byaiead demand and, as a result, charter rates &actiafy our ability to charter our vessels. If
economic growth declines in China, Japan, India@hdr major countries in the Asian region, ohi regulatory environment in these
countries changes adversely for our industry, wg faee decreases in such drybulk trade and demMaickover, a slowdown in the United
States economy or the economies of countries witterEuropean Union will likely adversely affecbaomic growth in China, Japan, India
and other major countries in the Asian region. Sartleconomic downturn in any of these countriesccbave a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

The ongoing uncertainty and volatility in the finasial markets related to the European sovereign defisis, and the state of the global
economic recovery may adversely affect our opergtiasults.

The world has recently experienced a global macmeemic downturn, and if economic and financial nesréonditions in the United States or
other key markets, including Europe, remain una@r{gersist or deteriorate further, our customeay mespond by suspending, delaying or
reducing their operations, which may adverselycifteir business, operating results, and financatition. The uncertain financial climate in
Greece could also result in further changes tatakother laws to which we may be subject.

An oversupply of drybulk vessel capacity may leaddductions in charter rates and profitabilit
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The market supply of drybulk vessels has been &sing, and the number of drybulk vessels on ordef ®ecember 31, 2012, was
approximately 29.9% for Panamax class vessels%d for Post-Panamax class vessels and 12.5% forszapelass vessels of the thexisting
global drybulk fleet in terms of deadweight tondwt”), with the majority of new deliveries expecteinly during 2013. As a result, the
drybulk fleet continues to grow. An oversupply ofliulk vessel capacity will likely result in a rettion of charter hire rates. We will be
exposed to changes in charter rates with respexirtexisting fleet and our remaining newbuilds aadondhand vessels, depending on the
ultimate growth of the global drybulk fleet. If veannot enter into period time charters on acceptnms, we may have to secure charters in
the spot market, where charter rates are moreileotatd revenues are, therefore, less predictablee may not be able to charter our vesse
all. Eight vessels in our current fleet will be dahle for employment in the first half of 2013. ditlonally we have not yet arranged charter:
our newbuild vessel and our secondhand vessel sldtkth be delivered to us during 2013. A maténiatease in the net supply of drybulk
vessel capacity without corresponding growth inbdifik vessel demand could have a material advefeetefn our fleet utilization and our
charter rates generally, and could, accordinglyteniegly adversely affect our business, financadition and results of operations.

The market values of our vessels may decrease, wb@uld cause us to breach covenants in our creitl loan facilities, and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financtandition and results of operations.

Our credit and loan facilities, which are securgdriortgages on our vessels, require us to comply edllateral coverage ratios and satisfy
certain financial and other covenants, includingsththat are affected by the market value of ossels. The market value of drybulk vessels
has generally experienced a steady decrease. Tietpeices for secondhand and newbuild drybullsebsin the recent past have declined
from higher to lower levels within a short periddtime. The market value of our vessels fluctuategending on a number of factors,
including:

. general economic and market conditions affectimgstipping industry;

. prevailing level of charter rates;

. competition from other shipping companies;

. configurations, sizes and ages of vessels;

. cost of newbuilds;

. governmental or other regulations; and

. technological advances.
We were in compliance with our covenants as of Demr 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012. If the maskee of our vessels or newbuilds
declines upon their delivery to us, we may breahesof the covenants contained in our credit aad facilities. If we do breach such
covenants and we are unable to remedy or our lemdérse to waive the relevant breach, our lendeusd accelerate our indebtedness and
foreclose on the vessels in our fleet securingehoan and credit facilities. As a result of crdsdault provisions contained in our loan and
credit facility agreements, this could in turn leadhdditional defaults under our loan agreemendisthe consequent acceleration of the
indebtedness thereunder and the commencement itdrsiareclosure proceedings by other lendersulfindebtedness were accelerated in ful

or in part, it would be difficult for us to refinaa our debt or obtain additional financing and wald lose our vessels if our lenders foreclose
their liens, which would adversely affect our dlgiio continue our business.
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The international drybulk shipping industry is higly competitive, and we may not be able to compatesssfully for charters with new
entrants or established companies with greater neses.

We employ our vessels in a highly competitive matkat is capital intensive and highly fragment€dmpetition arises primarily from other
vessel owners, some of which have substantiallgtgreesources than we do. Competition for thesprartation of drybulk cargo by sea is
intense and depends on price, customer relatiopshjperating expertise, professional reputationsaze] age, location and condition of the
vessel. Due in part to the highly fragmented markétlitional competitors with greater resourceddeuter the drybulk shipping industry and
operate larger fleets through consolidations ougsitipns and may be able to offer lower chartéesdhan we are able to offer, which could
have a material adverse effect on our fleet utitiweand, accordingly, our profitability.

Rising crew costs may adversely affect our prot

Crew costs are a significant expense for us undecluarters. There is a limited supply of well-dfiedl crew. We generally bear crewing costs
under our charters. Increases in crew costs magraely affect our profitability.

We are subject to regulation and liability under @einonmental laws that could require significant eepditures and affect our cash flow and
net income.

Our business and the operation of our vesselsegrdated under international conventions, natiostate and local laws and regulations in
force in the jurisdictions in which our vessels i@gte, as well as in the country or countries oirtregistration, in order to protect against
potential environmental impacts. Government regahadf vessels, particularly in the area of envimamtal requirements, can be expected to
become more stringent in the future and could requs to incur significant capital expendituresooin vessels to keep them in compliance, or
even to scrap or sell certain vessels altogettmrekample, various jurisdictions that do not adyeeegulate management of ballast waters are
considering regulating the management of ballas¢rsao prevent the introduction of nerdigenous species that are considered invasiveh
regulations could, if implemented, require us tdkenahanges to the ballast water management plamsinently have in place and to install
new equipment on board. Various jurisdictions dse segulating or considering the regulation of &sitns of sulfur oxides, nitrogen oxides
and greenhouse gases from vessels. Additional otions, laws and regulations may be adopted whicitdclimit our ability to do business or
increase the cost of our doing business and whigh mmaterially adversely affect our business, fi@mondition and results of operations.
Because such conventions, laws and regulationsfaae revised, or the required additional meastoesompliance are still under
development, we cannot predict the ultimate cosbafiplying with such conventions, laws and regatagior the impact thereof on the resale
prices or useful lives of our vessels. We are edgired by various governmental and quasi-goventah@gencies to obtain certain permits,
licenses, certificates and financial assurances niggpect to our operations.

These requirements can also affect the resalespoicaseful lives of our vessels or require redungtiin cargo capacity, ship modifications or
operational changes or restrictions. Failure toggrwith these requirements could lead to decreasedability of or more costly insurance
coverage for environmental matters or result indbeial of access to certain jurisdictional watarports, or detention in certain ports. Under
local, national and foreign laws, as well as ind&ional treaties and conventions, we could incutenia liabilities, including cleanup
obligations and claims for natural resource, pessonury and property damages in the event thattetlis a release of petroleum or other
hazardous materials from our vessels or otherwis®mnnection with our operations. Violations of iabilities under, environmental
regulations can result in substantial penaltiegsiand other sanctions, including, in certairaimsts, seizure or detention of our vessels. E
of this nature would have a material adverse effaabur business, financial condition and resuitsperations.
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The operation of our vessels is affected by theirements set forth in the United Nations’ Intefoa&l Maritime Organization’s International
Management Code for the Safe Operation of Shipd@rmidollution Prevention, or “ISM Code.” Under ti&M Code we are required to
develop and maintain an extensive Safety ManageB8ysiem (“SMS”) that includes the adoption of a&safind environmental protection
policy. Failure to comply with the ISM Code may 4t us to increased liability, invalidate existimgurance or decrease available insurance
coverage for the affected vessels and result iengatiof access to, or detention in, certain p@tgrently, each of the vessels in our current
fleet is ISM Code- certified. If we fail to maintaiSM Code certification for our vessels, we magodbreach covenants in certain of our credit
and loan facilities that require that our vessel$$M Code-certified. If we breach such covenants b failure to maintain ISM Code
certification and are unable to remedy the releaeach, our lenders could accelerate our indebtedand foreclose on the vessels in our flee
securing those credit facilities.

Increased inspection procedures, tighter import aexiport controls and survey requirements could irasse costs and disrupt our busine

International shipping is subject to various sdguand customs inspections and related procedaresuntries of origin and destination.
Inspection procedures can result in the seizuthetontents of our vessels, delays in the loadifftpading or delivery and the levying of
customs duties, fines and other penalties agamst u

It is possible that changes to inspection procesiooald impose additional financial and legal ofifigns on us. Furthermore, changes to
inspection procedures could also impose additioosis and obligations on our customers and maggritain cases, render the shipment of
certain types of cargo impractical. Any such changredevelopments may have a material adverset@ffiecur business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The hull and machinery of every commercial vessgttbe certified as safe and seaworthy in accomdaiith applicable rules and regulations,
and accordingly vessels must undergo regular serntegny vessel does not maintain its class arfdits any annual survey, intermediate
survey or special survey, the vessel will be unableade between ports and will be unemployabtevae would be in violation of certain
covenants in our credit and loan facilities. Thisud also negatively impact our revenues.

Our vessels are exposed to operational risks, idahg terrorism and piracy, that may not be adequigteovered by our insurance.

The operation of any vessel includes risks suckesther conditions, mechanical failure, collisifirg, contact with floating objects, cargo or
property loss or damage and business interrupti@ntal political circumstances in foreign countrigisacy, terrorist attacks, armed hostilities
and labor strikes. Such occurrences could resaeéath or injury to persons, loss, damage or detsruof property or environmental damage,
delays in the delivery of cargo, loss of revenuemfor termination of charter contracts, governrakfimes, penalties or restrictions on
conducting business, higher insurance rates anégemno our reputation and customer relationshipemgdly. In the past, political conflicts
have also resulted in attacks on vessels, mininvgatérways and other efforts to disrupt internagiahipping, particularly in the Arabian Gulf
region. Acts of terrorism and piracy have also@#d vessels trading in regions such as the SchitheCSea, the Gulf of Aden and parts of
Indian Ocean and West Africa. If these attacks@thdr disruptions result in areas where our vesselsleployed being characterized by
insurers as “war risk” zones or Joint War Commitiear, strikes, terrorism and related perilisted areas, as parts of Indian Ocean curren|
premiums payable for such coverage could increigsdfisantly and such insurance coverage may besrddficult or impossible to obtain. In
addition, there is always the possibility of a mardisaster, including oil spills and other envimamtal damage. Although our vessels carry a
relatively small amount of the oil used for fuel



(“bunkers”), a spill of oil from one of our vess@lslosses as a result of fire or explosion coddaatastrophic under certain circumstances.

We may not be adequately insured against all riskd,our insurers may not pay particular claimshwéspect to war risks insurance, which
we usually obtain for certain of our vessels maling calls in designated war zone areas, suchianse may not be obtained prior to one of
our vessels entering into an actual war zone, wbithd result in that vessel not being insured.rB¥@ur insurance coverage is adequate to
cover our losses, we may not be able to timelyinl#aeplacement vessel in the event of a losseUtite terms of our credit facilities, we will
be subject to restrictions on the use of any prde@e may receive from claims under our insurardieips. Furthermore, in the future, we
may not be able to maintain or obtain adequateramse coverage at reasonable rates for our fleetm&y also be subject to calls, or
premiums, in amounts based not only on our owmztlaicords but also the claim records of all othentbers of the protection and indemnity
associations through which we receive indemnityiiasce coverage for tort liability. Our insuranadigies also contain deductibles,
limitations and exclusions which, although we bediare standard in the shipping industry, may rtbeérss increase our costs in the event
claim or decrease any recovery in the event ofa. Ilf the damages from a catastrophic oil spibbther marine disaster exceeded our insuranc
coverage, the payment of those damages could haadeaial adverse effect on our business and qmadibly result in our insolvency.

In general, we do not carry loss of hire insura@ecasionally, we may decide to carry loss of igeirance when our vessels are trading in
areas where a history of piracy has been repadrtest of hire insurance covers the loss of revenuimg extended vessel off-hire periods, suct
as those that occur during an unscheduled drydgakimninscheduled repairs due to damage to thelvéssmrdingly, any loss of a vessel or
any extended period of vessel off- hire, due taeeident or otherwise, could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The operation of drybulk vessels has certain uniqojeerational risks; failure to adequately maintaiour vessels could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiand results of operations.

With a drybulk vessel, the cargo itself and itemttion with the vessel may create operationksriBy their nature, drybulk cargoes are often
heavy, dense and easily shifted, and they may bealty to water exposure. In addition, drybulk wssre often subjected to battering
treatment during unloading operations with grahsklpammers (to pry encrusted cargoes out of th#) laold small bulldozers. This treatment
may cause damage to the vessel. Vessels damagéal eatment during unloading procedures may beeraosceptible to breach while at ¢
Breaches of a drybulk vessel's hull may lead toftbeding of the vessel’s holds. If a drybulk vessffers flooding in its forward holds, the
bulk cargo may become so dense and waterloggedtshmaessure may buckle the vessel’'s bulkheadsjig to the loss of a vessel. If we do
not adequately maintain our vessels, we may belenalprevent these events. The occurrence of &these events could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

Maritime claimants could arrest one or more of ouessels, which could interrupt our cash flo'

Crew members, suppliers of goods and services&ssel, shippers of cargo and other parties mantiged to a maritime lien against a
vessel, or other assets of the relevant vesselrgagompany, for unsatisfied debts, claims or damagemany jurisdictions, a claimant may
seek to obtain security for its claim by arrestingessel through foreclosure proceedings. Thetasregtachment of one or more of our ves:
or other assets of the relevant vessel-owning copnpacompanies, could cause us to default on gathé#reach covenants in certain of our
credit facilities, interrupt our cash flow and ré@gus to pay large sums of money to have the aoremttachment lifted. In addition, in some
jurisdictions, such as South Africa, under “sister ship” theory of liability, a claimant mayrast both the vessel which is subject to the
claimant’s maritime lien and any



“associated” vessel, which is any vessel ownedatrolled by the same owner. Claimants could attdmpssert “sister ship” liability against
one vessel in our fleet for claims relating to &eotof our vessels.

Governments could requisition our vessels duringeariod of war or emergency, resulting in a lossedrnings.

A government could requisition one or more of oessels for title or for hire. Requisition for titlecurs when a government takes control of ¢
vessel and becomes its owner, while requisitiorhifar occurs when a government takes control adssel and effectively becomes its chart

at dictated charter rates. Generally, requisitimewur during periods of war or emergency, althoggiernments may elect to requisition ves

in other circumstances. Even if we would be ertitle compensation in the event of a requisitioord or more of our vessels, the amount ant
timing of payment would be uncertain. Governmequisition of one or more of our vessels may causs®reach covenants in certain of our
credit facilities, and could have a material adeexBect on our business, financial condition aeslits of operations.

Changes in fuel prices may adversely affect our il

Upon redelivery of vessels at the end of a timetehawe may be obligated to repurchase bunketsoand at prevailing market prices, which
could be materially higher than fuel prices atitreption of the charter period. In addition, alibh we rarely deploy our vessels on voyage
charters, fuel is a significant, if not the largestpense that we would incur with respect to Mesggerating on voyage charter. As a result, an
increase in the price of fuel may adversely aftestprofitability. The price and supply of fueluslatile and fluctuates based on events outsidk
our control, including geopolitical developmentgpply and demand for oil and gas, actions by OPBECadher oil and gas producers, war and
unrest in oil producing countries and regions,@agl production patterns and environmental concenasregulations.

Seasonal fluctuations in industry demand could haaenaterial adverse effect on our business, finaaondition and results of operatior
and the amount of available cash with which we cpay dividends.

We operate our vessels in markets that have hisltyiexhibited seasonal variations in demand asdj result, in charter rates. This seasol
may result in quarter-to-quarter volatility in aesults of operations, which could affect the amairlividends, if any, that we pay to our
stockholders from quarter to quarter. The marketrfarine drybulk transportation services is tydicatronger in the fall and winter months in
anticipation of increased consumption of coal atittoraw materials in the northern hemisphere duitie winter months. In addition,
unpredictable weather patterns in these monthsttedisrupt vessel scheduling and supplies of oeammodities. This seasonality could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaial condition and results of operations.

Charterers may renegotiate or default on period @roharters, which could reduce our revenues and @amaterial adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

The ability and willingness of each of our countetjes to perform its obligations under a periogeticharter agreement with us will depend ot
a number of factors that are beyond our controlraag include, among other things, general econaarglitions, the condition of the drybulk
shipping industry and the overall financial coratitiof the counterparties. If we enter into periogetcharters with charterers when charter |
are high and charter rates subsequently fall saifly, charterers may seek to renegotiate fir@rierms or may default on their obligations.
Additionally, charterers may attempt to bring claiagainst us based on vessel performance or aaadmy or unloading operations, seekin
renegotiate financial terms or avoid payments. Atao charterers may experience financial diffiedtdue to prevailing economic conditions
or for other reasons, and as a result may defauteir obligations. In recent years the industg bxperienced numerous incidents of
charterers renegotiating their charters or defagiltin their obligations thereunder. We
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have agreed to certain early redeliveries at thaest of charterers. See “Operating and Finan@aldv and Prospects.” If a charterer defaults
on a charter, we will, to the extent commerciaigsonable, seek the remedies available to us, wiaghinclude arbitration or litigation to
enforce the contract, although such efforts maybectuccessful. Should a charterer default oniagpme charter, we may have to enter in
charter at a lower charter rate, which would redugerevenues. If we cannot enter into a new peiiod charter, we may have to secure a
charter in the spot market, where charter rates@egile and revenues are less predictable.dtss possible that we would be unable to secur
a charter at all, which would also reduce our reesnand could have a material adverse effect pbuginess, financial condition, results of
operations, loan and credit facility covenants eash flows.

We depend upon a limited number of customers fdaaye part of our revenues and the loss of one oonma of these customers could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financtaindition and results of operations.

We expect to derive a significant part of our raxenfrom a limited number of customers. Duringytear ended December 31, 2012,
approximately 62.9% of our revenues were derivethftwo charterers, namely Daiichi Chuo Kisen Kaigtmiichi”) and Kawasaki Kisen
Kaisha, with each one accounting for more than b®%tal revenues. We could lose a customer foryntiffierent reasons, including:

. failures of the customer to make charter paymeatsibbse of its financial inability, disagreementthwis or otherwise;

. the customer’s termination of its charters becaigrir nonperformance, including serious deficiencies with Wessels we provic
to that customer or prolonged periods othire; or

. in certain cases, a prolonged force majeure ev@sttang the customer, including damage to or desion of relevant production
facilities, war or political unrest, prevents usrfr performing services for that custorr

If we lose a key customer, we may be unable toiolgtariod time charters on comparable terms withriehers of comparable standing or may
have increased exposure to the volatile spot manktgth is highly competitive and subject to sigeaht price fluctuations. We would not
receive any revenues from such a vessel whileriaieed unchartered, but we may be required to ppgreses necessary to maintain the vess
in proper operating condition, insure it and sex\any indebtedness secured by such vessel. Theflasy of our key customers, a decline in
payments under our charters or the failure of aduesgomer to perform under its charters with udadtbave a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

Daiichi accounted for 46.5% of our revenues in 2GR as of the date hereof, six of our vesselstaetered to Daiichi, all at charter rates
are higher than rates currently available in thet sparket. Recently, Daiichi announced plans taicedhe number of vessels it operates, both
newbuilds and chartered in vessels and to pafleé@sto weather a decline in drybulk shipping satieie in part to expanding capacity, slowing
demand and higher fuel prices. Given the importari¢his charterer to our business, any deterionadif Daiichi’s business or of its ability or
willingness to perform its obligations under itsadiers with us could have an adverse effect orbasiness, financial condition and results of

operations.
We may have difficulty properly managing our plandgrowth through acquisitions of additional vessels

We intend to grow our business through the acqgaisitf our six contracted newbuilds and one cométhsecondhand vessel scheduled to be
delivered through 2015. We may contract additiorealbuild vessels or make selective acquisitioredafitional secondhand vessels. Our
future growth will primarily depend on our
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ability to locate and acquire suitable vesselsamga our customer base, operate and superviseeavhyuilds we may order and obtain required
debt or equity financing on acceptable terms.

A delay in the delivery to us of any such vessethe failure of the shipyard to deliver a vessellh could cause us to breach our obligations
under a related charter and could adversely aff@cearnings. In addition, the delivery of anyldéde vessels with substantial defects could
have similar consequences.
A shipyard could fail to deliver a newbuild on timeat all because of:

. work stoppages or other hostilities, political ooromic disturbances that disrupt the operatiortkeEhipyard:;

. quality or engineering problems;

. bankruptcy or other financial crisis of the shipar

. a backlog of orders at the shipyard;

. disputes between the Company and the shipyarddiegacontractual obligations;

. weather interference or catastrophic events, sschaor earthquakes or fires;

. our requests for changes to the original vessalipations; or

. shortages of or delays in the receipt of necessamgtruction materials, such as steel, or equipnseich as main engines, electric
generators and propelle

A third-party seller could fail to deliver a secdwaahd vessel on time or at all because of:
. bankruptcy or other financial crisis of the thirdry seller;
. guality or engineering problems;
. disputes between the Company and the third-paltgr segarding contractual obligations; or
. weather interference or catastrophic events, sschaor earthquakes or fires.

In addition, we may seek to terminate a vesseliaitiun contract due to market conditions, finamglimitations or other reasons. The outcome
of contract termination negotiations may requireaiforego deposits on construction or acquisitamapplicable, and pay additional
cancellation fees. In addition, where we have diyearanged a future charter with respect to thaiteated contract, we may incur liabilities to
such charter counterparty depending on the terrssiaif charter.

During periods in which charter rates are highseesalues generally are high as well, and it magifficult to consummate vessel acquisiti
or enter into newbuild contracts at favorable mid@uring periods when charter rates are low, wg bgaunable to fund the acquisition of
vessels, whether through lending or cash on hamdthése reasons, we may be unable to executaoutigplans or avoid significant expen
and losses in connection with our future growtloeff
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As we expand our business, we will need to improvexpand our operations and financial systems,féand crew; if we cannot improv
these systems or recruit suitable employees, oufgpmance may be adversely affected.

Our current operating and financial systems maybeaidequate as we implement our plan to expansizbeof our fleet, and our Manager’s
attempts to improve those systems may be ineffectivaddition, as we expand our fleet, we will @aw rely on our Manager to recruit
additional seafarers and shoreside administratidenaanagement personnel. Our Manager may not ke@lobntinue to hire suitable
employees or a sufficient number of employees asxpand our fleet. If our Manager’s unaffiliateéwing agents encounter business or
financial difficulties, we may not be able to adatply staff our vessels. We may also have to imere@ar customer base to provide continued
employment for most of our new vessels. If we arahle to operate our financial system, our Mané&ganable to operate our operations
systems effectively or to recruit suitable emplaygesufficient numbers or we are unable to inaeas customer base as we expand our flee
our performance may be adversely affected.

Unless we set aside reserves for vessel replaceraettie end of a vessel's useful life, our revenuil decline, which would adversely affect
our cash flows and income.

As of February 15, 2013, the vessels in our cuifieet had an average age of 4.8 years. Unlessauetam cash reserves for vessel
replacement, we may be unable to replace the weisselr fleet upon the expiration of their usdiuds. We estimate the useful life of our
vessels to be 25 years from the date of initialvéey from the shipyard. Our cash flows and incaane dependent on the revenues we earn by
chartering our vessels to customers. If we are lertatreplace the vessels in our fleet upon thératipn of their useful lives, our business,
financial condition and results of operations W#l materially adversely affected. Any reservesskte for vessel replacement would not be
available for other cash needs or dividends.

If we are unable to obtain additional secured indedness, we may default on our commitments relatiogpur contracted newbuilds, and \
may not be able to finance our future fleet expaosiprogram, which would have a material adverseeeff on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The net remaining unpaid balance of the contraceprfor our six newbuilds and our one secondhasdel was $198.8 million as of Febrt
15, 2013. We anticipate that our primary sourcefunfls to satisfy these commitments will be fronsg®g cash and time deposits, opere
cash surplus and available borrowings under oustiegi credit facilities and our floating rate ndeeility. As of February 15, 2013, t
company has two existing vessels unencumbered &30 anillion longterm floating rate note facility against which attahal loan and crec
facilities can be drawn, as well as $73.7 millionciash and shoterm time deposits and restricted cash, and $68lbmavailable unde
existing revolving credit facilities. Our ability tobtain bank financing or to access the capitaketa for future offerings may be limited by
financial condition at the time of any such finargior offering, including the actual or perceiveddit quality of our charterers and the ma
value of our fleet, as well as by adverse markedimmns resulting from, among other things, gehecmnomic conditions, weakness in
financial markets and contingencies and uncergsntihat are beyond our control. To the extent Wwtare unable to enter into new cr
facilities and obtain such additional secured iniddhess on terms acceptable to us, we will nediddoalternative financing. If we are una
to find alternative financing, we will not be capatf funding all of our commitments for capitalp@nditures relating to our contrac
newbuilds. A failure to fulfill our commitments gerally results in a forfeiture of the advance waga the shipyard or the thindarty selle
with respect to the contracted newbuild or secondheessel and a writeff of expenses capitalized. In addition, we magodie liable for oth
damages for breach of contract. Examples of sadiilities could include payments to the shipyardhar thirdparty seller for the differen
between the forfeited advance and the amount &mains to be paid by us if the shipyard or thedtpirty seller cannot locate a thiparty
buyer that is willing to pay an amount equal to
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the difference or compensatory payments by us #&tehparties with whom we have entered into chendth respect to such vessels. €
events, if they occurred, would adversely affestlmusiness, financial condition and results of afien.

The aging of our fleet and our acquisitions of sewthand vessels may result in increased operatingtsan the future, which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our vessgisfitably.

In general, the costs to maintain a vessel in ggetating condition increase with the age of theseé As of February 15, 2013, the average

age of the vessels in our current fleet was 4.8syde our vessels age, they may become lessfii@éat and more costly to maintain and will
not be as advanced as more recently constructeselgedue to improvements in design and engine tdoby. Rates for cargo insurance, paid

by charterers, also increase with the age of aeligssking older vessels less desirable to chage®overnmental regulations, safety or other
equipment standards related to the age of vessslgaguire expenditures for alterations, or thatamdof new equipment, to our vessels and

may restrict the type of activities in which ouisgels may engage. As our vessels age, market morgdihay not justify those expenditures or

enable us to operate our vessels profitably dutiegemainder of their useful lives.

In 2012, we took delivery of one 2003 built, sedaguadd Panamax class vessel, and in January 2018pWelelivery of another 2003 built,
secondhand Panamax class vessel. In January 28kyntracted to acquire a third secondhand 2008Karnsarmax class vessel, scheduled
to be delivered to us in March 2013. We may encaunigher operating and maintenance costs dueetagh and condition of those vessels.
Secondhand vessels may also develop unexpectedcanieahand operational problems despite adherenaegular survey schedules and
proper maintenance. We cannot obtain the same letlge@labout the condition of a secondhand vessgba@d to a newbuild through the
performed inspection prior to the purchase of sedondhand vessel nor about the cost of any ref(dreanticipated) repairs that we would
have had if this vessel had been built for and ateerexclusively by us. We will have the benefitafrranties on newly constructed vessels
may not receive the benefit of warranties on seband vessels.

Because we generate substantially all of our revesun U.S. dollars but incur a material portion @fur expenses in other currencies, al
may, in the future, also incur a material portionf@ur indebtedness and our capital expenditure réeuments in other currencies, exchange
rate fluctuations could have a material adverseeft on our business, financial condition and ressiibf operations.

We generate substantially all of our revenues . dollars, but in 2012 we incurred approximateyd2% of our vessel operating expenses il
currencies other than the U.S. dollar, of whict26%4 was denominated in euro amounts. Although &eotmber 31, 2012, all of our
indebtedness and the vast majority of the amoumsutder our newbuild contracts were denominatédl $1 Dollars, we have also entered
shipbuilding contracts whereby part of the contfate is payable in Japanese yen. In additioriateof our existing credit facilities allow us
to convert the outstanding loan amount or any thareof into currencies other than the U.S. dodso, in the future, we may enter into new
credit facilities or newbuild contracts that arexdeinated in or permit conversion into currencigseothan the U.S. dollar. The use of diffel
currencies could lead to fluctuations in our nebme due to changes in the value of the U.S. dddlative to other currencies, in particular the
euro and the Japanese yen. We have not hedgedmency exposure, and, as a result, our resultpefations and financial condition,
denominated in U.S. dollars, and our ability to pasidends, could suffer.

Restrictive covenants in our existing credit fatidis impose, and any future credit facilities withpose, financial and other restrictions c
us, and any breach of these covenants could resuthe acceleration of our indebtedness and foresiloe on our vessels.
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Our existing credit facilities impose, and any fetaredit facility will impose, operating and fir@al restrictions on us. These restrictions in
existing credit facilities generally limit our aityl to, among other things, and subject to excestiget forth in such credit facility:

. pay dividends if an event of default has occurnedlia continuing or would occur as a result of pagment of such dividend;
. enter into certain long-term charters;
. incur additional indebtedness, including throughigsuance of guarantees;

. change the flag, class or management of the vesstfjaged under such facility or terminate or matisramend the management
agreement relating to such ves:

. create liens on their assets;

. make loans;

. make investments;

. make capital expenditures;

. undergo a change in ownership or control or peangsihange in ownership and control of our Manager;

. sell the vessel mortgaged under such facility; and

. permit our chief executive officer to change.
Therefore, we may need to seek permission fronemders in order to engage in some corporate actoar lenders’ interests may be
different from ours, and we cannot guarantee tleawwll be able to obtain our lenders’ permissiorewmeeded. This may limit our ability to
pay dividends to our stockholders, finance ourreiperations or pursue business opportunities.

Certain of our existing credit facilities requirarcubsidiaries to maintain financial ratios antiséafinancial covenants. Depending on the
credit facility, certain of our subsidiaries arégct to financial ratios and covenants requirimgt these subsidiaries:

. ensure that the market value of the vessel morthagder the applicable credit facility, determime@dccordance with the terms of
that facility, does not fall below 100% to 120%,agoplicable, of the outstanding amount of the Ic

. ensure that outstanding amounts in currencies titlaerthe U.S. dollar do not exceed 100% or 11&&pplicable, of the U.S.
dollar equivalent amount specified in the relevaedit agreement for the applicable period bygifessary, providing cash
collateral security in an amount necessary fomihtstanding amounts to meet this thresh

. maintain a cash collateral deposit or minimum dzedance per vessel with the respective lender; and

. ensure that we comply with certain financial covesainder the guarantees described below.
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In addition, under guarantees we have enteredaittorespect to certain of our subsidiaries’ exigtcredit facilities, we are subject to financial
covenants. Depending on the guarantee, these falaowenants include the following:

. our total liabilities (on a consolidated basis liling those of our subsidiaries) divided by ouat@onsolidated assets (based or
market value of all vessels owned by our subsiggmnd the book value of all other assets, ordpusi@d basis as set out in the
relevant guarantee) must not exceed 80% or 85%e(diipg on the relevant guarante

. the ratio of our aggregate debt to EBITDA mustatodny time exceed 5.5:1 on a trailing 12 montlasi® or the ratio of our
aggregate debt after deducting cash to EBITDA masat any time exceed 8.5:1 on a trailing 12 mg basis;

. our consolidated net worth (consolidated total zslgss consolidated total liabilities) must noaay time be less than $150.0
million, as adjusted to reflect, among other thirtge market value of our vessels as set out imglevant guarante:

. maintenance of minimum free liquidity of $500,000deposit with the relevant lender on a per vesasis; and
. payment of dividends is subject to no event of diéfaaving occurred.

In connection with these guarantees, we have aldertaken to ensure that a minimum of 51% of oareshshall remain directly or indirectly
beneficially owned by the Hajioannou family for ttheration of the relevant credit facilities.

A failure to meet our payment and other obligationto maintain compliance with the applicable fioizl covenants could lead to defaults
under our secured credit facilities. Our lendengiddhen accelerate our indebtedness and foreclosiee vessels in our fleet securing those
credit facilities. The loss of these vessels wdwdde a material adverse effect on our businesadéial condition, and results of operations.

The declaration and payment of dividends will alvglge subject to the discretion of our board of diters and will depend on a number of
factors. Our board of directors may not declare idignds in the future

The declaration and payment of dividends, if anyl,always be subject to the discretion of our labaf directors. The timing and amount of
any dividends declared will depend on, among dthiegs: (i) our earnings, financial condition arakh requirements and available sources of
liquidity, (i) decisions in relation to our growstrategies, (iii) provisions of Marshall Islandsda_iberian law governing the payment of
dividends, (iv) restrictive covenants in our exigtand future debt instruments, and (v) globalrfgial conditions. Dividends might be reduced
or not be paid in the future.

There may be a high degree of variability from peério period in the amount of cash, if any, thahiailable for the payment of dividends be
upon, among other things:

. the rates we obtain from our charters as well agdtes obtained upon the expiration of our exgstimarters;
. the level of our operating costs;

. the level of our general and administrative costs;
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. the number of unscheduled off-hire days and thegmof, and number of days required for, scheddigdocking of our ships;
. vessel acquisitions and related financings;

. restrictions in our loan and credit facilities andany future debt facilities;

. prevailing global and regional economic and pdditiconditions;

. the effect of governmental regulations and maritgek-regulatory organization standards on the aohdf our business;

. the amount of cash reserves established by oudludatirectors; and

. restrictions under Marshall Islands and Liberiam.la

We may incur expenses or liabilities or be subjeather circumstances in the future that reducgiorinate the amount of cash that we have
available for distribution as dividends, if any.r@uowth strategy contemplates that we will finattee acquisition of our newbuilds or selec
acquisitions of additional vessels in addition tw contracted newbuilds through a combination afaperating cash flow and debt financing
equity financing. If financing is not availableds on acceptable terms, our board of directors deaide to finance or refinance such
acquisitions with a greater percentage of cash fiperations to the extent available, which woultlie or even eliminate the amount of cash
available for the payment of dividends. We may a&ster into other agreements that will restrict abitity to pay dividends.

Under the terms of certain of our existing credadilities, we are not permitted to pay dividendarifevent of default has occurred and is
continuing or would occur as a result of the paymésuch dividend. We expect that any future dréadiilities will also have restrictions on
the payment of dividends.

The laws of the Republic of Liberia and of the Raelpuof The Marshall Islands, where our vessel-awnsubsidiaries are incorporated,
generally prohibit the payment of dividends othert from surplus or net profits, or while a compa@ninsolvent or would be rendered
insolvent by the payment of such a dividend. Olnssdiaries may not have sufficient funds, surpluset profits to make distributions to us. In
addition, under guarantees we have entered intonegpect to certain of our subsidiaries’ existngdit facilities, we are subject to financial
and other covenants, which may limit our abilitypy dividends. We also may not have sufficienpkis or net profits in the future to pay
dividends.

The amount of cash we generate from our operatiansdiffer materially from our net income or loss the period, which will be affected by
non-cash items. We may incur other expenses dtitiab that could reduce or eliminate the cashilabée for distribution as dividends. As a
result of these and the other factors mentionedgbme may pay dividends during periods when wenegtosses and may not pay dividends
during periods when we record net income.

We are a holding company, and we depend on theighilf our subsidiaries to distribute funds to us brder to make dividend payments.

We are a holding company and our subsidiaries, vie all wholly-owned by us, conduct all of oueggtions and own all of our operating
assets. We have no significant assets other tieaadhity interests in our wholly-owned subsidiarisssh and cash equivalents and long-term
investment held by us. As a result, our abilityrtake dividend payments depends on our subsidianiégheir ability to distribute funds to us.
The ability of a subsidiary to make these distiitmg could be affected by a claim or other actigrathird party,
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including a creditor, and the laws of the Repubfit.iberia and of the Republic of The Marshall reia, where our vessel-owning subsidiaries
are incorporated, which regulate the payment dfidivds by companies. If we are unable to obtaidg$ufrom our subsidiaries, our board of
directors may exercise its discretion not to dectarpay dividends.

We depend on our Manager to operate our businesd aar business could be harmed if our Manager falléo perform its services
satisfactorily.

Pursuant to our management agreement, as ametiteetiM@anagement Agreement”) our Manager providewitis our executive officers and
with technical, administrative and commercial seegi (including vessel maintenance, crewing, puinbashipyard supervision, insurance,
assistance with regulatory compliance, financiabises and office space). Our operational succepgidds significantly upon our Manager’s
satisfactory performance of these services. Ounbas would be harmed if our Manager failed toqrenfthese services satisfactorily. In
addition, if the Management Agreement were to baiteated or if its terms were to be altered, owibess could be adversely affected, as we

may not be able to immediately replace such sesyaed even if replacement services were immegliatailable, the terms offered could be
less favorable than those under our Managementefigzat.

Our ability to compete for and enter into chartand to expand our relationships with our existihgrterers will depend largely on our
relationship with our Manager and its reputatiod eglationships in the shipping industry. If our haer suffers material damage to its
reputation or relationships, it may harm our apita:

. renew existing charters upon their expiration;

. obtain new charters;

. successfully interact with shipyards during periofishipyard construction constraints;
. obtain financing on commercially acceptable terms;

. maintain satisfactory relationships with our chiamts and suppliers; and

. successfully execute our business strategies.

If our ability to do any of the things describedab is impaired, it could have a material adveffeceon our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Although we may have rights against our Managérdéfaults on its obligations to us, investorsigwill have no recourse against our
Manager.

Our Manager has provided in the past certain manageservices to an affiliated and to an unafgithtompany under the specific restrictions
of our Management Agreement. Although our Manageequired to provide preferential treatment towmssels with respect to chartering

arrangements under the Management Agreement, onadéas time and attention may be diverted from the mamamt of our vessels in su
circumstances.

Currently, our Manager does not provide any sesvioeany company other than us.

Further, we will need to seek approval from oudkers to change our Manager.
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Management fees are payable to our Manager regasdlef our profitability, which could have a matetiadverse effect on our busines
financial condition and results of operation:

Pursuant to our Management Agreement, we pay owmalyker a fixed fee of $700 per day per vessel foviding commercial, technical and
administrative services and a variable fee of 1.2BPgross freight, charter hire, ballast bonus@demurrage. In addition, we pay our Manager
certain commissions and fees with respect to vgasehases, sales and newbuilds. The managemesndde®ot cover expenses such as vo
expenses, vessel operating expenses, maintengpeeses, crewing costs, insurance premiums, cononssind certain public company
expenses such as directors’ and officers’ liabiligurance, legal and accounting fees and othelasithird party expenses, which are
reimbursed by us. The management fees can be edjashually on May 29 of each year, the annivershour entry into the Management
Agreement. The management fees are payable whatinet our vessels are employed, and regardlesargdrofitability, and we have no
ability to require our Manager to reduce the managg fees if our profitability decreases, whichldduave a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openst

Our Manager is a privately held company, and thesdittle or no publicly available information abatit; an investor could have little
advance warning of problems affecting our Managdvat could have a material adverse effect on us.

The ability of our Manager to continue providing\dees for our benefit will depend in part on itsrofinancial strength. Circumstances
beyond our control could impair our Managgefinancial strength. Because our Manager is pelydteld, it is unlikely that information about
financial strength would become public or availaioles prior to any default by our Manager underiManagement Agreement. As a result,
our investors might have little advance warningablems that affect our Manager, even though tposklems could have a material adverse
effect on us.

Our chief executive officer also controls our Manag which could create conflicts of interest betwegs and our Manager.

Our chief executive officer, Polys Hajioannou, cotg our Manager. Polys Hajioannou, together wighfaamily, also controls Vorini Holdings
Inc., which owns approximately 60.55% of our outsliag common stock. These relationships could ereanflicts of interest between us, on
the one hand, and our Manager, on the other hdarekelconflicts may arise in connection with thertgtang, purchase, sale and operation of
the vessels in our fleet versus vessels ownedantered-in by other companies affiliated with ouamdger or our chief executive officer. To
the extent we elect not to exercise our right it fiefusal with respect to any drybulk vessel thay be acquired by companies affiliated with
our chief executive officer, such companies coulguire and operate such drybulk vessels under treagement of our Manager in
competition with us. Although under our Managemg&giteement our Manager will be required to firstygde us any chartering opportunities
in the drybulk sector, our Manager is not prohithibeom giving preferential treatment in other arefgs management to vessels that are
beneficially owned by related parties. These cotslof interest may have an adverse effect on osinkss, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our business depends upon certain employees who noynecessarily continue to work for us; if sucilmployees were no longer to be
affiliated with us, our business, financial condin and results of operation could suffer.

Our future success depends, to a significant extgaain our chief executive officer, Polys Hajioannand certain other members of our senior
management and of our Manager. Polys Hajioannosiastantial experience in the drybulk shippingustdy and for 26 years has worked
with us, our Manager and its predecessor. He dmet adembers of our senior management and of oualyEgarmanage our business and their
performance is crucial to the execution of our bess strategies and to the growth and developnfient o
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our business. If these individuals were no longdyéa affiliated with us or our Manager, or if were/¢o otherwise cease to receive advisory
services from them, we may be unable to recrugiogmployees with equivalent talent and experieacd,our business and financial condi
could suffer. We do not intend to maintain “key rhife insurance on any of our executive officers.

The provisions in our restrictive covenant arrangemt with our chief executive officer restricting kiability to compete with us, like
restrictive covenants generally, may not be enfabke.

Our chief executive officer, Polys Hajioannou, leasered into a restrictive covenant agreement usthinder which he is precluded during the
term of his service with us as executive and dineahd for one year thereafter (and for the termwfManagement Agreement with our
Manager and one year thereafter, if longer) fronmiogy and operating drybulk vessels and from acagjrinvesting in or controlling any
business that owns or operates such vessels. Gmmésally do not favor the enforcement of suclric®ns, particularly when they involve
individuals and could be construed as infringingsanh individuals ability to be employed or to eariivelihood. Our ability to enforce these
restrictions, should it ever become necessary,deitlend upon the circumstances that exist atrie ¢énforcement is sought. A court may not
enforce the restrictions as written by way of garnation and we may not necessarily be able tdbistaa case for damages as a result of a
violation of the restrictive covenants.

Our vessels call on ports located in Iran and Syvidich are identified by the United States govermmas state sponsors of terrorism and
are subject to United States export controls andmamic sanctions, which could be viewed negativ@yyinvestors and adversely affect the
trading price of our common stock.

From time to time, vessels in our fleet have caiad/or may call on ports located in countries iiedl by the United States government as
state sponsors of terrorism and subject to UnitateS export controls. From January 1, 2005 thrddgtember 31, 2011, vessels in our fleet
have made 20 calls to ports in Iran and three taliorts in Syria out of a total of 2,327 callsworldwide ports. From January 1, 2012 thrg
December 31, 2012, vessels in our fleet have ndenaay calls to ports in Iran or to ports in Syhian and Syria are identified by the United
States government as state sponsors of terrorithough these designations and controls do notgmteaur vessels from making calls to ports
in these countries, potential investors could véewwh port calls negatively, which could adverséigct our reputation and the market for our
common stock. Investor perception of the valuewfaommon stock may be adversely affected by timseguences of war, the effects of
terrorism, civil unrest and governmental actionthiese and surrounding countries.

Additionally, the United States government imposesnomic sanctions that may be applied in certagumstances to non-United States
entities conducting transactions involving targetedntries and their governments. United Statestgars have been imposed on Iran and
Syria, among other countries in which our vessalg make port calls. On January 2, 2013, Presidean@ signed the National Defense
Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (the “NDAA"Which, among other things, expands U.S. sanctonson-U.S. business with Iran. In
particular, Section 1244 of the NDAA targets, amotiger businesses, those determined, after J@Q13, to be part of the shipping sector of
Iran and those providing goods or services in sttpgfaany activity or transaction on behalf of or the benefit of, among others, persons
determined to be part of the shipping sector af bacertain Iranian persons designated by the Department of the Treasury, Office of
Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”"Bection 1244 also includes a humanitarian exceptianprohibits the imposition of sanctions witlspect tc
any person for conducting or facilitating a tranigacfor the sale of agricultural commodities, footedicine, or medical devices to Iran or the
provision of humanitarian assistance to the peoplean.

Our policy going forward is for our vessels to al/aiaking calls to ports in Iran or Syria unlesscharterer provides information certifying
that its cargo is licensed by OFAC.
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We are incorporated in the Republic of The Marsh#dlands, which does not have a well-developed bofdyorporate law; therefore, you
may have more difficulty protecting your interedtsan stockholders of a U.S. corporation.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our artiofscorporation, our bylaws and by The Marshdbihsls Business Corporations Act, or the
“BCA.” The provisions of the BCA resemble provisgaf the corporation laws of a number of stateb@nUnited States. However, there have
been few judicial cases in the Republic of The Malidslands interpreting the BCA. The rights artli€iary responsibilities of directors under
the laws of the Republic of The Marshall Islands ot as clearly established as the rights andifidy responsibilities of directors under
statutes or judicial precedent in existence inagettynited States jurisdictions. The rights of &tamders of companies incorporated in the
Republic of The Marshall Islands may differ frone ttights of stockholders of companies incorporatetie United States. While the BCA
provides that it is to be interpreted accordingh®laws of the State of Delaware and other staithssubstantially similar legislative
provisions, there have been few, if any, court sasterpreting the BCA in the Republic of The Mahslands and we cannot predict whether
Marshall Islands courts would reach the same caiahs as United States courts. Thus, you may hawe difficulty in protecting your
interests in the face of actions by our managenamctors or controlling stockholders than wouldc&holders of a corporation incorporate:

a United States jurisdiction which has developetbae substantial body of case law in the corpdeatearea.

It may be difficult to serve us with legal processenforce judgments against us, our directors arrananagement

We are incorporated under the laws of the Repuflithe Marshall Islands, and our Manager’s busiiesperated primarily from our offices
in Athens, Greece. In addition, a majority of oiredtors and officers are or will be non-residesftthe United States, and all of our assets anc
a substantial portion of the assets of these nsiglgrts are located outside the United States.ri&sudt, it may be difficult or impossible for
you to bring an action against us or against tivedigiduals in the United States if you believettiiaur rights have been infringed under
securities laws or otherwise. You may also havkcdity enforcing, both within and outside of thaited States, judgments you may obtain in
the United States courts against us or these peisa@ny action, including actions based upon thiel@bility provisions of United States
federal or state securities laws. There is alsastambial doubt that the courts of the Republic oé Marshall Islands or Greece would enter
judgments in original actions brought in those t®predicated on United States federal or stateries laws.

We are involved in an ongoing arbitration disputehich, if determined adversely to us, could causeta incur a significant financial loss,
harm our reputation and/or have a material effechas.

We are involved in an ongoing arbitration disputé.ondon, England, with Zhoushan Jinhaiwan Shipyaod Ltd. (the “Shipyard”). We had
entered into an agreement with the Shipyard focthestruction, sale and delivery by the Shipyards¢@f one 180,000 DWT Capesize class
newbuild vessel Hull No. J0131) in exchange for USD $53 million. In December 20dffer having paid $31.8 million in advances dgrin
construction, we exercised our termination righdemthe agreement due to the Shipysekcessive construction delays and delivered dds

to each of the Shipyard and the refund guarantog, Bxport Import Bank of China (a bank rated Aa3vmpody’s Investor Services) , pursuant
to the agreement and the refund guarantees, résggcfor a refund of the full amount of advangesd, with interest. In response, in January
2013, the Company received a notice of arbitratio arbitration proceedings with the shipyard vieiteated in London, England. The
Shipyard alleges that our termination constituteseach of the agreement and argues that we aentitded to a refund of any of the advances
paid or interest. Arbitration is inherently uncémaand an award against us would require us torcethe related liability and incur the cost
thereof,
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which includes the amount of advances already plagdcapitalized expenses recorded and any fuddi@ages to the Shipyard without receipt
of the vessel.

We are not otherwise involved in any legal procegsiwhich may have, or have had, a significantcéfi@ our business, financial position,
results of operations or liquidity, nor are we agvaf any other proceedings that are pending oatened which may have a significant effect
on our business, financial position, results ofrapiens or liquidity.

The nature of our business exposes us to the fiskvsuits for damages or penalties relating togpagnother things, personal injury, property
casualty and environmental contamination. From tioéme, we may be subject to legal proceedingscams in the ordinary course of
business, principally personal injury and propesdgualty claims. We expect that these claims wbaldovered by insurance, subject to
customary deductibles. However, such claims, ef/ltking merit, could result in the expendituresggnificant financial and managerial
resources.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

Vorini Holdings Inc., our principal stockholder, cotrols the outcome of matters on which our stocktets are entitled to vote and its
interests may be different from yours.

Vorini Holdings Inc., which is controlled by ouriefiexecutive officer, Polys Hajioannou and his iignowns approximately 60.55% of our
outstanding common stock. This stockholder is &dlantrol the outcome of matters on which our lshatders are entitled to vote, including
the election of our entire board of directors attteosignificant corporate actions. The interesthis stockholder may be different from yours.

We are a “controlled company” under the New Yorkd8k Exchange rules, and as such we are entitle@x@mption from certain New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, gad may not have the same protections affordedttzkholders of companies that a
subject to all of the New York Stock Exchange corgt® governance requirement

We are a “controlled company” within the meanindtef New York Stock Exchange corporate governatanadards. Under the New York
Stock Exchange rules, a company of which more 8% of the voting power is held by another compangroup is a “controlled company”
and may elect not to comply with certain New Yotk Exchange corporate governance requiremertsidimg: (a) the requirement that a
majority of the board of directors consist of indagent directors, (b) the requirement that the natmg committee be composed entirely of
independent directors and have a written chartéressding the committee’s purpose and responsdsilific) the requirement that the
compensation committee be composed entirely ofgeddent directors and have a written charter adoirgshe committee’s purpose and
responsibilities and (d) the requirement of an ahperformance evaluation of the corporate govereanominating and compensation
committees. We may utilize these exemptions. Assalt, non-independent directors, including membérsur management who also serve or
our board of directors, will comprise the majoritiyour board of directors and may serve on thea@ate governance, nominating and
compensation committee of our board of directoriclybamong other things, reviews the compensati@eain members of our management
and resolves governance issues regarding our companordingly, you may not have the same protetiafforded to stockholders of
companies that are subject to all of the New Yddck Exchange corporate governance requirements.

Future sales of our common stock could cause therkad price of our common stock to decline and owigting stockholders may
experience significant dilution.
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We may issue additional shares of our common stothke future and our stockholders may elect tblagje numbers of shares held by them
from time to time.

In March 2010, we issued and sold 10,350,000 stadresmmon stock in a public offering. Concurrentlith this public offering, we issued
and sold 1,000,000 shares of common stock to Vétaidings Inc. in a private placement. The grosspeds of the March 2010 public
offering and private placement were $79.45 millionApril 2011, we issued and sold 5,000,000 shafemmmon stock in a public offering.
The gross proceeds of the April 2011 public offgnmere $42 million. In March 2012, we issued anld $6750,000 shares of common stock ir
a public offering. The gross proceeds of the M&@h2 public offering were approximately $37.4 roitli

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camstock in the public market, or the percepticat these sales could occur, may depres
market price for our common stock. These salesdcalslo impair our ability to raise additional capithrough the sale of our equity securities
in the future.

Our existing stockholders may also experience Sagmt dilution in the future as a result of anyuie offering.

We also entered into a registration rights agrednmeconnection with our initial public offering i Vorini Holdings Inc., our principal
stockholder, pursuant to which we have granteddt@ertain of its transferees the right, underaiertircumstances and subject to certain
restrictions, to require us to register under theusities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securhiets), shares of our common stock held by
them. Under the registration rights agreement, Mdfibldings Inc. and certain of its transfereesehthe right to request us to register the sale
of shares held by them on their behalf and mayireaqis to make available shelf registration stat@spermitting sales of shares into the
market from time to time over an extended periacaddition, those persons have the ability to @gercertain piggyback registration rights in
connection with registered offerings initiated k3¢ Registration of such shares under the SecuAtesvould, except for shares purchased by
affiliates, result in such shares becoming freedgable without restriction under the Securitie$ ikmmediately upon the effectiveness of such
registration.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documertdsuld make it difficult for our stockholders to pace or remove our current boal
of directors and together with our adoption of aoskholder rights plan could have the effect of dimgaging, delaying or preventing a
merger or acquisition, which could adversely affabe market price of the shares of our common stock

Several provisions of our articles of incorporatamd bylaws could make it difficult for our stocktiers to change the composition of our b
of directors in any one year, preventing them fidranging the composition of our management. Intextdithe same provisions may
discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisttiat stockholders may consider favorable. Thegeigions:

. authorize our board of directors to is¢blank chec” preferred stock without stockholder appro»

. provide for a classified board of directors withggered, thre-year terms

. prohibit cumulative voting in the election of diters;

. authorize the removal of directors only for cat

. prohibit stockholder action by written consent @sléhe written consent is signed by all stockhal@etitled to vote on the actic
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. establish advance notice requirements for noneinaffor election to our board of directors or fooposing matters that can be acted or
by stockholders at stockholder meetings;

. provide that special meetings of our stockholaeay only be called by the chairman of our boardigdctors, chief executive officer or
a majority of our board of director

We have adopted a stockholder rights plan pursisamhich our board of directors may cause the suitistl dilution of the holdings of any
person that attempts to acquire us without the@@brof our board of directors.

These anti-takeover provisions, including the psmris of our prospective stockholder rights planld substantially impede the ability of
public stockholders to benefit from a change intedrand, as a result, may adversely affect thekatgsrice of our common stock and your
ability to realize any potential change of confseégmium.

Tax Risks

In addition to the following risk factors, you shduead “Iltem 10. Additional Information—E. Tax Caiderations—Marshall Islands Tax
Considerations,” “Item 10. Additional Information—Eax Considerations—Liberian Tax Consideratioad “Iltem 10. Additional
Information —E. Tax Considerations—United Stateddfal Income Tax Considerations” for a more congptiscussion of expected material
Marshall Islands, Liberian and United States feda@me tax consequences of owning and dispodirgiocommon stock.

We may earn shipping income that will be subjectinited States income tax, thereby reducing our ltavailable for distributions to you.

Under United States tax rules, 50% of our grossrme attributable to shipping that begins or endkénUnited States will be subject to a 4%
United States federal income tax (without allowafuredeductions). The amount of this income magtflate, and we will not qualify for any
exemption from this United States tax. Many of doarters contain provisions that obligate the @rars to reimburse us for this 4% United
States tax. To the extent we are not reimburseslibgharterers, the 4% United States tax will deseeour cash that is available for dividends.

For a more complete discussion, see the sectidgthedrtitem 10. Additional Information—Tax Considgions—E. United States Federal
Income Tax Considerations—Taxation of Our Shipgimgpme.”

United States tax authorities could treat us asassive foreign investment company,” which couldveaadverse United States federal
income tax consequences to United States holders.

A non-United States corporation will be treatecddpassive foreign investment company,” or PFIC,Jaited States federal income tax
purposes if either (a) at least 75% of its grossiine for any taxable year consists of certain tyfié¢passive income” or (b) at least 50% of the
average value of the corporation’s assets produeeecheld for the production of those types ofs§@e income.” For purposes of these tests,
“passive income” includes dividends, interest aathg from the sale or exchange of investment ptg@erd rents and royalties other than rent
and royalties that are received from unrelatedgmih connection with the active conduct of a ¢rad business. For purposes of these tests,
income derived from the performance of servicesdud constitute “passive income.” United Statesldtolders of a PFIC are subject to a
disadvantageous United States federal income tameewith respect to the income derived by the PR€ distributions they receive from the
PFIC, and the gain, if any, they derive from thie €& other disposition of their shares in the PRiCparticular, United States holders who are
individuals would not be eligible for preferentiak rates otherwise applicable to qualified dividien
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Based on our current operations and anticipateddudperations, we believe that it is more likdigirt not that we currently will not be treated
as a PFIC. In this regard, we intend to treat giossme we derive or are deemed to derive frompeuiod time chartering activities as service:
income, rather than rental income. Accordingly,ivedieve that our income from our period time chamgactivities should not constitute
“passive income,” and that the assets we own ardat@in connection with the production of thaime do not constitute passive assets.

There are legal uncertainties involved in this dateation. A recent case decided by the UnitedeSt&ourt of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit
held that, contrary to the position of the Unitddt8s Internal Revenue Service, or the “IRS,” @t ttase, and for purposes of a different set of
rules under the Internal Revenue Code of 198&hef€ode,” income received under a period time tehaf vessels should be treated as rent:
income rather than services income. If the reagpafrthis case were extended to the PFIC conte&tgtoss income we derive or are deem
derive from our period time chartering activitieswld be treated as rental income, and we wouldgbiylbe a PFIC. In recent guidance,
however, the IRS stated that it disagreed withhitiding in the Fifth Circuit case, and specifiedttmcome from period time charters shoulc
treated as services income. In light of these ailié®, the IRS or a United States court may neegatthe position that we are not a PFIC, and
there is a risk that the IRS or a United Statestamuld determine that we are a PFIC. Moreovernveg constitute a PFIC for a future taxable
year if there were to be changes in our assetspirr operation:

If the IRS were to find that we are or have be@&FC for any taxable year, our United States stoldédrs will face adverse United States tax
consequences. See “Item 10. Additional Informatidh-Fax Considerations—United States Federal IncbameConsiderations—United
States Federal Income Taxation of United Stateslétsf for a more comprehensive discussion of thieedrStates federal income tax
consequences to United States stockholders if e&r@ated as a PFIC.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
A. History and Development of the Compan

Safe Bulkers, Inc. was incorporated in the Repulifiithe Marshall Islands on December 11, 2007, uiitie Marshall Islands Business
Corporations Act, for the purpose of acquiring ovshé of various subsidiaries that either ownedere scheduled to own vessels. We are
controlled by the Hajioannou family, which has addistory of operating and investing in the intgianal shipping industry, including a long
history of vessel ownership. Vassos Hajioannou|atefather of Polys Hajioannou, our chief exegaitdfficer, first invested in shipping in
1958. Polys Hajioannou has been actively involvethe industry since 1987, when he joined the meskor of Safety Management.

Over the past 18 years under the leadership ofsRddyioannou, we have renewed our fleet by selilegen drybulk vessels during periods of
what we viewed as favorable secondhand market ttondiand contracting to acquire 42 drybulk newdsigind three drybulk secondhand
vessels. Also under his leadership, we have exphiideclasses of drybulk vessels in our fleet &iedaggregate carrying capacity of our fleet
has grown from 887,900 deadweight tons prior toioitial public offering in May 28, 2008 to 2,28D@ dwt currently. The quality and size of
our current fleet, together with our long-term tielaships with several of our charter customers, ae believe, the results of our long-term
strategy of maintaining a young, high quality flemir broad knowledge of the drybulk industry and strong management team. In additio
benefiting from the experience and leadership dy$2dajioannou, we also benefit from the expertifeur Manager which, along with its
predecessor, has specialized in drybulk shippingesi965, providing services to over 41 drybulkseés A number of our Managers’ key
management and operational personnel have beeineonsly employed with Safety Management and itzlpcessor company for over 26
years. In June 2008, we completed an initial putifiering of our common stock in the United Stedesl our common stock beg
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trading on the New York Stock Exchange. We maintainoffices at 30-32 Avenue Karamanli, P.O. Bo83D, 16673 Voula, Athens, Greece.
Our telephone number at that address is +30-2104889. Our registered address in the Republic &f Marshall Islands is Trust Company
Complex, Ajeltake Road, Ajeltake Island, Majuro peblic of the Marshall Islands MH96960. The namewf registered agent at such addres
is The Trust Company of The Marshall Islands, Inc.

B. Business Overview

We are an international provider of marine drybwéinsportation services, transporting bulk cargpegjcularly coal, grain and iron ore, along
worldwide shipping routes for some of the wosl#hrgest consumers of marine drybulk transpomagervices. As of February 15, 2013, we

a fleet of 25 drybulk vessels, with an aggregateyaay capacity of 2,282,400 dwt and an averagecd@e8 years, making us one of the wasld’
youngest fleets of Panamax, Kamsarmax,-Panamax and Capesize class vessels. Our fleghésted to grow through 2015 as the result of
the delivery of six further contracted newbuildslame secondhand vessel, comprised of three Pangassxvessels, one secondhand
Kamsarmax class vessel, two Post-Panamax classlyessl one Capesize class vessel. Upon delivahedast of our contracted newbuilds,
our fleet will be comprised of 32 vessels, havingaggregate carrying capacity of 2,943,300 dwt.

We employ our vessels on both period time chaemdsspot time charters, according to our assessohemarket conditions, with some of the
world's largest consumers of marine drybulk tramsgi@n services. The vessels we deploy on pefind tharters provide us with relatively
stable cash flow and high utilization rates, whiile vessels we deploy in the spot market allowousdintain our flexibility in low charter
market conditions.

General

As of February 15, 2013 our fleet comprised 25 elss®f which seven are Panamax class vesselaresikamsarmax class vessels, ten are
Post-Panamax class vessels and two are Capesizevelssels, with an aggregate carrying capacizy2®2,400 dwt and an average age of 4.8
years. Assuming delivery of the last of our cortedoressels in 2015, our fleet will be compriseteof Panamax class vessels, se
Kamsarmax class vessels, 12 Post-Panamax clasds/ard three Capesize class vessels, and thegatgearrying capacity of our 32 vessels
will be 2,943,300 dwt. As of February 15, 2013, dverage remaining duration of the charters forexisting fleet was 1.82 years.

The majority of vessels in our fleet have sistépshvith similar specifications in our existing mewbuild fleet. We believe using sister ships
provides cost savings because it facilitates @fficinventory management and allows for the suliitit of sister ships to fulfill our period tin
charter obligations.

Our Fleet and Newbuilds

The table below presents additional informatiorhweéspect to our drybulk vessel fleet, including newbuilds, and its deployment as of
February 15, 2013.
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Sister

Year Country of Charter Charter Commiss- Ship

Vessel Name Dwt Built (V) Construction Type Rate @ ions () Charter Period ) ©)
CURRENT FLEET
Panamax
Maria 76,00( 2003 Japar Spot  $ 6,25( 5.00% Feb. 2013 Mar 201! A
Koulitsa 76,90( 2003 Japar Period $ 8,50( 4.75% Dec. 2012 Feb. 201
Paraskev 74,30( 2003 Japar Spot  $ 8,00( 5.00% Jan. 201 Apr. 2018
Vassos 76,00( 2004 Japar Period $ 29,000 1.25% Nov. 2008- Oct. 201. A
Katerina 76,00( 2004 Japar Period $ 20,000 3.375% Feb. 2011 Feb. 201 A
Maritsa 76,00( 2005 Japar Period $ 8,000 1.25% Jan. 201 Dec. 201 A
Efrossini 75,00( 2012 Japar Spot  $ 9,500 4.75% Mar. 2013- May. 201! B
Kamsarmax
Pedhoulas Merchar 82,30( 2006 Japar Period $ 18,350 3.50% Aug. 2011- Jul. 201 C
Pedhoulas Trade 82,30( 2006 Japar Period® $ 20,000 1.00% Aug. 2011- Jul. 201 C

Period(”) BPI + 6.50 3.50% Aug. 2013- Jul. 201!
Pedhoulas Leade 82,30( 2007 Japar Period $ 13,250 4.75% Jun. 201 May 201+ C
Pedhoulas Builde 81,60( 2012 China Period $ 8,450 4.75% Oct. 2012— Nov. 201! D
(BPI + 4%)-

Pedhoulas Fighte 81,60( 2012 China Period® $ 1,000 5.00% Aug. 2012- Sep. 201 D
Pedhoulas Farme 81,60( 2012 China Period $ 8,000 4.75% Sep. 201 Sep. 201 D
Pos-Panamax
Stalo 87,00( 2006 Japar Period $ 34,160 1.25% Mar. 2010- Feb. 201 E
Marina 87,00( 2006 Japar Period $ 19,500 1.25% Dec. 2011 Dec. 201 E
Sophia 87,00( 2007 Japar Period $ 34,720 1.25% Oct. 200¢&- Sep. 201 E
Eleni 87,00( 2008 Japar Period $ 34,160 1.25% Apr. 2010- Mar. 201! E
Martine 87,00( 2009 Japar Period $ 8,500 3.75% Jan. 201 Mar. 201! E
Andreas K 92,00( 2009 South Koree Period $ 10,000 5.00% Dec. 201z Feb. 201 F
Panayiota K 92,00( 2010 South Koree Spot  $ 6,000 5.00% Dec. 201Z2- Feb. 201 F
Venus Heritagt 95,80( 2010 Japar Spot  $ 7,200 5.00% Feb. 201~ Mar. 201! G
Venus Histon 95,80( 2011 Japar Spot  $ 12,000 5.00% Sep. 201 Jan. 201 G
Venus Horizot 95,80( 2012 Japar Spot  $ 9,500 5.00% Feb. 201 Apr.201: G
Capesize
Kanaris 178,10( 2010 China Period $ 25,928 2.50% Sep. 201’=Jun. 203
Pelopidas 176,00( 2011 China Period $ 38,000 1.00% Feb. 201:- Dec. 202.
Subtotal 2,282,40
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NEW BUILDS

Panamax

Hull No. 814 75,00( 2H 2013 Japar B
Hull No. 1659 76,60( 1H 2014 Japar H
Hull No. 1660 76,60( 1H 2014 Japar H

Posi-Panamax

Hull No. 2396 84,000 2H 2015 Japar [

Hull No. 2397 84,000 1H 2015 Japar [

Capesize

Hull No. 8126 181,000  1H 2014 Japar 9 $ 23,100 1.25% Jan. 201« Jul. 201

PEIER 1 24,810  1.25% Jul. 201€- Jan.202

SECONDHAND

Kamsarmax

TBN Pedhoulas Commanc 83,70 2008(10) Japar

Subtotal 660,90

TOTAL 2,943,30

(1) For newbuilds, the dates shown reflect the expedédisiery dates

(2) Quoted charter rates are gross charter rat@ss@harter rates are inclusive of commissionscNarter rates are charter rates after the
payment of commissions. Charter agreements maydedor additional payments, namely ballast boboigompensate for vessel
repositioning

3 Commissions reflect payments made to thirdyplarbkers or our charterers, and do not includelt@i&% fee payable on gross freight,
charter hire, ballast bonus and demurrage to ouraddger pursuant to our vessel management agreemimtsur Manager

(4)  The start dates listed reflect either actuattstates or, in the case of contracted chartatshédd not commenced as of February 15,
2013, scheduled start dates. Actual start dateseatedivery dates may differ from the scheduledt stad redelivery dates depending on
the terms of the charter and market conditi

(5) Each vessel with the same letter is a “sidigy”"f each other vessel that has the same lettet under certain of our charter contracts,
may be substituted with i“sister ship?

(6) Fifth year charter rate of a five year charter agrent which provided for variable charter ra
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(7) A period time charter with a forward delivergtd in August of 2013 at a gross daily charter linteed to the Baltic Panamax Index
(“BPI") plus a premium of 6.5%

(8) A period time charter at a gross daily charée linked to the BPI plus a premium of 4%. Natydeharter rate payable is being reducec
by an amount equal to $1,000 per ¢

(9)  The charter agreement grants the charteresptien to extend the period time charter for anitimuhl twelve months at a time, at a
gross daily charter rate of $26,330, less 1.25% tmimmissions, which option may be exercised byctharterer a maximum of two
times. The charter agreement also grants the c¢haga option to purchase the vessel at any tigebig at the end of the seventh
year of the period time charter period, at a poc®39 million less 1.00% commission, decreasiregahfter on a p-rated basis by $1.5
million per year. The Company holds a right oftfisfusal to buy back the vessel in the eventtthetharterer exercises its option to
purchase the vessel and subsequently offers tewsel vessel to a third par

(10) Vessel is scheduled to be delivered to us in Maas.

From the beginning of 1995 through February 15320d& have taken delivery of 33 newbuilds and tewosdhand vessels. As of February
15, 2013, we were contracted to take deliveryflapanese-built newbuilds and one Japanese-budhslhand vessel, comprised of three
Panamax class vessels, one Kamsarmax class ess@&pst-Panamax class vessels and one Capesisevelssel. As of February 15, 2013,
our remaining capital expenditure requirements §4:@8.8 million, of which $69.7 million is payahle2013, $76.1 million in 2014 and $53.0
million in 2015.

Chartering of Our Fleet

Our vessels are used to transport bulk cargoescylarly coal, grain and iron ore, along worldwisléipping routes. We may employ our
vessels in time charters or in voyage charters.

A time charter is a contract to charter a vessehffixed period of time at a set daily rate and ket from a few days up to several years, w
the vessel performs one or more voyages betweerplod(s) and discharge port(s). Based on the iduraf vessel's employment, a time
charter can be either a long-term, or period, timarter with duration of more than three monthsa short-term, or spot, time charter with
duration of up to three months. Under our time tdrarthe charterer pays for most voyage expensel,as port, canal and fuel costs, agents’
fees, extra war risks insurance and any other esqserelated to the cargoes, and we pay for vepsehiting expenses, which include, among
other costs, costs for crewing, provisions, stdrd®jcants, insurance, maintenance and repainsaige taxes, drydocking and intermediate an
special surveys. During 2012, all of our vesselsveamployed under time charter contracts.

Voyage charters are generally contracts to cagyegific cargo from a load port to a discharge,poduding positioning the vessel at the load
port. Under a voyage charter, the charterer paysgaged upon total amount or on a per cargo tois,besd we pay for both vessel operating
expenses and voyage expenses. We infrequentlyiatdaroyage charters. Voyage charters togethdr gpbt time charterers are referred to in
our industry as employement in the spot market.

We intend to employ our vessels on both period timarters and spot time charters, according t@aesessment of market conditions, with
some of the world’s largest consumers of marinddliytransportation services. The vessels we deptogeriod time charters provide us with
relatively stable cash flow and high utilizatiotes, while the vessels we deploy in the spot maHketv us to maintain our flexibility in low
charter market conditions.
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Our Customers

Since 2005 our customers have included over 3@maltiregional and international companies, inegigdBunge, Cargill, Daiichi, Intermare
Transport G.m.b.H., Eastern Energy Pte. Ltd., NXIK, United Kaiun Kaisha, Kawasaki Kisen Kaisha, @Mttarff Carriers or their affiliates.
During 2012, two of our charterers accounted faB®2of our revenues, namely Daiichi and KawasakeKiKaisha, with each one accounting
for more than 10% of total revenues. During 200h of our charterers accounted for 66.1% of ouenexes, namely Daiichi and Kawasaki
Kisen Kaisha, with each one accounting for more th@% of total revenues. During 2010, three of@harterers accounted for 76.3% of our
revenues, namely Daiichi, Kawasaki Kisen Kaisha @adjill, with each one accounting for more thafoele¥ total revenues. We seek to
charter our vessels primarily to charterers wheridtto use our vessels without sub-chartering thoetinird parties. A prospective charterer’s
financial condition and reliability are also impamt factors in negotiating employment for our vésse

Management of Our Flee

We have a management agreement pursuant to whidllanager provides us with technical, administtiscommercial and certain other
services for an initial term of two years with autatic one-year renewals for an additional eightyeduring which the management fees can
be adjusted every year upon agreement betweerdusuaManager. The management agreement can bm#teah if we provide notice of non-
renewal 12 months prior to the end of the thenentrterm. The initial two year term expired on Mz8; 2010. We have not provided notice of
termination to our Manager. Our arrangements withManager and its performance are reviewed byoard of directors. Our chief
executive officer, president, chief financial officand chief operating officer, collectively refsirto in this annual report as our “executive
officers,” provide strategic management for our pamy and also supervise the management of ourcdeyst operations by our Manager. Our
Manager reports to us and our board of directaxsuth our executive officers.

In return for providing such services our Managereives a fixed management fee of $700 per daygssel. In return for chartering services
rendered to us, our Manager also receives a varfablof 1.25% on all freight, charter hire, bdlla@nus and demurrage for each vessel. Our
Manager also receives a sales fee of 1.0% bas#teaontract price of any vessel sold by it onlmetalf, and an acquisition fee of 1.0% base
on the contract price of any vessel bought by ibonbehalf, including the acquisition of each of oontracted newbuilds. We also pay our
Manager a supervision fee of $550,000 per newbafldshich 50% is payable upon the signing of tHevant supervision agreement, and 50%
upon successful completion of the sea trials oheswhbuild, which we capitalize, for the on-premsisepervision by selected engineers and
others on the Managerstaff of newbuilds we have agreed to acquireyamsto shipbuilding contracts, memoranda of agesgnor otherwist

Our Manager has agreed that, during the term ohmmagement agreement and for a period of onefgkawing its termination, our Manager
will not provide management services to, or witbpect to, any drybulk vessels other than (a) orbebalf or (b) with respect to drybulk
vessels that are owned or operated by companiéateff with our chief executive officer or his liher Nicolaos Hadjioannou, and drybulk
vessels that are acquired, invested in or conttdiiecompanies affiliated with our chief executoféicer or Nicolaos Hadjioannou subject in
each case to compliance with, or waivers of, tistrictive covenant agreements entered into betwseand such companies. Our Manager ha
also agreed that if one of our drybulk vesselsaddybulk vessel owned or operated by any such eosnpre both available and meet the
criteria for a charter being arranged by our Mamager drybulk vessel will receive such charter.

Historically our Manager has rarely provided sessito third parties. Currently our Manager doespnovide management services to any t
party vessels.
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Competition

We operate in highly competitive markets that axgdal primarily on supply and demand. Our busirlastufites in line with the main patterns
of trade of the major drybulk cargoes and variepeding to changes in the supply and demand faetlitems. We believe we differentiate
ourselves from our competition by providing yountpdern vessels with advanced designs and techialagpecifications. As of February 15,
2013 our fleet had an average age of 4.8 years aadfo an industry average of approximately tearsidJpon delivery of our contracted
newbuilds and secondhand vessel, the majority ofleet will have been built in Japanese shipyandsch we believe provides us with an
advantage in attracting large, well-establishedarusrs, including Japanese customers.

The drybulk sector is characterized by relatively barriers to entry, and ownership of drybulk esss highly fragmented. In general, we
compete with other owners of Panamax class ordahgdulk vessels for charters based upon pricgtorner relationships, operating expertise
professional reputation and size, age, locationcamdlition of the vessel.

Crewing and Shore Employees

Our management team consists of our chief execuoffieer, president, chief financial officer andiehoperating officer, all of whom are
provided by our Manager. In addition, we emplog@gal representative for our office in Greece. Oanlfger is responsible for the technical
management of our fleet and therefore also handiesecruiting, either directly or through crewiagents, of the senior officers and all other
crew members for our vessels. As of December 312 28@pproximately 506 people served on board tksels in our fleet, and our Manager
employed approximately 48 people on shore.

Permits and Authorization:

We are required by various governmental and othencies to obtain certain permits, licenses, éeatiés and financial assurances with res

to each of our vessels. The kinds of permits, Besncertificates and financial assurances reqbiyegbvernmental and other agencies depenc
upon several factors, including the commodity bemagsported, the waters in which the vessel opsralie nationality of the vessetrew anc
the type and age of the vessel. All permits, liesnsertificates and financial assurances curreatjyired to operate our vessels have been
obtained. Additional laws and regulations, enviremtal or otherwise, may be adopted which couldtlonr ability to do business or increase
the cost of doing business.

Risk of Loss and Liability Insuranct
General

The operation of our fleet involves risks such &thanical failure, collision, property loss, catges or damage as well as personal injury,
illness and loss of life. In addition, the operatiaf any oceangoing vessel is subject to the intigressibility of marine disaster, including oil
spills and other environmental mishaps, the risgicfcy and the liabilities arising from owning amperating vessels in international trade.
U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA 907), which ippses virtually unlimited liability upon owners,eptors and demise charterers of vessel
trading in the United States exclusive economicezimn certain oil pollution accidents in the Unit8thtes, has made liability insurance more
expensive for vessel owners and operators traditigel United States market.

Our Manager is responsible for arranging insurdacall our vessels on terms specified in our Marmagnt Agreement, which we believe are
in line with standard industry practice. In accordawith our Management Agreement, our Managerysescand maintains hull and machir
insurance, war risks insurance, freight,
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demurrage and defense coverage and protectiomdrthiity coverage with mutual assurance assocgtdue to our low incident rate and
young age of our fleet, we are generally able twpre relatively low rates for all types of insucar

While our insurance coverage for our drybulk vedisel is in amounts that we believe to be prudemrotect us against normal risks involved
in the conduct of our business and consistent stiahdard industry practice, our Manager may nalide to maintain this level of coverage
throughout a vessal'useful life. Furthermore, all risks may not beauhtely insured against, any particular claim matybe paid and adequ
insurance coverage may not always be obtainalskaabnable rates.

Hull and machinery insuranc

Our marine hull and machinery insurance coversrighpartial loss or actual or constructive toted from collision, fire, grounding, engine
breakdown and other insured risks up to an agreemiat per vessel. Our vessels will each be covapett at least their fair market value after
meeting certain deductibles per incident per ved¥elalso maintain increased value coverage fdn efour vessels. Under this increased
value coverage, in the event of the total loss wéssel, we are entitled to recover amounts insxoéthe total loss amount recoverable under
our hull and machinery policy.

Protection and indemnity insuran

Protection and indemnity insurance is a form ofumlitndemnity insurance provided by mutual maringtgction and indemnity associations,
or “P&l Associations,” formed by vessel owners toyide protection from large financial loss to arieb member by contribution towards that
loss by all members.

Protection and indemnity insurance covers our tpady liabilities in connection with our shippimagtivities. This includes third-party liability
and other related expenses of injury or death@fanembers, passengers and other third partiespfadamage to cargo, claims arising from
collisions with other vessels, damage to othedtharty property, pollution arising from oil or ethsubstances, and salvage, towing and othel
related costs, including wreck removal. Our coveraxcept for pollution, will be unlimited. Furtimeore, within this aggregate limit, club
coverage is also limited to the amount of the mamabegal liability.

Our protection and indemnity insurance coverageétlution is limited to $1.0 billion per vesselrgacident. Our protection and indemnity
insurance coverage in respect of passengers igtirto $2.0 billion and in respect of passengedssaamen is limited to $3.0 billion per vesse
per incident. The 13 P&l Associations that comptiszInternational Group of P&l Clubs (the “Intetioaal Group”) insure approximately
90% of the world’s commercial blue-water tonnagd have entered into a pooling agreement to reinsach P&I Association’s liabilities. As
a member of a P&l Association that is a membeheflhternational Group, we are subject to callsapés/to the P&l Association based on the
International Group’s claim records, as well asdladm records of all other members of the indiedassociations.

Although the P&l Associations compete with eacheoffor business, they have found it beneficial tdualise their larger risks among
themselves through the International Group. Thisn®wvn as the “Pool.This pooling is regulated by a contractual agreemadrich defines th
risks that are to be covered and how claims fallinghe Pool are to be shared among the partigparhe International Group. The Pool
provides a mechanism for sharing all claims in exa& $8.0 million up to $60.0 million. For clainmsexcess of $60.0 million, the Internatio
Group purchases reinsurance from the commerciddehaf up to $2.06 billion per vessel per incidenéxcess of $60.0 million and additional
overspill insurance of $1.0 billion in excess of@billion in respect of passengers and seamenjgssel per incident.
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War risks insurance

Our war risk insurance covers risks of partial losgctual or constructive total loss from configmas, seizure, capture, vandalism, sabotage
and other war related risks and is $500.0 millienyessel per incident.

Inspection by Classification Societit

Every oceangoing vessel must be “classed” by aifleation society. The classification society ders that the vessel is “in class,” signifying
that the vessel has been built and maintaineddardance with the rules and regulations of thesdiaation society. In addition, each vessel
must comply with all applicable laws, rules andulegjons of the vessel’s country of registry, datf state,” as well as the international
conventions of which that flag state is a membevessel’'s compliance with international conventiand corresponding laws and ordinances
of its flag state can be confirmed by the appliedlag state, port state control or, upon applacatr by official order, the classification socig
acting on behalf of the authorities concerned.

The classification society also undertakes, upguest, other surveys and checks that are requyreeldulations and requirements of the flag
state. These surveys are subject to agreementsimadeh individual case or to the regulationshef ¢country concerned.

All areas subject to survey as defined by the #laation society are required to be surveyed ast@nce per class period, unless shorter
intervals between surveys are prescribed elsewhieeperiod between two subsequent surveys of a@ehmust not exceed five years. The
maintenance of class, regular and extraordinanyeysrof a vessel’s hull and machinery, including éhectrical plant, and any special
equipment classed are required to be performedilasvt:

. Annual SurveysFor oceangoing vessels, annual surveys are comtfart¢heir hulls and machinery, including the ¢fieal plants,
and for any special equipment classed, at intenfal2 months from the date of commencement otthss period indicated in the
certificate.

. Intermediate Survey<Extended annual surveys are referred to as “intéiaie surveysand typically are conducted on the occa
of the second or third annual survey after commisag and after each class renev

. Class Renewal / Special Surve'Class renewal surveys, also known as “special garvare more extensive than intermediate
surveys and are carried out at the end of eachyfiae period. During the special survey the veisstsioroughly examined,
including thickness-gauging to determine any dirtiotuin the steel structures. Should the thickrmsfound to be less than class
requirements, the classification society would prieg steel renewals. It may be expensive to htaad eenewals pass a special
survey if the vessel is aged or experiences exeesgar and tear. A vessel owner has the opti@rrahging with the classification
society for the vessel’'s machinery to be on a ooatiis survey cycle, according to which all machineould be surveyed within a
five-year cycle. At an owner’s application, thegys required for class renewal may be split adngrtb an agreed schedule to
extend over the entire period of cla

Vessels are drydocked during intermediate and apsaiveys for repairs of their underwater paft§niwater survey” notation is assigned by
class, as is the case for our vessels, the vesserdias the option of carrying out an underwatspéction of the vessel in lieu of drydocking,
subject to certain conditions. In the event thatianvater survey” notation is assigned as par pharticular intermediate survey, drydocking
would be required for the following special surtbgreby generally achieving a higher utilizationtle relevant vessel. Drydocking can be
undertaken as part of a special survey if the deigohy occurs within 15 months prior to the
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special survey deadline. The following table lifis dates by which we expect to carry out the deydockings and special surveys for the

vessels in our current drybulk vessel fleet:

Vessel Name Drydocking Special Survey
Maria January 201¢ April 2013
Vassos November 201 February 201¢
Katerina May 2014 May 2014
Maritsa January 201¢ January 201¢
Efrossini February 201¢€ February 2017
Koulitsa April 2013 April 2013
Paraskevi January 201¢ January 201¢
Pedhoulas Merchar October 201¢ March 2016
Pedhoulas Trade October 201¢ May 2016
Pedhoulas Leade November 201 February 2017
Pedhoulas Builde May 2016 May 2017
Pedhoulas Fighte August 201¢ August 201’
Pedhoulas Farme September 201 September 201
Stalo September 201 January 201¢
Marina August 201t January 201¢
Sophia June 201¢ June 2017
Eleni November 201 November 201
Martine February 201¢ February 201¢
Andreas K August 201 August 201«
Kanaris March 2014 March 2015
Panayiota K April 2014 April 2015
Venus Heritage December 201 December 201
Venus Histor September 201 September 201
Venus Harizot February 201¢€ February 2017
Pelopidas November 201 November 201

Following an incident or a scheduled survey, if dejects are found, the classification surveyol isslue a “recommendation or condition of
class” which must be rectified by the vessel owmighin the prescribed time limits.

In general, insurance underwriters make it a camdiior insurance coverage that a vessel be aitdis “in class” by a classification society
which is a member of the International AssociatdiClassification Societies (“IACS”). All of our gsels are certified as being “in class” by
either Lloyd’s Register of Shipping, the AmericaarBau of Shipping or Nippon Kaiji Kyokai, each ofiieh is a member of IACS.

Environmental and Other Regulation
General

Government regulation significantly affects the enship and operation of our vessels. Our vesselsubject to international conventions and
national, state and local laws and regulation®iod in international waters and the countries liictv they operate or are registered, including
environmental protection requirements governingniamagement and disposal of hazardous substandegaates, the cleanup of oil spills €
the management of other contamination, air emissieater discharges and ballast water. These ladsegulations include the International
Convention for Prevention of Pollution from Shifise International Convention for Safety of LifeSsa (“SOLAS”) and implementing
regulations adopted by the International Maritimgdaization (“IMO”), the European Union (“EU”) ardher international, national and local
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regulatory bodies. They also include laws and r&iris in the jurisdictions where our vessels trane in the ports where our vessels call. In
the U.S., the requirements include OPA 90, the G@nprehensive Environmental Response, CompensatiahLiability Act (“CERCLA"),

the U.S. Clean Water Act (“CWA”) and Clean Air A.CAA”). Compliance with these environmental prdiea requirements can impose
significant cost and expense, including the costesel modifications and implementation of certaprrating procedures. Our fleet is young
and modern and complies with all current requireimand we do not anticipate incurring significaessel modification expenditures in the
current or subsequent fiscal year to comply witthstequirements. Under our Management Agreementylanager has assumed technical
management responsibility for our fleet, includoampliance with all applicable government and otlegulations. If the Management
Agreement with our Manager terminates, we wouldnafit to hire another party to assume this respiigittn the event of termination, we
might be unable to hire another party to perforeséhand other services for the present fee steuatut related costs. However, due to the
nature of our relationship with our Manager, wendb expect our Management Agreement to be terminedely.

A variety of governmental and private entities sabjour vessels to both scheduled and unschedwpddtions. These entities include the |
port authorities (such as the U.S. Coast Guardydnanaster or equivalent), classification societilegy state administration (country of
registry), charterers and terminal operators. @edhthese entities require us to obtain perntitenses, financial assurances and certificates
for the operation of our vessels. Failure to maimteecessary permits or approvals could requir® urscur substantial costs or result in the
temporary suspension of the operation of one oermbour vessels.

We believe that the heightened level of environmleand quality concerns among insurance undengritegulators and charterers is leadir
greater inspection and safety requirements oneab®ls and may accelerate the scrapping of oldseigethroughout the drybulk shipping
industry. Increasing environmental concerns haeated a demand for vessels that conform to theestenvironmental standards. We are
required to maintain operating standards for abufvessels that emphasize operational safetyityjozintenance, continuous training of our
officers and crews and compliance with U.S. andrimdtional regulations. We believe that the openatif our vessels is in substantial
compliance with all environmental laws and regulasi applicable to us as of the date of this anrepdrt. However, because such laws and
regulations are subject to frequent change andimpgse increasingly stricter requirements, suctrutequirements could limit our ability to
do business, increase our operating costs, focedly retirement of our vessels and/or affedt tfesale value, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial conditionl results of operations. However, we believelteatuse our fleet is young and modern, wi
will not be exposed to the same level of risk fabgawners of older, less modern vessels.

The International Maritime Organization

Our vessels are subject to standards imposed Hivi@ethe United Nations agency for maritime safety the prevention of pollution by
ships. The IMO has adopted regulations to redudlatfmn in international waters, both from accideaind routine operations, and has
negotiated international conventions that impoakility for oil pollution in international watershd a signatory’s territorial waters. For
example, Annex Il of the International Conventfon the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (“MARPQLtegulates the transportation of
marine pollutants and imposes standards on packiagking, labeling, documentation, stowage, qulfitititations and pollution prevention.
These requirements have been expanded by the atitaral Maritime Dangerous Goods Code, which impaaiitional standards for all
aspects of the transportation of dangerous goodisremine pollutants by sea.

In 1997, the IMO adopted Annex VI to MARPOL to aésls air pollution from vessels. Annex VI becamedtffe in 2005, and sets limits on
sulfur oxide and nitrogen oxide emissions from eésghausts and prohibits deliberate emissionzofie depleting substances, such as
chlorofluorocarbons. Annex VI also
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includes a global cap on the sulfur content of maafuels and allows for the establishment of Ernis&€iontrol Areas (“ECAS”) with more
stringent controls on sulfur emissions. An ECANrth America took effect in 2012 and an ECA fog tharibbean will take effect in 2014. In
2008, the IMO Marine Environment Protection Comagtadopted amendments to Annex VI regarding pdatematter, nitrogen oxides and
sulfur oxide emissions. These amendments, whickreatinto force in 2010, are designed to reducpdiution from vessels by, among other
things, (i) implementing a progressive reductiorswifur oxide emissions from ships; and (ii) es&itihg new tiers of stringent nitrogen oxide
emissions standards for new marine engines, depgodi their date of installation. In addition, tBeropean Union has established separate
limitations on the sulfur content of marine fuelad some European Union countries may be declaresisibn Control Areas in the future,
pursuant to Annex VI and its amendments. We hataimdd International Air Pollution Prevention Céctites for all our vessels, and believe
that maintaining compliance with the existing amdwn future Annex VI requirements will not haveadverse financial impact on the
operation of our vessels. However, additional av nequirements, conventions, laws or regulatiomspuiding the adoption of additional ECAs,
or other new or more stringent emissions requirémadopted by the IMO, the European Union, theddh@tates or individual states, or other
jurisdictions in which we operate, could requiress& modifications or otherwise increase the cofstair operations

The IMO adopted vessel energy efficient requiremenhich took effect in January 2013. The requinetménpose energy efficiency design
new vessels and require energy efficiency managephams for existing vessels. We do not expectahiequirements to have a material effect
on our operations.

The IMO adopted new guidelines in 2012 under thésesl Annex V to MARPOL, which prohibit dischargegarbage into the open sea, with
certain exceptions, and require vessels to dispbgarbage at port garbage reception facilitieseEhguidelines became effective in January
2013. We do not expect these requirements to havaterial effect on our operations.

In 2001, the IMO adopted the International Convamtin Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Dangge, or the “Bunker Convention,” which
imposes strict liability on ship owners for pollui damage in jurisdictional waters of ratifyingtetacaused by discharges of bunker fuel. The
Bunker Convention also requires registered owngships over 1,000 gross tons to maintain insuramepecified amounts to cover their
liability for relevant pollution damage. The Bunk&onvention became effective on November 21, 2008.IMO recently adopted a
requirement that vessels traveling through the #titaregion (waters south of latitude 60 degremgls) must use lower density fuel. We do
not expect this requirement to affect our operatiovhich do not involve Antarctic travel.

The operation of our vessels is also affected byrélquirements set forth in the IMO’s InternatioBafety Management (“ISM”) Code. The
ISM Code requires vessel owners or any other pesarh as a manager or bareboat charterer, whassasned responsibility for the operatior
of a vessel from the vessel owner and on assunicly responsibility has agreed to take over aldiies and responsibilities imposed by the
ISM Code, to develop and maintain an extensive $MSincludes the adoption of a safety and enviremtiad protection policy setting forth
instructions and procedures for safe operationdmsdribing procedures for dealing with emergendiés. ISM Code requires that vessel
operators obtain a “Safety Management Certifickte'each vessel they operate from the governmetiteofessel’s flag state. The certificate
verifies that the vessel operates in complianch istapproved SMS. Currently, our Manager hase¢heisite documents of compliance and
safety management certificates for each of theeless our fleet for which the certificates areuwgd by the IMO. Our Manager is required to
renew these documents of compliance and safety geament certificates every five years. Complianaxigrnally verified on an annual basis
for the Manager and between the second and thatsyer each vessel by the applicable flag state.
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Although all our vessels are currently ISM Codetitied, such certification may not be maintainedablyour vessels at all times. Non
compliance with the ISM Code may subject such paripcreased liability, invalidate existing insoc& or decrease available insurance
coverage for the affected vessels and result engatlof access to, or detention in, certain péits.example, the U.S. Coast Guard and EU
authorities have indicated that vessels not in diamge with the ISM Code will be prohibited fromatling in U.S. and EU ports.

The Maritime Labour Convention

The International Labour Organization’s Maritimebloar Convention was adopted in 2006 (“MLC 2006'heTbasic aims of the MLC 2006
are to ensure comprehensive worldwide protecticdh@fights of seafarers (the Convention is somegtinalled the Seafarers’ Bill of Rights)
and, to establish a level playing field for cousgrand ship owners committed to providing decemking and living conditions for seafarers,
protecting them from unfair competition on the pafrsubstandard ships. The Convention was ratdieéugust 20, 2012, and all vessels neec
to be certified by August 20, 2013. We do not expleat the MLC 2006 requirements to have a mateffalct on our operations.

The U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990

The OPA 90 established an extensive regulatoryliabiity regime for the protection of the enviroemt from oil spills and cleanup of oil
spills. OPA 90 applies to discharges of any oifrfra vessel, including discharges of fuel and lubris. OPA 90 affects all owners and
operators whose vessels trade in the United Siiggasyritories and possessions or whose vespelste in U.S. waters, which includes the
United States’ territorial sea and its two hundnadtical mile exclusive economic zone. While ousseds do not carry oil as cargo, they do
carry lubricants and fuel oil, or “bunkers,” whisbbjects our vessels to the requirements of OPA 90.

Under OPA 90, vessel owners, operators and barebaaterers are “responsible parties” and areljgineverally and strictly liable (unless the
discharge of pollutants results solely from theaatmission of a third party, an act of God oahof war) for all containment and clean-up
costs and other damages arising from dischargésreatened discharges, of pollutants from thesisets, including bunkers.

OPA 90 preserves the right to recover damages wiber existing laws, including maritime tort law.

Effective July 31, 2009, the U.S. Coast Guard aslbpegulations that adjust the limits of liabildf/responsible parties under OPA 90 to the
greater of $1,000 per gross ton or $854,400 peftaok vessel and established a procedure for adfuttte limits for inflation every three
years. These limits of liability do not apply if arcident was directly caused by violation of apahle U.S. safety, construction or opera
regulations or by a responsible party’s gross gegice or willful misconduct, or if the responsipkety fails or refuses to report the incident or
to cooperate and assist in connection with oil reathactivities. As a result of the oil spill in ti@&ulf of Mexico resulting from the explosion of
the Deepwater Horizon drilling rig, bills have baatroduced in the U.S. Congress to increase thidiof OPA liability for all vessels,
including tanker vessels.

All owners and operators of vessels over 300 giaiss are required to establish and maintain wighlts. Coast Guard evidence of financial
responsibility sufficient to meet their potentigigregate liabilities under OPA 90 and CERCLA, whigkliscussed below. An owner or
operator of a fleet of vessels is required onlgémonstrate evidence of financial responsibilitaimamount sufficient to cover the vessel in
fleet having the greatest maximum liability undé?A90 and CERCLA. We have complied with these nexments by providing a financial
guarantee evidencing sufficient self-insurance.N&ee satisfied these requirements and obtaine@aQhast Guard certificate of financial
responsibility for all of our vessels.
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The U.S. Coast Guard’s regulations concerningfizates of financial responsibility provide, in acdance with OPA 90, that claimants may
bring suit directly against an insurer or guaramiat furnishes certificates of financial respoiigjband that the insurer or guarantor may only
assert limited defenses. Certain organizationstthdttypically provided certificates of financiaksponsibility under pre-OPA 90 laws,
including the major protection and indemnity orgations, have declined to furnish evidence of iasae for vessel owners and operators if
they are subject to direct actions or required advesinsurance policy defenses. This requirementlinat the availability of coverage requir
by the U.S. Coast Guard and could increase ous @dstbtaining this insurance for our fleet, aslaslthe costs of our competitors that also
require such coverage.

We currently maintain, for each of our vesselspollution liability coverage insurance in the ambaof $1.0 billion per incident. Although our
vessels carry a relatively small amount of bunkarspill of oil from one of our vessels could béastrophic under certain circumstances. We
also carry hull and machinery protection and indiégyrinsurance to cover the risks of fire and exjosLosses as a result of fire or explosion
could be catastrophic under some conditions. Wiééelieve that our existing insurance coveragelequate, not all risks can be insured anc
there can be no guarantee that any specific clalhbavpaid, or that we will always be able to dhtadequate insurance coverage at reasonal
rates. If the damages from a catastrophic spilkedur insurance coverage, the payment of thasagks could have a severe, adverse effec
on us and could possibly result in our insolvency.

OPA 90 requires the owner or operator of any nok-taessel of 400 gross tons or more that carriesf@iny kind as a fuel for main
propulsion, including bunkers, to prepare and stilamésponse plan for each vessel. These vespeln®s plans include detailed information
on actions to be taken by vessel personnel to pteranmitigate any discharge or substantial thoéatuch a discharge of ore from the vessel
due to operational activities or casualties. Albaf vessels have U.S. Coast Guard-approved resmpdass.

OPA 90 specifically permits individual states tgpimse their own liability regimes with regard to pdllution incidents occurring within their
boundaries, and some states have enacted legisfatiwiding for unlimited liability for oil spillsin some cases, states which have enactec
legislation have not yet issued implementing reuie defining vessels ownenmgsponsibilities under these laws. We intend tomgmwith all
applicable state regulations in the ports wherevessels call.

The U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response, @wmaion, and Liability Act

CERCLA applies to spills or releases of hazardalstnces other than petroleum or petroleum predudtether on land or at sea. CERCLA
imposes joint and several liability, without regandault, on the owner or operator of a ship, elhor facility from which there has been a
release, and on other specified parties. Liabilitger CERCLA is generally limited to the greatef800 per gross ton or $0.5 million per
vessel carrying non-hazardous substances ($5.@mibr vessels carrying hazardous substancesssithe incident is caused by gross
negligence, willful misconduct or a violation ofrtan regulations, in which case liability is unlted. As described above, owners and
operators of vessels must establish and maintaimtive U.S. Coast Guard evidence of financial rasjility sufficient to meet their potential
liabilities under CERCLA.

The U.S. Clean Water Act

The CWA prohibits the discharge of oil or hazardsubstances in navigable waters and imposes l&ilidity in the form of penalties for any
unauthorized discharges. It also imposes substdiatidity for the costs of removal, remediationcadamages and complements the remedies
available under the more recently enacted OPA 90CGHERCLA, discussed above. The U.S. Environmemrtateletion Agency (“EPA")
regulates the discharge in U.S. ports of ballasemand other substances incidental to the norpexation of vessels. Under EPA regulations,
commercial vessels greater than 79 feet in lengthiequired to obtain coverage under the Nationdufant Discharge Elimination System
(“NPDES”) Vessel General Permit, or “VGP,” to
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discharge ballast water and other wastewater in Waters by submitting a Notice of Intent, or “NO'he VGP requires vessel owners and
operators to comply with a range of best manageprmgtices and reporting and other requirementa fuumber of incidental discharge types
and incorporates current U.S. Coast Guard requinésrfer ballast water management, as well as soppiéal ballast water requirements. We
have submitted NOIs for our vessels operating . Waters and anticipate incurring costs to meeteuirements of the VGP. In addition,
various states have enacted legislation restridialgst water discharges and the introductionasi-imdigenous species considered to be
invasive. These and any similar ballast water disgh restrictions enacted in the future could iaseethe costs of operating in the relevant
waters.

The EPA recently proposed a draft of the 2013 Waliiich is expected to be finalized in March 2013 badome effective in December 2013.
The 2013 VGP would require most vessels to meetenigrballast water discharge limits based on ageteeyl schedule based on the first dry
docking after January 1, 2014, or January 1, 2@&p€nding on vessel ballast capacity). The 2013 WGi#d also impose more strict
technology-based limits in the form of best managetinpractices for discharges related to oil-toisgafaces and require routine inspections,
monitoring, reporting, and recordkeeping. The 20GP could also require vessel modifications, thretahation of ballast treatment equipme
or otherwise increase the costs of operating inrefe/ant waters.

U.S. Air Emission Requirements

In 2008, the U.S. ratified the amended Annex \ite®s MARPOL Convention, addressing air pollutiomifrships, which went into effect in
2009. In December 2009, the EPA announced itstiotemo publish final amendments to the emissi@mdards for new marine diesel engines
installed on ships flagged or registered in thetéthBStates that are consistent with standardsrestjunder recent amendments to Annex VI of
MARPOL. The new regulations include near-term stadd that began in 2011 for newly built enginesiigg more efficient use of engine
technologies in use today and long-term standaggshing in 2016 requiring an 80 percent reductionitrogen oxide emissions below
current standards. The CAA also requires statesiépt State Implementation Plans, or “SIPs,” desigio attain air quality standards. Several
SIPs regulate emissions resulting from vessel t@adnd unloading operations by requiring the itetiah of vapor control equipment. In
addition, some individual states, including Califiar, have attempted to regulate vessel emissiothénvgtate waters. The California Air
Resources Board recently adopted Ocean-Going VES¥8N”) fuel content regulations that would apptyall vessels sailing within 24
nautical miles off the California coast and whdgeeraries call for them to enter California potegminal facilities or estuarine waters.
Changes to the OGV rule in 2012 included more géni sulfur limits on marine gas oil used by contigvessels in California waters. We
do not expect current U.S. requirements to havatmial effect on our operations, and the OGV neqnéents are not expected to be applicabl
because our vessels typically do not enter Calidoports.

New or more stringent air emission regulations Whitay be adopted could require significant cagitqlenditures to retrofit vessels and cc
otherwise increase our operating costs.

Other environmental initiatives

The EU adopted legislation that (1) requires menshaties to refuse access to their ports by cestdistandard vessels, according to vessel
type, flag and number of previous detentions; {(#iges member states to inspect at least 25% afel@sising their ports annually and increas
surveillance of vessels posing a high risk to nmagtsafety or the marine environment; (3) provittesEU with greater authority and control
over classification societies, including the apitib seek to suspend or revoke the authority ofigexgt societies; and (4) requires member s

to impose criminal sanctions for certain polluterents, such as the unauthorized discharge ofwaskings. It is also considering legislation
that will affect the operation of
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vessels and the liability of owners for oil pollri While we do not believe that the costs assediatith our compliance with these adopted
proposed EU initiatives will be material, it isfittult to predict what additional legislation, ifig, may be promulgated by the EU or any other
country or authority.

The U.S. National Invasive Species Act (“NISA”) warsacted in 1996 in response to growing reportgaiful organisms being released into
U.S. ports through ballast water taken on by vedseioreign ports. Under NISA, the U.S. Coast @uadopted regulations in July 2004
imposing mandatory ballast water management pexcfir all vessels equipped with ballast water $agitering U.S. waters. These
requirements can be met by performing mid-ocealastadxchange, by retaining ballast water on btfzgd/essel or by using environmentally
sound alternative ballast water management metippioved by the U.S. Coast Guard. Mid-ocean badteshange is the primary method for
compliance with the U.S. Coast Guard regulatiomg&esholding ballast water can prevent vessels fpenforming cargo operations and
alternative methods are still under developmen2dih2, the U.S. Coast Guard finalized amendmerits twallast water management
regulations that impose stricter discharge limatsdllowable concentrations of various invasivecigeand include approval process
requirements for ballast water management systéhesregulations require ships calling at U.S. ptotseat ballast water, and regularly
remove hull fouling. In particular, it is requiréar existing vessels to be equipped with approvathbt water treatment systems by their first
dry-docking after January 2016 and for newbuildthwi keel laying date after December 2013 to béppegd upon their delivery. These
regulations will require modifications and instélia of ballast water treatment equipment to ouremt vessels that call in U.S. ports, resulting
in significant capital expenditures and an incraasaur operational costs to call in U.S. ports.

Several U.S. states, including Michigan and Catifaradopted legislation or regulations relatinghte permitting and management of ballast
water discharges. These requirements do not clyriempact our operational costs, because our vesgpically do not enter California or
Michigan ports. However, other states could adopiiar requirements that could increase the coktgperation in state waters.

In 2004, the IMO adopted an International Convenfiar the Control and Management of Ships’ BallAstter and Sediments (the “BWM
Convention”). The BWM Convention’s implementing wdgftions call for a phased introduction of mandatmallast water exchange
requirements, to be replaced in time with mandatorycentration limits. The BWM Convention will neater into force until 12 months afte
has been adopted by 30 states, the combined merftdets of which represent not less than 35% efgtoss tonnage of the world’s merchant
shipping. As of October 2012, the BWM Conventiod lh@en adopted by 36 states, representing apprtelin29% of the world’s tonnage.
Each vessel in our current fleet has been issuiBi plan Statement of Compliance by the classifarasociety with respect to the applica
IMO regulations and guidelines.

If mid-ocean ballast exchange is made mandatotiyeainternational level or if additional ballastteatreatment requirements or options are
instituted, significant capital expenditures taoét vessels and install ballast treatment equipiall be needed and our operating costs coulc
increase.

Greenhouse Gas Regulation

In February 2005, the Kyoto Protocol to the Unikations Framework Convention on Climate Changeredtto force. Pursuant to the
Protocol, adopting countries are required to imgetmational programs to reduce emissions of cegases, generally referred to as
greenhouse gases, which are suspected of comtightatiglobal warming. Currently, the emissions @fegnhouse gases from international
shipping are not subject to the Kyoto Protocol. ldgar, a new treaty may be adopted in the futureitictudes restrictions on shipping
emissions. International and multinational bodiesdividual countries also may adopt their ownr@ie change regulatory initiatives. The
IMO recently announced its intention to developuaghn measures for
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greenhouse gases from international shipping. Treean Union has indicated that it intends to psepan expansion of the existing
European Union emissions trading scheme to inoiimissions of greenhouse gases from vessels. ldritied States, the EPA is considering &
2007 petition from the California Attorney Geneaal a coalition of environmental groups to regutaenhouse gas emissions from ocean-
going vessels under the Clean Air Act. These oerdlevelopments may result in regulations relatintpe control of greenhouse gas
emissions. Any passage of climate control legistatir other regulatory initiatives in the jurisdacts where we operate could result in finan
impacts on our operations that we cannot predittt eértainty at this time.

Vessel security regulations

Several initiatives have been introduced in regeats intended to enhance vessel security. On Noeeb, 2002, the Maritime
Transportation Security Act of 2002 (the “MTSA")ma into effect. To implement certain portions af MTSA, the U.S. Coast Guard issued
regulations in July 2003 requiring the implemermtatdf certain security requirements aboard vesgsdsating in waters subject to the
jurisdiction of the United States. Similarly, in @smber 2002, amendments to SOLAS created a newestaghe convention dealir
specifically with maritime security. This new chaptame into effect in July 2004 and imposes varitetailed security obligations on vessels
and port authorities, most of which are contaimethe newly created International Ship and Portliias Security Code, or “ISPS Code.”
Among the various requirements are:

. on-board installation of automatic information €ymas to enhance vessel-to-vessel and vessel-to-sbam@unications;
. on-board installation of ship security alert system

. the development of vessel security plans; and

. compliance with flag state security certificati@guirements.

The U.S. Coast Guard regulations, intended to aligin international maritime security standardsmpt non-U.S. vessels from MTSA vessel
security measures, provided such vessels haveand lbovalid “International Ship Security Certifieathat attests to the vessel’s compliance
with SOLAS security requirements and the ISPS Cide have implemented the various security measddsessed by the IMO, SOLAS and
the ISPS Code, and we have approved ISPS certifiGatd plans on board all our vessels, which haga bertified by the applicable flag st

Seasonality

We operate our vessels in markets that have hislbyiexhibited seasonal variations in demand asdj result, in charter rates. This seasol
may result in quarter-to-quarter volatility in a@sults of operations. The market for marine dritlitdnsportation services is typically stronger
in the fall and winter months in anticipation o€irased consumption of coal and other raw matenidte northern hemisphere during the
winter months. In addition, unpredictable weathatterns in these months tend to disrupt vessebstimg and supplies of certain commodit
This seasonality could materially affect our busgdinancial condition, results of operations abdity to pay dividends.

C. Organizational Structure

Safe Bulkers, Inc. is a holding company with 35sidiaries, 25 of which are incorporated in Liberime in the Republic of The Marshall
Islands and one in the Republic of Cyprus. Our islidgnses are wholly-owned by us. A list of our sidiaries as of February 15, 2013 is set
forth in Exhibit 8.1 to this annual report.
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D. Property, Plant and Equipment

We have no freehold or material leasehold intdreahy real property. We occupy office space aB3®venue Karamanli, 16605 Voula,
Athens, Greece, that is provided to us as pati@bervices we receive under our Management Agneeé have established a represent:
office in Greece and pursuant to legal obligatifmssuch establishment, we directly lease an offjgace in the same building for that purpose
Other than our vessels, we do not have any magmaglerty. Our vessels are subject to priority mages, which secure our obligations under
our various credit facilities. For further detaigyarding our credit facilities, refer to “ltem@perating and Financial Review and Prospects —
B. Liquidity and Capital Resources — Credit Faight”

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in cocijiom with the financial statements and the
notes to those statements included elsewheresrathiual report. This discussion includes forwavdking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. As a result of many factors, sucthase set forth under “ltem 3. Key Information—Hisk Factors” and elsewhere in this
annual report, our actual results may differ maadisi from those anticipated in these forward-loakstatements. Please see the section
“Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning ofstannual report.

Overview

Our business is to provide international marineébdty transportation services by operating vessethé drybulk sector of the shipping
industry. As of February 15, 2013 our fleet coresisdf 25 drybulk vessels, and we had contractaricedditional six newbuild vessels and one
secondhand vessel with an aggregate capacity 48300 dwt. We deploy our vessels on a mix of gktiilme and spot time charters accordinc
to our assessment of market conditions, adjustiagnix of these charters to take advantage ofdlagively stable cash flow and high
utilization rates associated with period time clartor to profit from attractive spot time chamates during periods of strong charter market
conditions, or to maintain employment flexibilityat the spot market offers during periods of weéale tcharter market conditions. As of
February 15, 2013, 17 out of 25 vessels in out fieme employed on period time charters and theanetier on spot time charters. We believe
our customers, some of which have been charteting@ssels for over 23 years, enter into perioe tand spot time charters with us becau
the quality of our young and modern vessels andeeord of safe and efficient operations.

The average number of vessels in our fleet foydars ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 wés1B44 and 21.1 respectively.

After delivery of our contracted newbuilds and setftand vessel, our drybulk fleet will consist oh&&sels and will have an aggregate
carrying capacity of 2,943,300 dwt, assuming wedbacquire any additional vessels or dispose piodiour vessels.

Our Manager
Our operations are managed by our Manager, Safatyayement Overseas S.A., under the supervisioarahecutive officers and our board
of directors. Under our Management Agreement, oandgjer provides us with technical, administrativeé @mmercial services for an initial

term that expired on May 28, 2010, with
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automatic one-year renewals for an additional eyglts, at our option. Our Manager is controlledPyys Hajioannou.
A. Operating Results
Our operating results are largely driven by théofeing factors:

. Ownership daysie define ownership days as the aggregate numhaysfin a period during which each vessel in atthas
been owned by us. Ownership days are an indicéthecsize of our fleet over a period and affedhltbe amount of revenues and
the amount of expenses that we record during agbe

. Available daysWe define available days (also referred to as veydays) as the total number of days in a periothdwrhich each
vessel in our fleet was in our possession netfefiioé days associated with scheduled maintenamiih includes major repairs,
drydockings, vessel upgrades or special or interaedurveys. Available days are used to measeraumber of days in a period
during which vessels should be capable of gengyatimenues

. Operating daysWe define operating days as the number of our abigildays in a period less the aggregate numlaayaf that our
vessels are off-hire due to any reason, excludihgduled maintenance. Operating days are usedasuresthe aggregate number
of days in a period during which vessels actuadlyerate revenue

. Fleet utilization.We calculate fleet utilization by dividing the nuertof our operating days during a period by the benof our
ownership days during that period. Fleet utilizati® used to measure a compangbility to efficiently find suitable employmerdr
its vessels and minimize the number of days teatdssels are off-hire for reasons such as schidepairs, vessel upgrades,
drydockings or special surveys. During the threergended December 31, 2012, our average annatlfibzation rate was
approximately 99.22%. However, an increase in anoffidire days could reduce our operating daysl dnerefore, our fleet
utilization.

. Time charter equivalent rate¥/e define time charter equivalent rates, or “TCEsd as our charter revenues less commissions a
voyage expenses during a period divided by the rurobour available days during the period. TCE iata standard shipping
industry performance measure used primarily to amaplaily earnings generated by vessels on panwdharters and spot time
charters with daily earnings generated by vesselggage charters, because charter rates for gesseloyage charters are
generally not expressed in per day amounts, whieter rates for vessels on period time chartedssant time charters generally
are expressed in such amounts. We have only ranepfoyed our vessels on voyage charters and, esu#t,rgenerally our TCE
rates approximate our time charter ra

The following table reflects our time charter reves, commissions, voyage expenses, time charteradept revenue, available
days and time charter equivalent rate for the plerindicated

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012

(In thousands of U.S. dollars excef
available days and time charter
equivalent rate)

Time charter revenu $ 159,69¢ $ 172,03t $187,55°
Less commission 2,67¢ 3,12¢ 3,261
Less voyage expenses 61C 1,98 7,28¢
Time charter equivalent revenue $ 156,41( $ 166,92 $177,01(
Available days 5,29¢ 5,97¢ 7,708
Time charter equivalent rate $ 29,53 $ 27,93. $ 22,97¢
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. Daily vessel operating expensWe define daily vessel operating expenses to ircthe costs for crewing, insurance, lubricants,
spare parts, provisions, stores, repairs, maintmatatutory and classification expense, drydagkimermediate and special
surveys, tonnage taxes and other miscellaneous.il@aily vessel operating expenses are calculatetividing vessel operating
expenses by ownership days for the relevant pe@oid.ability to control our fixed and variable exges, including our daily vessel
operating expenses, also affects our financialltedua addition, factors beyond our control, sashdevelopments relating to mar
premiums for insurance and the value of the U.8adoompared to currencies in which certain of expenses, including certain
crew wages, are denominated can cause our vesseltiog expenses to increa

. Daily general and administrative expensWe define daily general and administrative expetsésclude daily management fees,
defined below, and the costs payable to third esiti relation to our operation as public comp&raily vessel general and
administrative expenses are calculated by dividiegeral and administrative expenses by ownership fida the relevant perioi

. Daily management fe«. We define daily management fees to include tkedfiand the variable fees payable to our Managaity D
management fees are calculated by dividing managef®es by ownership days for the relevant pei

The following table reflects our ownership daysaitable days, operating days, fleet utilization,ET@ates, daily vessel operating
expenses, daily general and administrative expearsgslaily management fees for the periods indic:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Ownership day 5,32¢ 5,992 7,71¢
Available days 5,29¢ 5,97¢ 7,70:
Operating day 5,26¢ 5,96% 7,654
Fleet utilization 98.9% 99.5(% 99.2(%
TCE rates $ 29,53« $ 27,93: $ 22,97¢
Daily vessel operating expens $ 4,34z $ 4,35( $ 4,47¢
Daily general and administrative expen(l) $ 1,31 $ 1,417 $ 1,28¢
Daily management fe¢ $ 91¢€ $ 1,00¢ $ 1,001

(1) Includes daily management fe:
Revenue:

Our revenues are driven primarily by the numberasfsels in our fleet, the number of days duringcivloiur vessels operate and the amount o
daily charter rates that our vessels earn undecloanters, which, in turn, are affected by a nundféactors, including:
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. levels of demand and supply in the drybulk shippirdystry;

. the age, condition and specifications of our vessel

. the duration of our charters;

. our decisions relating to vessel acquisitions asfdasals;

. the amount of time that we spend positioning ossets;

. the availability of our vessels, which is relatedhe amount of time that our vessels spend inatydindergoing repairs and the

. amount of time required to perform necessary maariee or upgrade work; and

. other factors affecting charter rates for drybulissels.
Revenue is recognized as earned on a straighbdisis over the charter period in respect of chagesements that provide for varying rates.
The difference between the revenue recognizedhanddtual charter rate is recorded either as uadagvenue or accrued revenue (see “—
Unearned Revenue / Accrued Revenue” below). Conwnisgaddress and brokerage), regardless of chgpter are always charged to us and
are deferred and amortized over the related chpeigod and are presented as a separate linenteevénues to arrive at net revenues in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.
Revenues from our period time charters comprisefi?9992.0% and 88.1% respectively, of our chageenues for the years ended Decembe
31, 2010, 2011 and 2012. The revenues from ourtspetcharters comprised 0.5%, 8.0% and 11.9%gectely, of our charter revenues for
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.
Unearned Revenue / Accrued Revenue
Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2012 incl@@esish received prior to the balance sheet ddatimg to services to be rendered after th
balance sheet date amounting to $3.9 million @exfember 31, 2012 and (ii) deferred revenue reguftom straight-line revenue recognition
in respect of charter agreements that provide doiable charter rates amounting to $17.7 millidhofawhich will be recognized as revenue
during the period from January 1, 2013 until Mat¢t2015.
Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2011 incl@@esish received prior to the balance sheet ddiding to services to be rendered after thi
balance sheet date amounting to $4.1 million @exfember 31, 2011 and (ii) deferred revenue resguftom straight-line revenue recognition
in respect of charter agreements that provide &oiable charter rates amounting to $36.9 millidhoBwhich would be recognized as revenue
during the period from January 1, 2012 until Mai¢t2015.

Accrued revenue as of December 31, 2012 of $0.6omilepresents revenue earned prior to cash breiregjved in respect of charter
agreements that provide for variable charter rédesaccrued revenue was recognized during thegmded December 31, 2011.

Commissions

We pay commissions currently ranging up to 5.0%onperiod time and spot time charters, to unatfd ship brokers, other brokers
associated with our charterers and to our chagefdrese commissions are directly
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related to our revenues, from which they are desticthe amount of our total commissions to unat@d ship brokers and other brokers
associated with our charterers and to our chagengght grow, as revenues increase due to impraviaket conditions and delivery of our six
remaining contracted newbuilds and one secondhasskl, or decrease as a result of deterioratingeheonditions. These commissions da
include fees we pay to our Manager, which are desdrunder “Item 4. Information on the Company—BisBiess Overview-Management c
Our Fleet.”

Voyage Expenses

We charter our vessels primarily through perioceticharters and spot time charters under whichibeerer is responsible for most voyage
expenses, such as the cost of bunkers, port expeapents’ fees, canal dues, extra war risks inserand any other expenses related to the
cargo. We are responsible for the remaining voyegeenses such as draft surveys, hold cleaning,drsimiuring ballast period or for vessel
repositioning, postage and other minor miscellasepenses related to the voyage. As our pastdpni@ charter contracts expire we expect
that our voyage expenses will continue to increagle future due to the increased number of vesgmtrated in the spot market, which
involves increased vessel repositioning costs. @reerplly do not employ our vessels on voyage ctsaueder which we would be responsible
for all voyage expenses. We also record within geyexpenses the 4% United States federal tax wepagpect of our U.S. source shipping
income (imposed on gross income without the allaedior any deductions). In many cases, we rectwesettaxes from the charterers, and we
record such recovered amounts within revenues.

Vessel Operating Expenses

Vessel operating expenses include costs for crevnsgrance, lubricants, spare parts, provisidioses, repairs, maintenance, statutory and
classification expense, drydocking, intermediate sypecial surveys, tonnage taxes and other minecetidneous items. We expect that our
vessel operating expenses will continue to incréasiee future as our fleet grows. Additionally rawewing costs, which are a significant part
of our vessel operating expenses, are expectezhtinae to increase in the future due to the lichgapply and increase in demand for well-
qualified crew. Furthermore, we expect that insoeacosts, drydocking and maintenance costs witkase as our vessels age. A portion of oL
vessel operating expenses and crew wages paid t6reak crew members are in currencies other thattS. dollar. These expenses may
increase or decrease as a result of fluctuatidheot).S. dollar against these currencies.

Depreciation

We depreciate our drybulk vessels on a straigletfiasis over the expected useful life of each VeBgpreciation is based on the cost of the
vessel less its estimated residual value. We esitha useful life of our vessels to be 25 yearmfthe date of delivery from the shipyard.
Furthermore, we estimate the residual value ofvessels is equal to the product of its lightweigiinage and estimated scrap rate, which is
estimated to be $182 per light-weight ton.

Vessels, Net

Vessels are recorded at their historical cost, Wwhiamsists of the contracted purchase price, anegtdinaterial expenses incurred upon
acquisition (including improvements, on-site suj@on expenses incurred during the constructiofogdecommissions paid, delivery expense:
and other expenditures to prepare the vessel fanhial voyage) and financing costs incurred dgrthe construction of the vessel, less any
potential discount or commission payable to usltieguin a contract price reduction. Subsequeneexiitures for conversions and major
improvements are also capitalized when it is deiteeththat they appreciably extend the life, incesilie earning capacity or improve the
efficiency or safety of the vessels. If such fastare not met, such expenditures are not capitbtind, instead, are charged to expenses as
incurred.
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For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201@apialized interest amounting to $1,471,785 ar@byB1 respectively.

Under our Management Agreement with our Manageiptiochases of vessels including with respect o @ our six remaining contracted
newbuilds and our one secondhand contracted veasaljll pay our Manager an acquisition fee of 1.08cthe contract price of the relevant
vessel for our Manager’s services in connectiot Wirtalizing the contract and arranging for variesegulatory approvals. In addition,
according to an agreement between us and our Mgnageay our Manager a supervision fee in respeeaich newbuild, of which 50% is
payable upon the signing of the relevant supemisigreement, and 50% upon successful completitineagea trials of each newbuild, for the
on-premises supervision of all newbuilds we haveed to acquire pursuant to shipbuilding contraotsmoranda of agreement, or otherwise.
As of May 28, 2008 the supervision fee was $0.31Wbom, and as of May 29, 2011 the supervision\iess readjusted to $0.550 million. These
amounts charged by our Manager are included apd#reé vessel cost.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of geanant fees paid to our Manager, which is a relptety, in relation to management
services offered, and expenses paid to third gasisociated with us being a public company, wimclude the preparation of disclosure
documents, legal and accounting costs, includirsgsceelated to compliance with the Sarbanes-OxlgtyofA2002, director and officer liability
insurance costs and director compensation.

In connection with our initial public offering whiovas completed in June 2008, we entered into aygao initial term Management Agreem
with our Manager, with automatic one-year rene@san additional eight years. The fees were fif@dhe initial two-year period; the fixed
fee at $575 per day per vessel and the variablatf@®% on gross freight, charter hire, ballastusoand demurrage and were to be adjusted
thereafter every year by agreement between us @nil@anager. The initial term of two years expirediay 28, 2010 and as of May 29, 2010
pursuant to an agreement between us and our Marithgearariable fee on gross freight, charter thedlast bonus and demurrage was
readjusted to 1.25%. As of May 29, 2011, pursuauaint agreement between us and our Manager, thifideewas readjusted to $700 per day
per vessel from $575 per day. As of May 29, 20b2nerease has been made to any of the fees paid twyour Manager under the
Management Agreement.

In addition to the fees described above, we payMamager the acquisition fees with respect to \gasehases and newbuilds described al
in “— Vessels, Net” and the sales fees with respeeessel sales described below under “—Gain d& &aAssets.” Such fees remained
unchanged.

Although we have not, within the past eight yedeployed our vessels on bareboat charters andtdmnently have any plans to deploy our
vessels on bareboat charters, under our Managehgee¢ment, we will also provide our Manager witfea of $250 per day per vessel
deployed on bareboat charters for providing comiakrechnical and administrative services. We exjeat the amount of our total
management fees will increase following the delivarour six contracted newbuilds and our one @éed secondhand vessel and as a resul
of potential fleet expansion in the future.

Interest Expense and Other Finance Co:

We incur interest expense on outstanding indebtesdnrder our existing loan and credit facilitiebjek we include in interest expenses. We
also incurred financing costs in connection wittabishing those facilities, which are capitalizati amortized over the period of the facility.
The amortization of the finance costs is includedmortization and write-off of deferred financeudes. We will incur additional interest
expense in the future on our outstanding borrowargs under future borrowings.
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Inflation

Inflation has only a moderate effect on our expsmggeen current economic conditions. In the eviat significant global inflationary pressu
appear, these pressures would increase our oggratipage, administrative and financing expenses.

Gain on Sale of Assets

In June 2009, we agreed to sell our oldest vesRPanamax clagfrossini(which is hereinafter calledOIld Efrossini”, as we currently own
another vessel with the same name), which wasetelivto her new owners on January 7, 2010. Thefgainthe sale of this vessel amounted
to $15.2 million, which was recorded as gain om sdlassets during the year ended December 31, BDt6nnection with the sale &fid
Efrossini, we paid our Manager a sales fee of 1.0% of thefgice of the vessel. Under our Management Agezgnwe are required to pay
our Manager a sales fee of 1.0% of the sale pfieevessel for any future vessel sales.

No gain on sale of assets was recorded in the p#rérds presente
Early Redelivery Income, Ne

Early redelivery cost reflects amounts payableharterers for early termination of a period timartér resulting from our request for early
redelivery of a vessel. We generally request sacly eedelivery when we would like to take advamtad a strong period time charter market
environment and believe that an opportunity to eimt® a similarly priced period time charter ist tikely to be available when the relevant
vessel is scheduled to be redelivered.

Early redelivery income reflects amounts payablesdor early termination of a period time charesulting from a charterex’request for ear
redelivery of a vessel. We may accept such reqdi@stscharterers when we believe that we are cosgted by a substantial portion of the
contracted revenue, reduce our third party risknaintain the opportunity to re-employ the vesstiegiin the spot market or in the period time
charter market at adequate levels.

We have entered into such arrangements for eadlivery, and incurred such costs or income ingagt and we may continue to do so in the
future, depending on market conditions.

On March 25, 2010, we agreed with the chartereteeaterinato terminate the $15,500 daily fixed rate time tfrawhich had commenced
on June 26, 2009, and was due to expire by Septehd8h@011. As compensation for early redeliverg,paid the charterers $1.5 million. No
replacement charter contract had been securee itk of conclusion of the early redelivery agreaimThe vessel was subsequently fixec
gross daily charter rate of $20,000 for three years

On April 13, 2010, we took early redelivery of tRedhoulas Merchantinstead of the contracted earliest redeliverg @dtNovember 5, 2010.
In connection with this early redelivery, we recama early redelivery income of $3.6 million, corigimg cash compensation paid by the
relevant charterer of $4.8 million net of commissipless accrued revenue of $1.2 million. No reggt@nt charter contract had been secured :
the time of conclusion of the early redelivery agnent. The vessel was subsequently fixed at a gaischarter rate of $27,250 until April
2011.

On April 28, 2010, we agreed with the chartererthePedhoulas Leaddp terminate the $18,500 daily fixed rate time tdrawhich had
commenced on July 19, 2009, and was due to expif&eptember 30, 2011. As compensation for earlgliegty of the vessel, we paid the
charterers $1.8 million. No replacement chartetreat had been secured at the time of conclusigheoéarly redelivery agreement. The ve
was
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redelivered on November 12, 2010, and was subségdied in the spot market at a gross daily caarate of $21,750.

On July 30, 2010, we agreed with the charterethefaria to terminate the $18,000 daily fixed rate time téawhich had commenced on
June 28, 2009, and was due to expire by Novemhe2@®D. As compensation for early redelivery of tkesel, we paid the charterers $0.2
million. No replacement charter contract had besmused at the time of conclusion of the early redey agreement. The vessel was
redelivered on August 24, 2010, and was subsequiixed at a gross daily charter rate of $17,750l éypril 2011.

On December 15, 2012, we took early redelivenheMartine, instead of the contracted earliest redeliverg @dtJanuary 21, 2014. In
connection with this early redelivery, we recogdizarly redelivery income of $8.5 million, compnigicash compensation paid by the relevar
charterer of $8.6 million, net of commissions, lassrued revenue of $0.1 million. No replacemeatrigr contract had been secured at the

of conclusion of the early redelivery agreement Vhssel was subsequently fixed in the spot matk@fgross daily charter rate of $9,500.

On December 19, 2012, we took early redelivensheMaria , instead of the contracted earliest redeliverg @dtFebruary 24, 2014. In
connection with this early redelivery, we recoguizarly redelivery income of $3.2 million, compnigicash compensation paid by the relevar
charterer of $3.4 million, net of commissions, lassrued revenue of $0.2 million. No replacemeatri contract had been secured at the

of conclusion of the early redelivery agreemente Vhssel was subsequently fixed in the spot maitketgross daily charter rate of $6,250.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepared our consolidated financial statemengéecordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us &ikenestimates in the application of our
accounting policies based on our best assumptiedgments and opinions. We base these estimatdsanformation currently available to
and on various other assumptions we believe asonadle under the circumstances. Actual resultsdifgr from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. Following idiscussion of the accounting policies that invaveigh degree of judgment and the method
of their application. For a further descriptionaafr material accounting policies, please read Rdteour financial statements at the end of this
annual report.

Vessels’ Depreciation

Depreciation is computed using the straight-linehod over the estimated useful life of a vesseégérafonsidering the estimated residual value
We estimate the useful life of our vessels to bgedrs from the date of initial delivery from tHgmyard. An increase in the useful life of a
drybulk vessel or in its residual value would héve effect of decreasing the annual depreciatiaheatending it into later periods. A decrease
in the useful life of a drybulk vessel or in itsidual value would have the effect of increasingahnual depreciation.

Impairment of Lon-lived Assets

The Company reviews for impairment its long-livex$ets held and used whenever events or changesumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be recoverable. Wieeestimate of undiscounted cash flows, excluditgrést charges, expected to be
generated by the use of the asset is less thaaritging amount, we are required to evaluate teetdsr an impairment loss. Measurement of
the impairment loss is based on the fair valudefasset.
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The carrying values of our vessels may not reptdbeir fair market value at any point in time srtbe market prices of secondhand vessels
tend to fluctuate with changes in charter ratesthadtost of newbuilds. Historically, both chamates and vessel values tend to be cyclical.
Declines in the fair market value of vessels, pilexgamarket charter rates, vessel sale and puechassiderations, and regulatory changes in
drybulk shipping industry, changes in businessglanchanges in overall market conditions that exdyersely affect cash flows are conside
as potential impairment indicators. In the eventitidependent market value of a vessel is lowar itisacarrying value, we determine
undiscounted projected net operating cash flovsfimh vessel and compare it to the vessel carnahgey

The undiscounted projected net operating cash ffowsach vessel are determined by consideringltaeter revenues from existing time
charters for the fixed vessel days and an estin@aég time charter equivalent for the unfixed délgased on our company budgeted charter
rate for the first 12 months and the most recemi/tsar historical average of similar size vessaigte period thereafter) over the remaining
estimated life of the vessel, net of brokerage cassions, expected outflows for vessels’ maintenanessel operating expenses, assuming at
average annual inflation rate and management Téesundiscounted cash flows incorporate variousfasuch as estimated future charter
rates, future drydocking costs, estimated vessaelating costs assuming an average annual inflatitenof 3%, estimated vessel utilization
rates, estimated remaining lives of the vessetsiraed to be 25 years from the delivery of the Uds=& the shipyard and estimated salvage
value of the vessels at $182 per light-weight Trese assumptions are based on historical trengelbas future expectations. Although
management believes that the assumptions usedhoat® potential impairment are reasonable andogpiate, such assumptions are highly
subjective.

Our analysis of the impairment test performed ffier year ended December 31, 2011, indicated a wa&riaiplus 12% for the first twelve
months, between actual net receipts during 2012hahdeceipts forecasted by the company for theegagniod. Our analysis of the impairment
test performed for the year ended December 31,,2002h also involved sensitivity tests on the fettime charter rates (which is the input
that is most sensitive to variations), allowing ¥ariances of up to 36% depending on vessel typamncharter rates from the Compasipas
scenario, indicated no impairment on any of ousets

No impairment loss was recorded for any of thequiripresentec

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

Refer to Note 2 of the consolidated financial stetats attached to this report.

Results of Operation

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ebsember 31, 2011

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we hadarage of 21.1 drybulk vessels in our fleet. Dyitime year ended December 31, 2011,
we had an average of 16.4 drybulk vessels in eet.fl

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we adjtheevesselgfrossini, a Panamax class vesséénus Horizon a Post-Panamax class
vessel, an®Pedhoulas Builder, Pedhoulas FightandPedhoulas Farmerll Kamsarmax class vessels. Additionally, duringyBimber 2012
we acquired th&oulitsa, a secondhand Panamax class vessel.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we aafjtheevessel¥enus History a Post-Panamax class vessel Balbpidas, a Capesize cla
vessel.

Revenue
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Revenues increased by 9.1%, or $15.6 million, ®784 million during the year ended December 31226dm $172.0 million during the year
ended December 31, 2011, as result of the nettefféhe following factors: (i) a decrease in th@H rate for 2012 by 17.7% to $22,979,
compared to $27,932 for 2011 due to the decreageeirailing charter rates and (ii) an increaseparating days for the year ended December
31, 2012 by 28.4% to 7,654 days, compared to 5J2§2 for the year ended December 31, 2011, dueliteedes of the vesselsfrossiniand
Venus Horizornin February 2012Pedhoulas Buildein May 2012 Pedhoulas Fightein August 2012Pedhoulas Farmein September 2012
andKoulitsain November 2012.

Commissions

Commissions to unaffiliated ship brokers, otherkers associated with our charterers and our cleagteluring the year ended December 31,
2012 amounted to $3.3 million, an increase of $Gilkon, or 6.5%, compared to $3.1 million durirfietyear ended December 31, 2011, due
the increase in our revenues and a decrease inwer average contracted commissions, which weteaed to 1.74% from 1.81% for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respgc

Vessel operating expenses

Vessel operating expenses increased by 32.7% t& $3#lion during the year ended December 31, 20d $26.0 million during the year
ended December 31, 2011. This increase is duestfoliowing main factors:

(i) the increase of ownership days by 28.8% fro893,in 2011 to 7,716 in 2012;

(ii) the increase of crewing cost by 30.3% to $1miftion in 2012, compared to $13.2 million in 2QXtimarily due to the increased number of
ownership days;

(iii) the increase of cost for spares, stores angipions by 68.3% to $6.9 million in 2012, compite $4.1 million in 2011, attributed to
increased use of spares for repairs and increagader of initial supplies for six vessels delivere@012 compared to two delivered in 2011,

(iv) the increase of cost for lubricants by 6.5%83 million in 2012, compared to $3.1 million2011 as a net effect of increased number of
ownership days and lower costs for lubricants ih2€ompared to 2011,

(v) the increase of cost for insurances by 21.7%2t8 million, compared to $2.3 million mainly digeincreased number of ownership days;
and

(vi) the increase of repairs and dry-docking ctst9.5% to $2.3 million in 2012, compared to $2.lliam in 2011, as a net effect of increased
repairs costs and reduced dry-docking costs ofele#s 2012 compared to 2011.

Consequently, daily operating expenses, whichfine@ as the operating expenses per vessel perrshipalay, increased by 2.9% to $4,476
during the year ended December 31, 2012 from $4¢85idg the year ended December 31, 2011.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense increased by 36.9% to $32l®mduring the year ended December 31, 2012, @etbto $23.6 million during the year
ended December 31, 2011, due to the increase viirage number of vessels from 16.4 during the ¢reded December 31, 2011 to 21.1
during the year ended December 31, 2012.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased Byd® $9.9 million during the year ended Decen81r2012, compared to $8.5 million
during the year ended December 31, 2011. The isereb$1.4 million is due
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to the net effect of: (i) the increase in the mamagnt fees charged by our Manager to $7.7 millo®012 from $6.0 million in 2011 as a result
of the increased ownership days of 7,716 in 20082 15,992 in 2011; and (ii) the decrease in expenbarged by third parties of $2.2 million
in 2012, from $2.5 million in 2011.

Daily general and administrative expenses decreap®d0% to $1,289, during the year ended DecerdbeP012 from $1,417, during the year
ended December 31, 2011.

Daily management fees, which are the part of dgélyeral and administrative expenses payable tManager, decreased by 0.5% to $1,001
during the year ended December 31, 2012, from $1¢0@ing the year ended December 31, 2011.

Interest expens

Interest expense increased by 71.7% to $9.1 mitlimng the year ended December 31, 2012, from $#ll®n during the year ended
December 31, 2011. The $3.8 million increase iarggt expense was mainly attributable to: (i) trerage loans outstanding of $533.7 million
during the year ended December 31, 2012, compartitttaverage loans outstanding of $460.4 milliorind) the year ended December 31,
2011; (ii) the weighted average interest rate afautstanding indebtedness of 1.850% per annuma.()dfor the year ended December 31,
2012 compared to the weighted average interesbfaiar outstanding indebtedness of 1.439% p.atheyear ended December 31, 2011, due
to higher margins incurred on certain new loansvdrduring the year ended December 31, 2012 ancehjgtevailing LIBOR rates; and (iii)
lower capitalized interest expenses of $1.0 millioming the year ended December 31, 2012 compear$l.b million during the year ended
December 31, 2011. The total principal amount ehkoutstanding as of December 31, 2012 was $64i8i@n, compared to $484.3 million

as of December 31, 2011.

Loss on derivative

Loss on derivatives decreased by $7.1 million t@ $8illion during the year ended December 31, 26dth $12.5 million during the year
ended December 31, 2011. The decrease of $7.bmikiflects mainly a decrease in losses of $7.0amifrom interest rate derivatives as a
result of the realized loss and the mark-to-mavkéiation of interest rate swap transactions td $4illion for the year ended December 31,
2012 compared to $12.5 million for the year endeddnber 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2012, the aggregate notionalataf interest rate swap transactions outstandiag) $505.8 million, compared to $547.1
million as of December 31, 2011. An aggregate mati@mount of $53.7 million of interest rate swegnsactions outstanding as of December
31, 2012 will become effective during the year egddecember 31, 2013, upon the expiration of thstieg interest rate swap transactions
relating to such loans. These swaps economicatlgédxb the interest rate exposure of 83% of the Cagipaggregate loans outstanding as of
December 31, 2012 that bear interest at LIBOR. mhek-to-market valuation of these interest ratepstransactions at the end of each period
is affected by the prevailing comparable interagts at that time.

Foreign currency gain/(loss

Foreign currency loss was zero millions duringybar ended December 31, 2012, compared to a g&d.8fmillion during the year ended
December 31, 2011. Foreign currency exchange gailtsses result primarily from currency translatar currency conversion of advances
vessel acquisitions and vessels under construdéaominated in foreign currencies or from currepayments of supplies or services
denominated in foreign currencies.

Early redelivery income, ni
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, we redarddy redelivery income, relating to the earyrtmation of period time charters of our
vessels, of $11.7 million compared to $0.2 millearly redelivery income during the year ended Dédmam31, 2011. Early redelivery income
during the year ended December 31, 2012 is analyzddllows: (i) On December 15, 2012, we tookyeeetlelivery of theMartine, instead of
on January 21, 2014, and in connection with thityeadelivery, we recognized early redelivery immof $8.5 million, comprising cash
compensation paid by the relevant charterer of 88li§on, net of commissions, less accrued revesfu®0.1 million; (i) on December 19,
2012, we took early redelivery of thvaria , instead of on February 24, 2014, and in connedtith this early redelivery, we recognized early
redelivery income of $3.2 million, comprising casimpensation paid by the relevant charterer of §8lion, net of commissions, less accn
revenue of $0.2 million.

Voyage expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we redordgage expenses of $7.3 million, compared to $2lllon during the year ended
December 31, 2012, as a result of increased veszasitioning expenses.

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ebém@mber 31, 2010

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we hadarage of 16.4 drybulk vessels in our fleet. Dyitime year ended December 31, 2010,
we had an average of 14.6 drybulk vessels in eet.fl

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we aafjtheevessel¥enus History a Post-Panamax class vessel Balbpidas, a Capesize cla
vessel.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we aafjthevesselKanaris, a Capesize class vesdefnayiota K, a PostPanamax class ves:
andVenus Heritage a Post-Panamax class vessel and ®tddEfrossini, a Panamax class vessel.

Revenue

Revenues increased by 7.7%, or $12.3 million, t2%1 million during the year ended December 31,12f6dm $159.7 million during the year
ended December 31, 2010, as result of the nettefféhe following factors: (i) a decrease in th@H rate for 2011 by 5.4% to $27,932,
compared to $29,534 for 2010 due to the decreageeirailing charter rates and (ii) an increaseparating days for the year ended December
31, 2011 by 13.2% to 5,962 days, compared to 5¢2§8 for the year ended December 31, 2010, due itaceease in the weighted number of
vessels during 2010 of 14.6 compared to 16.4 duididl, due to the deliveries of the vess&daus Historyn September 2011, aRkelopidas

in November 2011.

Commissions

Commissions to unaffiliated ship brokers, otherkers associated with our charterers and our cleageluring the year ended December 31,
2011 amounted to $3.1 million, an increase of $0iMlon, or 14.8%, compared to $2.7 million duritite year ended December 31, 2010,
primarily due to the increase in our revenues arallesser extent to higher average contracted éssions, which increased in 2011 to 1.81%
from 1.68% in 2010.

Vessel operating expenses
Vessel operating expenses increased by 12.6% t0 $#8ion during the year ended December 31, 2@dth $23.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2010. This increase of $2.%omiteflects mainly: (i) crewing cost of $13.2 nuot, compared to $11.4 million primarily

attributable to increased salaries paid to our sramd increased number of ownership days from 5182610 to 5,992 in 2011, (ii) insurance
cost of $2.3
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million, compared to $1.9 million primarily attritable to the increase number of vessels in 201t@mtreased insurances paid to our
insurers, (iii) the cost for repairs, maintenaned drydocking of $2.1 million, compared to $1.8Imil, and (iv) cost for lubricants of $3.1
million, compared to $2.8 million mainly due to reased number of operating days from 5,269 in 208962 in 2011 and increased
lubricants prices.

Consequently, daily operating expenses, which sgmethe operating expenses per vessel per owpatalhj increased marginally by 0.2% to
$4,350 during the year ended December 31, 2011 $4842 during the year ended December 31, 2010.

Depreciation

Depreciation expenses increased by 19.8% to $2@i6émduring the year ended December 31, 2011, gamed to $19.7 million during the
year ended December 31, 2010, due to the incradbe iaverage number of vessels from 14.6 duriagéar ended December 31, 2010 to
during the year ended December 31, 2011.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased B9@tb $8.5 million during the year ended Decen8igr2011 from $7.0 million during the
year ended December 31, 2010, due to an incredke imumber of ownership days by 12.5% from 5,328010 to 5,992 in 2011, as well
due to an increase, as of May 29, 2011, in thalfdaly fee per vessel to $700 from $575.

Daily general and administrative expenses increageti5% to $1,417, during the year ended DecerdbeP011 from $1,318, during the year
ended December 31, 2010.

Daily management fees, which are the part of dgélyeral and administrative expenses payable tManager, increased by 9.8% to $1,006
during the year ended December 31, 2011, from $@tiég the year ended December 31, 2011.

Interest expens

Interest expenses decreased by 18.8% to $5.2 mdliving the year ended December 31, 2011 from i®dlbn during the year ended
December 31, 2010. The $1.2 million decrease grést expense was mainly attributable to the iseréathe capitalized interest during the
year ended December 31, 2011 of $1.5 million fré8$nillion during the year ended December 31, 2@bd the decrease in the aver
loans outstanding during the year ended Decemhe2@1L of $460.4 million from $476.9 million duritige year ended December 31, 2010,
partly offset by the increase of the weighted ageriaterest rate of our outstanding indebtedneds489% p.a. for the year ended December
31, 2011 from 1.394% p.a. for the year ended Deeer®b, 2010.

Loss on derivative

Loss on derivatives increased by $4.3 million t@.$Imillion during the year ended December 31, 2odrh $8.2 million during the year
ended December 31, 2010. The increase of $4.3omifliainly reflects an increase in losses of $4Manifrom interest rate derivatives as a
result of the realized loss and the mark-to-maviéiation of interest rate swap transactions ta4dllion for the year ended December 31,
2011 compared to $8.0 million for the year endeddbeber 31, 2010.

As of December 31, 2011, the aggregate notionalatnaf interest rate swap transactions outstandiag $547.1 million, compared to $638.0
million at December 31, 2010. The aggregate notiamunt of interest rate swap transactions oudétanat
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December 31, 2011 is higher than the aggregate loarstanding at December 31, 2011, of $484.3anillas two of the interest rate swap
transactions outstanding at December 31, 2011bedbme effective upon the expiration of the exigtiterest rate swap transactions relating
to such loans. These swaps economically hedgeidttrest rate exposure of 108% of the Company’seggge loans outstanding as of
December 31, 2011 that bear interest at LIBOR. Mhaek-to-market valuation of these interest ratepstransactions at the end of each period
is affected by the prevailing comparable interatts at that time.

Foreign currency gain/(loss

Foreign currency loss was $0.8 million during tiearyended December 31, 2011, compared to gain.8frllion during the year ended
December 31, 2010. Foreign currency exchange gailusses resulted primarily from currency transkaor currency conversion of advances
for vessel acquisitions and vessels under con&rudenominated in foreign currencies. None ofloans were denominated in foreign
currency as of December 31, 2011.

Early redelivery income, ni

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we redazddy redelivery income, relating to the earlyrtimation of period time charters of our
vessels, of $0.2 million compared to $0.1 milli@rlg redelivery income during the year ended Decem®i, 2010.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2012, we had $129.4 millionashcand restricted cash, of which $102.7 millionsisted of cash and cash equivalents,
$22.8 million consisted of short-term restrictedrcand $3.9 million was long-term restricted cadsladdition, as of December 31, 2012, we
had $50.0 million in a longerm floating rate note investment (for more infatian, please see Note 9 to our financial statesnectuded at tt
end of this annual report).

As of February 15, 2013, we had $73.7 million istcaime deposits and restricted cash of which4pd#llion consisted of cash and cash
equivalents, $0.6 million consisted of short-teimet deposits, $22.8 million was short-term restédctash and $3.9 million was long-term
restricted cash. In addition, as of February 13.320we had $50.0 million in a long-term floatiraje note investment.

As of December 31, 2012, we had aggregate dehiamdii®g of $615.7 million, of which $19.2 millionas payable within the next 12 months.
As of December 31, 2012, we had an aggregate additborrowing capacity of $8.1 million availableder existing revolving credit facilities.
Additionally, we had one existing vessel unencurabbemd under certain conditions we could borrovou40.0 million in cash against our
long-term floating rate note investment.

As of February 15, 2013, we had an aggregate additborrowing capacity $68.9 million available enéxisting revolving credit facilities.
Additionally, we had two existing vessels unencuredeand under certain conditions we could borrovtoup40.0 million in cash against our
long-term floating rate note investment.

As of December 31, 2012, our commitments for veasglisitions were $192.9 million, consisting oD$Bmillion, payable in 2013, $59.1
million, payable in 2014, and $53.0 million, payaibt 2015. As of December 31, 2012 the existingtftmnsisted of 24 vessels and we had
contracted to agcuire six newbuilds and one secomtliressel, three of which were scheduled to hieetet! in 2013, two in 2014 and two in
2015.

As of February 15, 2013, our commitments for veasguisitions were $198.8 million, consisting oB$6million payable in 2013, $76.1
million payable in 2014, and $53.0 million payahie€015. As of February 15, 2012,
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the existing fleet consisted of 25 vessels and a@ ¢ontracted to agcuire six newbuilds and onergbwnd vessel, two of which wi
scheduled to be delivered in 2013, three in 20htawo in 2015.

Our primary liquidity needs are to fund capitaperditures in relation to newbuild contracts, ficiag expenses, debt repayment, vessel
operating expenses, general and administrativensgseand dividend payments to our stockholdersaitieipate that our primary sources of
funds will be the existing cash and cash equivalastof December 31, 2012 of $102.7 million, skemta restricted cash of $22.8 million,
borrowings of $40 million against our long termdtmg rate note investment, additional undrawndwimg capacity of $8.1 million, cash frc
operations and possibly, additional indebtedneg®tmised against our two existing unencumberesdels and against our six unencumbered
newbuild vessels and the one contracted secondressel upon their delivery to us, and equity finagc

We currently estimate that the contracted cash ffom operations, existing cash and cash equivalaulditional borrowing against our
floating rate note investment, existing undrawmlaad revolving credit facilities and commitmentsi additional indebtedness secured by six
newbuild vessels and one secondhand vessel wheatuarently unencumbered, will be sufficient toduhe operations of our fleet, including
our working capital requirements, and the capitglemditure requirements through the end of 2013vé¥e@r, during 2013 or 2014, we may
seek additional indebtedness to partially fundaapital expenditure requirements in order to maingastrong cash position. We may incur
additional indebtedness secured by two existingalesour six newbuild vessels and one contractedrglhand vessel upon their delivery to
us, which are all currently unencumbered. To therxthat market conditions deteriorate, chartemeay default or seek to renegotiate charter
contracts, and vessel valuations may decreasdiingsin a breach of our debt covenants. In sudeaaur contracted revenues may decrease
and we may be required to make additional prepagsnamer existing loan facilities, resulting in #@ahal financing needs. If we acquire
additional vessels, our capital expenditure reaquéets will increase and we will need to rely onsérg cash and time deposits, operating cas
surplus and existing undrawn loan commitments.dfare unable to obtain additional indebtednest find alternative financing, we will not
be capable of funding our commitments for capitqlenditures relating to our contracted newbuilds secondhand vessels. A failure to fulfill
our commitment would generally result in a forfeitwf the advances we paid to the shipyard orhind party sellers with respect to the
contracted newbuilds and secondhand vessel. Itiadldive may also be liable for other damages feabh of contract. Examples of such
liabilities could include payments to the shipyardhe third party seller for the difference betwélee forfeited advance and the amount that
remains to be paid by us if the shipyard or thedtparty seller cannot locate a third-party buyet is willing to pay an amount equal to the
difference or compensatory payments by us to chparies with whom we have entered into chartetls respect to the contracted newbuilds.
Such events could adversely impact the dividendswead to pay, and could have a material advefseteon our business, financial condition
and results of operation.

We have paid dividends to our stockholders eachtejusince our initial public offering in June 2Q08cluding an aggregate amount of $37.5
million over three consecutive quarterly dividenglach in the amount of $0.15 per share, followedrsy consecutive quarterly dividend in the
amount of $0.05 per share, paid during 2012. We éézlared a dividend of $0.05 per share, payabler @bout March 8, 2013, to our
shareholders of record on March 4, 2013. Our fuligradity needs will impact our dividend policy. &turrently intend to use a portion of our
free cash to pay dividends to our stockholders. ddwdaration and payment of dividends, if any, aiWays be subject to the discretion of our
board of directors. The timing and amount of angd#inds declared will depend on, among other thifigsur earnings, financial condition
and cash requirements and available sources adliigu(ii) decisions in relation to our growth ategies; (iii) provisions of Marshall Islands
and Liberian law governing the payment of divider(dg restrictive covenants in our existing antlfie debt instruments; and (v) global
financial conditions. Dividends might be reducedhot be paid in the future.
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Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents increased to $102.0mék of December 31, 2012, compared to $28.1amiis of December 31, 2011. We
consider highly liquid investments such as timeas#s and certificates of deposit with an origimeturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are priyrtait in U.S. dollars.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activit

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumte$105.1 million in 2012, consisting of net incoafeer noi-cash items of $126.9 million
less an increase in working capital of $21.8 millio

Net cash provided by operating activities amounte$107.2 million in 2011, consisting of net incoafeer noi-cash items of $114.4 million
plus an increase in working capital of $7.2 million

Net Cash Used in Investing Activiti

Net cash flows used in investing activities wer&&1 million for the year ended December 31, 20dimared to net cash flows usec
investing activities of $125.9 million for the yeamded December 31, 2011. The increase in casls fised in investing activities of $32.2
million from 2011 is mainly attributable to the redfect of the following factors: (i) no changedar net bank time deposits during the year
ended December 31, 2012, compared to a decre&856f million during the same period in 2011; &ijlecrease of $24.1 million in payments
for vessel acquisitions and advances for vesselsnuonstruction during the year ended Decembe2@®12, due to the net effect of the
cancellation of newbuiltHull JO1310f $32.4 million and an increase of $8.3 millionaidvances paid; and (iii) net increase in resulictsh of
$21.3 million during the year ended December 3122@ue to an increase in the restricted cash aséshn and credit facilities collaterals,
compared to no change during the year ended Deae3ib2011.

Net cash flows used in investing activities wer2%® million for the year ended December 31, 20drhmared to net cash flows usec
investing activities of $131.7 million for the yeamded December 31, 2010. The decrease in cash flsed in investing activities of $5.8
million from 2010 is mainly attributable to the reffect of the following factors: (i) a decreaseumr net bank time deposits by $35.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2011, comparadlécrease of $22.8 million during the same gari®010; (ii) a decrease of $31.5
million in payments for vessel acquisitions andabes for vessels under construction during the greded December 31, 2011 due to our
acquisition of two new vesselgenus Historyn September, anéelopidasn November, while during the year ended Decembef810, we
acquired three new vessdignarisin March,Panayiota Kin April andVenus Heritagén December; and (iii) proceeds from sale of vessel
amounting to $32.2 million in 2010 due to the s#léheOld Efrossini; no vessels were sold in 2011.

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in)Financing Activii

Net cash flows provided by financing activities e&127.7 million for the year ended December 3122@8ompared to net cash flows use:
financing activities of $18.5 million for the yeanded December 31, 2011. This increase of $148l®micompared to the year ended
December 31, 2011, is largely attributable to amgase of $86.8 million in long-term debt principayments, offset by an increase in long-
term debt proceeds of $228.6 million, a decreasividends paid of $4.3 million, a decrease in pagta of deferred financing costs of $4.4
million and a decrease of $4.4 million in procefrdsn the issuance of common stock.

Net cash flows used in financing activities wer8&$1million for the year ended December 31, 20binpgared to net cash flows provided
financing activities of $60.1 million for the yeanded December 31, 2010. This increase of $78l®mdompared to 2010 is largely
attributable to a decrease of $35.4 million in jgexts
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from the issuance of common stock, an increaseng-term debt principal payments of $43.5 millian,increase in longerm debt proceeds
$9.5 million an increase in payments of deferrediriicing costs of $5.4 million and an increase udeéinds paid of $4 million.

Credit Facilities

We operate in a capital intensive industry whidjuiges significant amounts of investment, and walfa portion of this investment through
long-term bank debt. Our subsidiaries have geneeaitered into individual credit facilities in ord® finance the acquisition of the vessels
owned by these subsidiaries and for general cop@@aposes. In 2012, six of our subsidiaries edt@nto a new credit facility which was us
to fully refinance the outstanding balances undeinslividual credit facilities that had been preusly entered into with the same bank. The
durations until maturity of our 17 credit facilii®utstanding on December 31, 2012, ranged frontdvi@ years, and they are generally repai
by semi-annual principal installments and a ballpagment due on maturity, for 13 of them, and byisennual principal installments for four
of them. We generally pay interest on these féedliat LIBOR plus a margin, except for four fagit, under which a portion of the principal
amounts bear interest at the Commercial InterefirBece Rate published by the Organization for Boun Co-operation and Development
(“OECD") applicable on the date of signing of tledevant loan agreements. The obligations undeciadlit facilities are secured by, among
other types of security, first priority mortgagegeothe vessels owned by the respective borrowssidiaries, first priority assignments of all
insurances and earnings of the mortgaged vessglgumrantees by Safe Bulkers, Inc.

During 2012, we drew down loans totaling $312.6ionland we repaid $181.3 million of our indebteseAs of December 31, 2012, we had
17 outstanding credit facilities with a combinedstanding balance of $615.7 million. These dehiifees have maturity dates between 2014
and 2024. For a description of our debt faciliagsof December 31, 2012, please see Note 8 taraundial statements included at the end of
this annual report. During 2013, we are schedwe@pay approximately $19.2 million of our longredebt outstanding as of December 31,
2012. During 2012, we entered into a new loan ifgdih the amount of $34.0 million fdEfrossini, a new credit facility in the amount of $18.0
million for Pedhoulas Farmeand a new loan facility in the amount of $17.9 ioillfor Pedhoulas Builder.

Covenants under Credit Facilities

The credit facilities impose operating and finahogstrictions on us. These restrictions in ousgng credit facilities generally limit our
subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, antjsct to exceptions set forth in such credit faes:

. pay dividends if an event of default has occurnedlia continuing or would occur as a result of pagment of such dividend
. enter into certain long-term charters;
. incur additional indebtedness, including throughigsuance of guarantees;

. change the flag, class or management of the vess#fjaged under such facility or terminate or matigramend the
management agreement relating to such ve

. create liens on their assets;
. make loans;

. make investments;
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. make capital expenditures;

. undergo a change in ownership or control or peangihange in ownership and control of our Manager;
. sell the vessel mortgaged under such facility; and

. permit our chief executive officer to change.

Our existing credit facilities also require certainour subsidiaries to maintain financial ratiogl @atisfy financial covenants. Depending on th
credit facility, certain of our subsidiaries ardmct to financial ratios and covenants requirimat these subsidiaries:

. ensure that the market value of the vessel morthagder the applicable credit facility, determime@ccordance with the terms of
that facility, does not fall below 100% to 120%,agplicable, of the outstanding amount of the Iiha “Minimum Value
Covenar”);

. ensure that outstanding amounts in currencies tilaerthe U.S. dollar do not exceed 100% or 11 pplicable, of the U.S.
dollar equivalent amount specified in the relevaedit agreement for the applicable period bygeiéessary, providing cash
collateral security in an amount necessary fomihtstanding amounts to meet this threshold;

. ensure that we comply with certain financial coverainder the guarantees described below.

In addition, under guarantees we have enterednittorespect to certain of our subsidiaries’ exigtcredit facilities, we are subject to financial
covenants. Depending on the guarantee, these falaowenants include the following:

. our total consolidated liabilities with the relevdnank divided by our total consolidated assetstmasexceed 80% or 85% as the
case may be (“Consolidated Leverage Covenant”).tdtaé consolidated assets are based on the maaket of our vessels and the
book values of all other assets, on an adjusted basset out in the relevant guaran

. the ratio of our aggregate debt to EBITDA mustatodny time exceed 5.5:1 on a trailing 12 montlasi® or the ratio of our
aggregate debt after deducting cash to EBITDA mashat any time exceed 8.5:1 on a trailing 12 mentasis (“EBITDA
Covenar”);

. our net consolidated worth (total consolidated dess total consolidated liabilities) (“Consotield Net Worth Covenant”) must
not at any time be less than $150.0 milli

. payment of dividends is subject to no event of diéfaaving occurred;
. maintenance of minimum free liquidity of $500,080équired on deposit on a per vessel basis fenfdssels; and

. a minimum of 51% of the Company’s shares shall ierdaectly or indirectly beneficially owned by th#ajioannou family for the
duration of the relevant credit facilitie

As of December 31, 2012, the Company was in compdavith all debt covenants with respect to itsilaad credit facilities.
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Interest Rate Swap

We have entered into interest rate swap agreementeerting floating interest rate exposure int@fixnterest rates in order to economically
hedge our exposure to fluctuations in prevailingkatinterest rates. For more information on oteriest rate swap agreements, refer to Note
13 to our financial statements included at the @frttlis annual report.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licens

We incur from time to time expenditures relatingrtspections for acquiring new vessels that meestandards. Such expenditures are
insignificant and they are expensed as they argiied.

D. Trend Information

Our results of operations depend primarily on therter hire rates that we are able to realize taaedlemand for drybulk vessel services. After
reaching historical highs in mid-2008, charter lates for Panamax and Capesize drybulk vessalh@danear historically low levels. For
example, the Baltic Drybulk Index, or “BDI,” decéd from a high of 11,793 in May 2008 to a low 0866 December 2008, which represents
a decline of 94% within a single calendar year.R@bruary 3, 2012, the BDI reached a low of 647,tduee combination of weak demand and
further growth in vessel supply. As of February 2613, the BDI was 753.

The decline and volatility in charter rates in thrgbulk market reflects in part the fact that tply of drybulk vessels in the market has beer
increasing, and the number of newbuild drybulk e&sen order is near historic highs. Demand fobdhy vessel services is influenced by
global financial conditions. The recovery in Charad India positively influenced the charter ratemyever, global financial conditions remain
volatile and demand for drybulk services may desean the future. The combination of increasingodtly capacity (both current and expec
and decreasing demand or demand which is not difstite increase in drybulk capacity is likely &sult in reductions in charter hire rates i
as a consequence, adversely affect our operatiudfse

In response to the volatile market conditions, eeksto strengthen our charter coverage. Currehilyf our 25 vessels are employed or
scheduled to be employed in period time chartera@® than three months. Additionally, we believevave structured our capital expendi
requirements, debt commitments and liquidity resesitis a way that will provide us with financiaxlbility (see “Item 5. Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects — B. Liquidity arapifal Resources” for more information).

E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement

As of December 31, 2012, we did not have any ofélize sheet arrangements.

F. Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 20ée::
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Long-term debt obligation
Interest payments (:
Payments to our Manager (
Newbuild contract:

Total

More than

5 years
(After
Less than 1 1-3 years 3-5 years January 1,
Total year (2013) (2014-2015) (2016-2017) 2018)
(Dollars in
thousands
$ 615,66° $ 19,19¢ $ 122,44¢  $ 120,29. $ 353,72¢
$ 71,49¢ $ 16,747  $ 2556¢ $ 16,97¢  $ 12,20¢
$ 16,03 $ 10,05 $ 5,98 — —
$ 187,30¢ $ 78,37¢  $ 108,93. — —
$ 890,50° $ 124,36( $ 262,93, $ 137,27  $ 365,93

1.  Amounts shown reflect estimated interest paymest expect to make with respect to our long-teetnt dbligations and interest rate
swaps. The interest payments reflect an assume@RiBased applicable interest rate of 0.5083% (thensnth LIBOR rate as of
December 31, 2012), plus the relevant margin oijb@icable credit facility and the estimated redtlsment of our interest rate swa
See"ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Progg— B. Liquidity and Capital Resourc—Interest Rate Sway’

2.  Represents the fixed fee of $700 per vesseall@erand the variable fee of 1.25% of estimatedtehaire based on charter agreements
in place as of December 31, 2012, based on thegearent fees effective as of May 29, 2012. In addjtit includes amounts payable
to our Manager under the Management Agreemensipert of the acquisition fees for each of the swlouilds and one contracted
secondhand vessel and the supervision fees foradhbk six newbuilds, which are described elsewlmrarein. The levels of the abc
mentioned fees are subject to adjustment everygmdwmwill be agreed upon between us and our Mandagerfees shown in the table
above do not take into account any potential futin@nges to the fee

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

A. Directors and Senior Management

The following table sets forth, as of February 2813, information regarding our directors and exieewfficers.

Name Age Position

Polys Hajioannot 46  Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board &idss | Directol
Dr. Loukas Barmpari 50 President, Secretary and Class Il Dires

Konstantinos Adamopoulc 50 Chief Financial Officer and Class Il Direct

loannis Foteino 54  Chief Operating Officer and Class | Direc

John Gaffney 52  Class Il Directol

Frank Sice 62  Class Il Director

Ole Wikborg 57 Class | Directo

Certain biographical information about each of ehieglividuals is set forth below. The term of ouass | directors expires in 2015, the term of
our Class Il directors expires in 2013 and the tefrour Class Il directors expires in 2014.

Polys Hajioannouis our Chief Executive Officer and has been Chairmiour board of directors since 2008. Mr. Hajioan also serves with
our Manager and prior to its inception, our Man&predecessor Alassia Steamship Co., Ltd., whicjoimed in 1987. Mr. Hajioannou was
elected as a member of the board of directorseofhthion of Greek Shipowners in 2006 and servederbbard until February 2009. Mr.
Hajioannou is also a founding member of the Unib@yprus Shipowners. Mr. Hajioannou is a membehefLloyd’s Register Hellenic
Advisory Committee. In 2011, Mr. Hajioannou was aipped to the board of
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directors of the Hellenic Mutual War Risks Assodat(Bermuda) Limited. Mr. Hajioannou holds a Bddnef Science degree in nautical
studies from Sunderland University.

Dr. Loukas Barmparis is our President and Secretary and has been a meriter board of directors since 2008. Dr. Barnigalso serves i
the technical manager of our Manager, which heegim February 2006. Until 2009 he was the prajestelopment manager of the affiliated
Alasia Development S.A., responsible for renewalergy projects. Prior to joining our Manager ardsfa Development S.A., from 1999 to
2005 and from 1993 to 1995, Dr. Barmparis was eggulat N. Daskalantonakis Group, Grecotel, ondi@fldrgest hotel chains in Greece, as
technical manager and project development geneaabger. During the interim period between 1995X31#D, Dr. Barmparis was employec
Exergia S.A. as an energy consultant. Dr. Barmpanids a master of business administration (“M.B.&om the Athens Laboratory of
Business Administration, a doctorate from the IngieZollege of Science Technology and Medicine,ast@r of applied science from the
University of Toronto and a diploma in mechanicadi@eering from the Aristotle University of Theswaiki.

Konstantinos Adamopoulosis our Chief Financial Officer and has been a maemobeur board of directors since 2008. Prior tmijag us, Mr.
Adamopoulos was employed at Calyon, a financidltirtgon, as a senior relationship manager in shigfinance for 14 years. Prior to this,
from 1990 to 1993, Mr. Adamopoulos was employedHgyNational Bank of Greece in London as an accoffiter for shipping finance and

in Athens as deputy head of the export finance diefgent. Prior to this, from 1987 to 1989, Mr. Adapoalos served as a finance officer in the
Greek Air Force. Mr. Adamopoulos holds an M.B.Afimance from the City University Business Schaudl@ Bachelor of Science degree in
business administration from the Athens Schoolafrmics and Business Science.

loannis Foteinosis our Chief Operating Officer and has been a mermbeur board of directors since February 2009. Miteinos has 25
years of experience in the shipping industry. Aftbtaining a bachel’s degree in nautical studies from Sunderland Unsityg he joined the
predecessor of our Manager, Safety Management €a&rg 1984, where he presently serves and witirnae to serve as Chartering
Manager.

Frank Sicahas been a member of our board of directors awdio€orporate governance, nominating and compamsatimmittee, and a
member and chairman of our audit committee, sifi382Mr. Sica has served as a Managing Partneailtifd Capital, a private equity firm
since 2006. From 2004 to 2005, Mr. Sica was a $édwisor to Soros Private Funds Management. Fré88%o 2003, Mr. Sica worked at
Soros Fund Management where he oversaw the deakestate and private equity investment activitieSoros. From 1988 to 1998, Mr. Sica
was a Managing Director at Morgan Stanley. Mr. $éca graduate of Wesleyan University, where heivetl a B.A. degree, and of the Amos
Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth College, wiereeceived his M.B.A. Mr. Sica is also directéG®G Systems International, an
account management and billing software compangdarmunication industries, JetBlue Airways Corpiorata commercial airline, and
Kohl's Corporation, an owner and operator of deparit stores.

Ole Wikborg has been a member of our board of directors amdicudit committee and corporate governance, natinig and compensation
committee since 2008. Mr. Wikborg has been involvethe marine and shipping industry in variousazies for over 30 years. Since 2002,
Mr. Wikborg has served as a director, senior undégwand member of the management team of the Bigiam Hull Club, based in Oslo,
Norway. From 2002 to 2006, Mr. Wikborg also serasch member and chairman of the Ocean Hull Comenitt¢he International Union ¢
Marine Insurance (“IUMI”). Since 2006, he has selhas Vice President and a member of the ExecutbardBof the IUMI and in 2010, he was
elected as President of IUMI. Since 1997, Mr. Wilghbas served as a board member of the CentrahlafiMarine Insurers, based in Oslo,
and is presently that organizatisrChairman. From 1997 until 2002, Mr. Wikborg seras the senior vice president and manager of gree
and energy division of the Zurich Protector Insee@ompany ASA,
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based in Oslo and Zurich, and from 1993 until 19#/served as a senior underwriter for the marivisidn of Protector Insurance Company
ASA, based in Oslo. Prior to his career in thedfiet marine insurance, Mr. Wikborg served in they&dNorwegian Navy, attaining the rank of
Lieutenant Commander.

John Gaffneyhas been a member of our board of directors adicdudit committee, and a member and chairmamio€orporate
governance, nominating and compensation commiteee October 2011. Mr. Gaffney joined the law fioifGibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP

a partner in November 2011. From January 2010 gir@eptember 2011, Mr. Gaffney was a Senior ViesiBent, Corporate Affairs and
General Counsel of Solyndra, Inc., where he leg®&bk’s corporate affairs and legal activities.Rrdanuary 2008 through December 2009,
Mr. Gaffney was an Executive Vice President attFbaar, where he led First Solar's corporate dgwelent, legal, sustainable development
and environmental affairs activities. Prior to joig First Solar, Mr. Gaffney practiced law at tlvenf of Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, where
he was a partner from 1993 to 2008. Mr. Gaffney ¢ggaduate of The George Washington University,revhe received a B.A degree, and of
New York University, where he received his J.D. &h&.A. degrees

B. Compensation of Directors and Senior Managemer

Non-executive independent directors of the Companyai@ an annual fee in the amount of $40,000 @imliursement for their out-gfecke
expenses.

In addition, the chairman of the audit committegrk Sica, receives the annual equivalent of $@DiBGhe form of shares of our common
stock. John Gaffney and Ole Wikborg receive theuahequivalent of $30,000 in the form of shareswfcommon stock. The members of our
senior management are provided and compensatedrijanager and have not received and will not kecany compensation from us. We
not have any employment contracts with any of oaecative officers whose services are provided tbyusur Manager. For a discussion of the
fees payable to our Manager, refer to “Item 7. M§bareholders and Related Party Transactions—BtdeParty Transactions—
Management Agreement”. Also, we do not have anyieercontracts with any of our non-executive dioestthat provide for benefits upon
termination of their services.

No amounts are set aside or accrued by us to prgadsion, retirement or similar benet

C. Board Practices

As of December 31, 2012, we had seven members oinoaud of directors. The board of directors magnge the number of directors to not
less than three, nor more than 15, by a vote odjanity of the entire board. Each director shalktected to serve until the third succeeding
annual meeting of stockholders and until his orduercessor shall have been duly elected and qdildixcept in the event of death, resignatio
or removal. A vacancy on the board created by deaslignation, removal (which may only be for cguee failure of the stockholders to elect
the entire class of directors to be elected atedagtion of directors or for any other reason, rhayilled only by an affirmative vote of a
majority of the remaining directors then in offiexen if less than a quorum, at any special meettigd for that purpose or at any regular
meeting of the board of directors. None of our cives is a party to service contracts with us mimg for benefits upon termination of
employment. Information regarding the period whéetth director served and the date of expiraticgach director’s current term is available
in “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Emps/—A. Directors and Senior Management.”

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012futhdoard of directors held four meetings. Eadtector attended all of the meetings of
committees of which the director was a member ns@eor electronically. Our board of directors datermined that each of Mr. Sica, Gaff
and Wikborg are independent within the current nreggsof independence employed by the corporaterganee rules of the New York Stock
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Exchange and the SEC. Stockholders who wish to semnunications on any topic to the board of doesbr to the independent directors as
a group, or to the chairman of the audit commitkée,Frank Sica, or to the chairman of the corpogdvernance, nominating and
compensation committee, Mr. John Gaffney, may doyswariting to our Secretary, Dr. Loukas Barmpa8afe Bulkers, Inc., 30-32 Avenue
Karamanli, 16673, Voula, Athens, Greece.

Corporate Governance

The board of directors and our Company’s manageimerg engaged in an ongoing review of our corpgaternance practices in order to
oversee our compliance with the applicable corgogatvernance rules of the New York Stock Exchamgkthe SEC.

We have adopted a number of key documents thaharm®undation of the Company’s corporate goveraameluding:

. a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all eficand employees, which incorporates a Code aé€tbr directors and a Code
of Conduct for corporate officer

. a Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compens@onmittee Charter; and
. an Audit Committee Charter.

These documents and other important informationworgovernance are posted on our website and maietved at
http://www.safebulkers.com. We will also providpaper copy of any of these documents upon theanrittquest of a stockholder.
Stockholders may direct their requests to the tittierof our Secretary, Dr. Loukas Barmparis, SafékBrs, Inc., 30-32 Avenue Karamanli,
16673, Voula, Athens, Greece.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit committes

Our audit committee consists of Ole Wikborg, Jolaifey and Frank Sica, as chairman. Our boardretthrs has determined that Frank Sice
qualifies as an audit committee “financial expesis’such term is defined in Regulation S-K promigiddy the SEC. The audit committee is
responsible for;

. the appointment, compensation, retention and ayetrsif independent auditors and approving any natitaervices performed by
such auditor

. assisting the board in monitoring the integrityoaf financial statements, the independent auditpralifications and independence,
the performance of the independent accountant®anthternal audit function and our compliance wébal and regulatory
requirements

. annually reviewing an independent auditors’ replegcribing the auditing firm’s internal quality-dosl procedures, and any
material issues raised by the most recent intequality control review, or peer review, of the aurdj firm;

. discussing the annual audited financial and qugrstatements with management and the independseiitbss;
. discussing earnings press releases, as well agfalanformation and earnings guidance providedrtalysts and rating agencies;
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. discussing policies with respect to risk assessmaedtrisk management;

. meeting separately, and periodically, with manageieternal auditors and the independent auditor;

. reviewing with the independent auditor any auditpems or difficulties and management’s responses;
. setting clear hiring policies for employees or fememployees of the independent auditors;

. annually reviewing the adequacy of the audit cortaais written charter, the internal audit chartiee, scope of the annual internal
audit plan and the results of internal auc

. reporting regularly to the full board of directoasid
. handling such other matters that are specificalggated to the audit committee by the board @fotlrs from time to time.

Our corporate governance, nominating and compamsatimmittee consists of Ole Wikborg, Frank Sicd &ohn Gaffney, as chairman. The
corporate governance, nominating and compensationmittee is responsible for:

. nominating candidates, consistent with criteriaraped by the full board of directors, for the apmlbof the full board of directors
to fill board vacancies as and when they ariseyedbas putting in place plans for succession,artipular, of the chairman of the
board of directors and executive office

. selecting, or recommending that the full boardicdators select, the director nominees for the mextual meeting of shareholders;

. developing and recommending to the full board odéabrs corporate governance guidelines applidables and keeping such
guidelines under reviev

. overseeing the evaluation of the board and managfeaed

. handling such other matters that are specificaleghated to the corporate governance, nominatidgcampensation committee by
the board of directors from time to tin

D. Employees

Other than an employee who serves as our legaseptative in Greece, we have no salaried empl@resave not entered into any
employment agreements. Our Manager employs, andda®us with, all four of our executive officens¢luding our chief executive officer,
Polys Hajioannou, our president, Dr. Loukas Barnspaur chief financial officer, Konstantinos Adapoulos, and our chief operating officer,
loannis Foteinos. Our Manager is responsible fgimgaany salaries payable to our executive officAssof December 31, 2012, approximai
506 people served on board the vessels in our #edtour Manager employed approximately 48 peoplshore.

E. Share Ownership

The common stock beneficially owned by our direstand executive officers and/or companies affitlatéth these individuals is disclosed in
“Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Taatisns—A. Major Shareholders” below.
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Equity Compensation Plan

We have agreed to provide the chairman of the aodiimittee, Mr. Frank Sica, as part of his remuti@nathe annual equivalent of $60,000 in
the form of shares of our common stock, and oure@tutive independent directors, Mr. John Gaffaeg Mr. Ole Wikborg, as part of their
remuneration, the annual equivalent of $30,000 gadhe form of shares of our common stock.

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth certain informatimgarding the beneficial ownership of our outstagdiommon stock as of February 15, 2013
held by:

. each person or entity that we know beneficially sWf6 or more of our common stock;
. each of our officers and directors; and
. all our directors and officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordandé wie rules of the SEC. In general, a person vasovoting power or investment power
with respect to securities is treated as a bemdfovner of those securities.

Beneficial ownership does not necessarily implyt tha named person has the economic or other bewéfdwnership. For purposes of this
table, shares subject to options, warrants orsighshares exercisable within 60 days of Febriar2013 are considered as beneficially
owned by the person holding those options, warrantgyhts. Each stockholder is entitled to onesvfor each share held. The applicable
percentage of ownership for each stockholder isdhas 76,670,460 shares of common stock outstarding February 15, 2013. Information
for certain holders is based on their latest fiimgth the SEC or information delivered to us. Eptcas noted below, the address of all
stockholders, officers and directors identifiedhe table and the accompanying footnotes below @aie of our principal executive offices.

Number of Percentage
Shares of
of Common Common
Identity of Person or Group Stock Owned Stock

5% Beneficial Owners
Vorini Holdings Inc.(t) 46,426,01 60.55%
Officers and Directors
Polys Hajioannoi® 46,426,01 60.55%
Dr. Loukas Barmpari — —
Konstantinos Adamopoulc — —
loannis Foteino — —
Frank Sice 9,281 *
Ole Wikborg 13,95 *
John Gaffney 13,95 *
All executive officers and directors as a groupérsons, 46,463,20 60.6(%

* Less than 19
(1) Vorini Holdings Inc. is controlled by Polys Hajiaaou and his family
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(2) By virtue of shares owned indirectly through Vornldings Inc., which is our principal stockhold

In June 2008, we completed a registered publiaioffeof our shares of common stock in which théirsgistockholder was Vorini Holdings
Inc., and our common stock began trading on the Merk Stock Exchange. Our major stockholders h&eesame voting rights as our other
stockholders. As of February 15, 2013, we had steekholders of record, three of these stockholderscord were located in the United
States and held an aggregate 31,156,506 sharesafi@an stock, representing approximately 40.6% ofomtistanding shares of common st
However, one of the United States stockholdergodmd is Cede & Co., a nominee of The DepositonsT€ompany, which holds 31,133,271
shares of our common stock. Accordingly, we belithat the shares held by Cede & Co. include shafresmmon stock beneficially owned
both holders in the United States and non-UnitedeStbeneficial owners. We are not aware of arangements the operation of which may at
a subsequent date result in our change of comrelare not aware of any significant changes irpéreentage ownership held by any major
stockholders since our initial public offering.

Vorini Holdings Inc. owns approximately 60.55% afra@utstanding common stock. This stockholder ls &dbcontrol the outcome of matters
on which our stockholders are entitled to voteludimg the election of our entire board of direstand other significant corporate actions.
Shares of our common stock held by Vorini Holdihys do not have different or unique voting rights.

B. Related Party Transactions
Management Affiliations

Our Manager, Safety Management Overseas S.A.nisailed by Polys Hajioannou, our chief executiicer, through another entity,
Machairiotissa Holdings, Inc. Our Manager, alonghvits predecessor, has provided services to asele since 1965 and continues to provid
technical, administrative, commercial and certdheoservices which support our business, as watbanprehensive ship management ser
such as technical supervision and commercial managg including chartering our vessels, pursuaoitoManagement Agreement describec
below.

Management Agreemer

Under our Management Agreement, our Manager ioresple for providing us with technical, adminisiva commercial and certain other
services, which include the following:

Technical Services

These services include managing day-to-day veggzhtions, performing general vessel maintenantsjring regulatory compliance and
compliance with the law of the flag state of eaeksel and of the places where the vessel opeest®s;ing classification society compliance,
supervising the maintenance and general effici@fiasgessels, arranging the hire of qualified offecand crew, training, transportation and
lodging, insurance (including handling and proaaggsill claims) of, and appropriate investigatioranf charterer concerns with respect to, the
crew, conducting union negotiations concerningctesv, performing normally scheduled drydocking gederal and routine repairs, arranging
insurance for vessels (including marine hull anatiirzery, protection and indemnity and risks insegnpurchasing stores, supplies, spares,
lubricating oil and maintenance capital expendiuor vessels, appointing supervisors and techomasultants, providing technical support,
shoreside support and shipyard supervision, aedditig to all other technical matters necessaryricour business.
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Commercial Services

These services include chartering the vesselsabatwn, assisting in our chartering, locating, pasing, financing and negotiating the
purchase and sale of our vessels, supervisingesigi and construction of newbuilds, and such atbermercial services as we may
reasonably request from time to time.

Administrative Service

These services include administering payroll sewi@ssistance with the preparation of our taxmstand financial statements, assistance wit
corporate and regulatory compliance matters natedIto our vessels, procuring legal and accoustngices, assistance in complying with
U.S. and other relevant securities laws, humanuress (including provision of our executive offisemnd directors of our subsidiaries), cash
management and bookkeeping services, developmdmnnhanitoring of internal audit controls, disclosaantrols and information technology,
assistance with all regulatory and reporting fumtsiand obligations, furnishing any reports orriial information that might be requested by

overseeing banking services (including the opertgiaging, operation and management of all of ogoants, including making deposits and
withdrawals reasonably necessary for the manageaientr business and day-to-day operations), aimgngeneral insurance and director and
officer liability insurance (at our expense), puivg all administrative services required for anpsequent debt and equity financings and
attending to all other administrative matters neagsto ensure the professional management ofusinéss.

Reporting Structur:
Our Manager reports to us and to our board of thredchrough our executive officers.
Compensation of Our Manager

Under our Management Agreement, in return for ping technical, commercial and administrative ssrsj our Manager receives a fixed fee
of $700 per vessel for vessels in our fleet, pemtdbr the number of calendar days that we owrharterin each vessel and $250 per vesse
day, for bareboat charters. Our Manager also resawariable fee of 1.25% on all gross freighartgr hire, ballast bonus and demurrage witl
respect to each vessel in our fleet. Further, candger receives an acquisition fee of 1.0% basebeooontract price of any vessel bought anc
a sales fee of 1.0% based on the contract prie@y¥essel sold by it on our behalf, including eatbur contracted newbuilds. We also pay
our Manager a supervision fee of $550,000 per néddief which 50% is payable upon the signing of tielevant supervision agreement, and
50% upon successful completion of the sea triaksach newbuild, for the on-premises supervisioallafiewbuilds we have agreed to acquire
pursuant to shipbuilding contracts, memoranda ofegent, or otherwise. The management fees westardrfor the 2 year initial period of
the Management Agreement, which ended on May 280.20n May 29, 2010, pursuant to an agreement leetwe and our Manager, the
variable fee on gross freight, charter hire, balemsius and demurrage was readjusted to 1.25% Tr6f. On May 29, 2011, the fixed fee per
vessel was readjusted to $700 from $575 per datrensupervision fee per newbuild was readjusie®660,000 from $375,000, while all
other management fees remained constant. Sincath@anagement fees have remained constant.

The management fees do not cover capital experdiinancial costs and operating expenses for essels and our general and administre
expenses such as directors, and officers’ liahiisurance, legal and accounting fees and othelasithird party expenses. More specifically,
we reimburse expenses of the Manager or its peetalinectly related to the operation and managerokour vessels, such as:

. interest, principal and other financial costs,
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e voyage expenses

. vessel operating expenses including crewing cestsgeyor’s attendance fees, bunkers, lubricant siares, survey fees,
classification society fees, maintenance and requats, tonnage taxes and vetting expetr

. commissions, remuneration or disbursements dusapdrs, brokers, agents, surveyors, consultan@néial advisors, investment
bankers, insurance adviso

. deductibles, insurance premiums and/or P&l calls,

. postage, communication, traveling, victualling atlder out of pocket expenses.
Each year, our Manager prepares and submits talataded draft budget for the next calendar yedich includes a statement of estimated
revenue, estimated general and administrative esqzeand a proposed budget for capital expendittgpairs or alterations. Once approved by
us, this draft budget becomes the approved budget.
Term and Termination Rights
Subject to the termination rights described belihe,initial term of our Management Agreement exgpioa May 28, 2010. Since then our
Management Agreement has been automatically renéwekree one-year periods, expiring May 28, 2018on expiration of the renewal
term, our Management Agreement automatically rerfewsne-year periods until May 28, 2018, at whidint the agreement will expire. In
addition to the termination provisions outlineddwe] we are able to terminate our Management Agregateany point after the initial term
upon 12 months’ notice to our Manager. Such naifdermination has not been provided to our Mandgyeus.
Our Manager’s Termination Rights
Our Manager may terminate our Management Agreepranmt to the end of its term if:

. any money payable by us is not paid when due duéfon demand, within ten business days followiegand by our Manager;

. we default in the performance of any other mataidigation under the Management Agreement andrnifigter is unresolved with
20 business days after we receive written noticguoh default from our Manage

. the management fee determined by arbitration ipeesof any annual period following the initialiers unsatisfactory to our
Manager, in which case the Manager may terminad@ 2 month’ written notice to us

. any acquisition of our shares or a merger, conatiid or similar transaction results in any “person“group” acquiring 40% or

. more of the total voting power of our or the reisigitentity’s outstanding voting securities, andrspercentage represents a higher
percentage of such voting power than that helcctirer indirectly by Polys Hajioannou and Nicolddadjioannou, collectively; ¢
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. there is a change in directors after which a mgjaf the members of our board of directors areawsttinuing directors.
“Continuing directors” means, as of any date okdwmination, any member of our board of directorewias:

. a member of our board of directors on June 4, 2608;

. nominated for election or elected to our boardicfalors with the approval of a majority of theaditors then in office who were
either directors on June 4, 2008 or whose nominaticelection was previously so approv

Our Termination Rights

In addition to certain standard termination rightes, may terminate our Management Agreement pritneécend of its term if:
. our Manager defaults in the performance of any riatebligation under our Management Agreement thiedmatter is not resolve
. within 20 business days after our Manager receivas us written notice of such default; or

. any money payable by our Manager to us or thirtigeunder our Management Agreement is not paatoounted for within ten
business days following written notice by

Nor-Competition

Our Manager has agreed that, during the term oMamagement Agreement and for one year afteriitsiteation, our Manager will not
provide any management services to, or with regpeeiny drybulk vessels, other than in the follogvcircumstances:

(a) pursuant to its involvement with us;

(b) with respect to drybulk vessels that are alviieoperated by companies affiliated with our Ekieecutive officer or Nicolaos
Hadjioannou, subject in each case to compliande, witwaivers of, the restrictive covenant agreementered into between
us and companies affiliated with our chief exeaiti¥ficer or Nicolaos Hadjioanno

Our Manager has also agreed that if one of ourudkylessels and a drybulk vessel owned or opefagedcompany affiliated with our chief
executive officer or Nicolaos Hadjioannou are bethilable and meet the criteria for a charter béiked by our Manager, our drybulk vessel
will receive such charter. Currently our Manageeslaot provide management services to any thiry.par

Sale of Our Manager

Our Manager has agreed that, during the term oftlileagement Agreement and for one year afteriitsit@tion, our Manager will not
transfer, assign, sell or dispose of all or sulithy all of its business that is necessary fa fplerformance of its services under the
Management Agreement without the prior written @m®f our board of directors. Furthermore, dusagh period, in the event of any
proposed change in control of our Manager, we [@a8@-day right of first offer to purchase our Maeadn December 2011, the Management
Agreement was amended to define a “proposed charmmtrol of our Manager” to mean (a) the apprdwathe board of directors of the
Manager or the shareholders of the Manager of pgzed sale of all
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or substantially all of the assets or propertyhef Manager necessary for the performance of itscesr under the Management Agreement; or
(b) the approval of any transaction that would itegu (i) Polys Hajioannou or Vorini Holdings Incor any entity controlled by, or under
common control with, any of the above, beneficialyning, directly or indirectly, less than 60% bétoutstanding voting securities or voting
power of the Manager or Machairiotissa Holdings,Inespectively, or (ii) Polys Hajioannou or Vorldoldings Inc., or any entity controlled
by, or under common control with, any of the abdegether with all directors, officers and emplayeéthe Manager beneficially owning,
directly or indirectly, less than 80% of the outstang voting securities or voting power of the Mgaaor Machairiotissa Holdings Inc.,
respectively. The Management Agreement was alsmdeakto provide us the right to obtain certain iinfation about the ownership of the
Manager.

Restrictive Covenant Agreemer

Under the restrictive covenant agreements entatednith us, Polys Hajioannou, Vorini Holdings Indachairiotissa Holdings Inc., or any
entity controlled by, or under common control widimy of the above (together, the “Hajioannou Egitj, have agreed to restrictions on their
ownership or operation of any drybulk vessels erabquisition, investment in or control of any Imesis involved in the ownership or opera
of drybulk vessels, subject to the exceptions diesdrbelow.

In the case of Polys Hajioannou, the restrictedplezontinues until the later of (a) one year fallog the termination of the Management
Agreement and (b) one year following the terminatib his services and employment with us. In theeaaf the Hajioannou Entities, the
restricted period continues until one year follogvthe termination of the Management Agreement. Mbstanding these restrictions, Polys
Hajioannou and the Hajioannou Entities are perghitbeengage in the restricted activities duringrésdricted periods in the following
circumstances:

(8) pursuant to their involvement with L
(b) pursuant to their involvement with our Manager,jsabto compliance with, or waivers of, the ManagetmAgreementi

(c) with respect to certain permitted acquisiti¢as defined below), provided that (i) any comméncianagement of drybulk vessels
controlled by the restricted individuals and eastin connection with such permitted acquisitiopasformed by our Manager and (ii) the
restricted individuals and entities comply with teguirements for permitted acquisitions describeldw; anc

(d) pursuant to their passive ownership of up 8% of the outstanding voting securities of anylighptraded company that is engaged in
the drybulk vessel busine:

As noted above, Polys Hajioannou and the Hajioarifidities are permitted to engage in restricted/itiets with respect to two types of
permitted acquisitions. One such permitted acqaisis an acquisition of a drybulk vessel or anuasitjon or investment in a drybulk vessel
business on terms and conditions as to price teat@ more favorable, and on such other termsanditions that are not materially more
favorable, than those first offered to us and redusy a majority of our independent directors. $aeond type of permitted acquisition is an
acquisition of a group of vessels or a businessiticludes non-drybulk vessels and non-drybulk gebasinesses, provided that less than 50%
of the fair market value of the acquisition is iatitable to drybulk vessels or drybulk vessel besses. Under this second type of permitted
acquisition, we must be promptly given the oppatiuto buy the drybulk vessels or drybulk vessedibhasses included in the acquisition for
their fair market value plus certain break-up costs
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Polys Hajioannou and the Hajioannou Entities hdse agreed that if one of our drybulk vessels addyaulk vessel owned or operated by
of the Hajioannou Entities are both available arnhthe criteria for a charter being fixed by ouaridger, our drybulk vessels will receive <
charter.

Registration Rights Agreemet

In connection with the closing of our initial pubbffering, we entered into a registration righgsement with Vorini Holdings Inc., our largs
stockholder, pursuant to which we have granteddt@ertain of its transferees the right, underatertircumstances and subject to certain
restrictions, to require us to register under theusities Act shares of our common stock held lmgéhpersons. Under the registration rights
agreement, Vorini Holdings Inc. and certain oftitsmsferees have the right to request us to redfstesale of shares held by them on their
behalf and may require us to make available skglftration statements permitting sales of shatesthe market from time to time over an
extended period. In addition, those persons havalflity to exercise certain piggyback registnatimhts in connection with registered
offerings initiated by us. Vorini Holdings Inc. e¢antly owns 45,500,000 shares entitled to thesistragjon rights.

C. Interests of Experts and Counse

Not applicable

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Infomation
See “ltem 18. Financial Statements” below.

Legal Proceeding:

We are involved in an ongoing arbitration disputé.ondon, England, with the Shipyard. We had ewténto an agreement with the Shipyard
for the construction, sale and delivery by the $hid to us of one 180,000 DWT Capesize class ndavliassel Hull No. J0131) in exchangt
for USD $53 million. In December 2012, after havjpajd $31.8 million in advances during constructioe exercised our termination right
under the agreement due to the Shipyard’s excessiv&ruction delays and delivered demands to eatte Shipyard and the refund
guarantor, The Export Import Bank of China (a beatkd Aa3 by Moody’s Investor Services) , pursuarhe agreement and the refund
guarantees, respectively, for a refund of thedolbunt of advances paid, with interest. In respansganuary 2013, the Company received a
notice of arbitration, and arbitration proceedimgth the shipyard were initiated in London, Englaftie Shipyard alleges that our termination
constitutes a breach of the agreement and argatewéhare not entitled to a refund of any of theastes paid or interest. We are vigorously
pursuing the arbitration and believe that the maeénitthis dispute rest in our favor. However, adtion is inherently uncertain and we cannot
provide assurance that we will prevail because fitat possible to predict what the final outcomk g of any legal proceeding. An award
against us would require us to record the relagdddlity and incur the cost thereof, which includee amount of advances already paid, the
capitalized expenses recorded and any further desnaghe Shipyard without receipt of the vessel.

We are not otherwise involved in any legal procegsiwhich may have, or have had, a significantcefi@ our business, financial position,
results of operations or liquidity, nor are we asvaf any other proceedings that are pending oataned which may have a significant effect
on our business, financial position, results ofrapiens or liquidity.
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The nature of our business exposes us to the fiskvsuits for damages or penalties relating topagnother things, personal injury, property
casualty and environmental contamination. From tioéme, we may be subject to legal proceedingscams in the ordinary course of
business, principally personal injury and propedgualty claims. We expect that these claims wbaldovered by insurance, subject to
customary deductibles. However, such claims, eiatking merit, could result in the expendituresignificant financial and managerial
resources.

Dividend Policy

We paid our first quarterly dividend as a publiengany of $0.1461 per share in August 2008 and suiese dividends of $0.475 per share in
November 2008, $0.15 per share in February 2009, 2089, August 2009, November 2009, February 281, 2010, August 201(
November 2010, February 2011, May 2011, August 28birember 2011, February 2012, May 2012 and Aug0%g, and $0.05 per share
November 2012. We also declared a dividend of $pedShare on February 18, 2013, for the sharetstifaecord on March 4, 2013, paya
on or about March 8, 2013.

We currently intend to use a portion of our frestcto pay dividends to our shareholders. The datbter and payment of dividends, if any, will
always be subject to the discretion of our boardigctors. The timing and amount of any divideddslared will depend on, among other
things: (a) our earnings, financial condition aaglt requirements and available sources of liqui¢liydecisions in relation to our growth
strategies, (c) provisions of Marshall Islands hitrian law governing the payment of dividendg, r@btrictive covenants in our existing and
future debt instruments and (e) global financialditons. Dividends might be reduced or not be fmidis. Our ability to pay dividends may
limited by the amount of cash we can generate fperations following the payment of fees and expsrd the establishment of any
reserves, as well as additional factors unrelaiamit profitability. We are a holding company, amel depend on the ability of our subsidiaries
to distribute funds to us in order to satisfy anahcial obligations and to make dividend payme8&e “Iltem 3. Key Information—D. Risk
Factors—Risks Inherent in Our Industry and Our Bess” for a discussion of the risks related toahility to pay dividends.

B. Significant Changes

No significant change has occurred since the dateecannual financial statements included in #riaual report on Form -F.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING

Trading on the New York Stock Exchange

Since our initial public offering in the United $a on May 29, 2008, our common stock has beexdlish the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol “SB.” The following tasll®ws the high and low sales prices for our comstook during the indicated periods.
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Price Range

High Low
2008™ $ 19.2¢ $ 2.9¢
2009 9.64 2.71
2010 9.1¢ 6.5(C
2011 9.7¢ 5.2¢
2012 7.7¢ 3.12
First Quarter 201 9.6¢ 8.2
Second Quarter 201 9.7¢ 6.97
Third Quarter 201: 7.9¢2 6.1(
Fourth Quarter 201 7.0z 5.2¢
First Quarter 201, 7.7¢ 6.07
Second Quarter 201 7.0C 5.9¢
Third Quarter 201. 6.6€ 5.7¢
Fourth Quarter 201 5.9¢ 3.12
August 201z 6.6€ 5.9¢
September 201 6.21 5.7¢
October 201: 5.9¢ 5.5C
November 201. 5.6¢ 3.2%
December 201 3.5¢4 3.12
January 201: 4.2z 3.4(
February 201:® 4.1( 3.61

(1) For the period from May 29, 2008, the date dniclv our common stock began trading on the New Yidck Exchange, until the end of
the period
(2) For the period through February 15, 20

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. Share Capital

Under our articles of incorporation, our authorizegital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares wingon stock, par value $0.001 per share, o
which, as of December 31, 2012 and February 153,204,661,451 and 76,670,460 shares were issuedusihnding, respectively, and
20,000,000 shares of blank check preferred staankyalue $0.01 per share, of which, as of Decer@bef012 and February 15, 2013, no
shares were issued and outstanding. Of this blaaekkcpreferred stock, 1,000,000 shares have bestgndg¢ed Series A Participating Preferred
Stock in connection with our adoption of a stockleolrights plan as described below under “—Stoa#éoRights Plan.” All of our shares of
stock are in registered form.

Please see Note 10 to our financial statementaded at the end of this annual report for a digonssf the history of our share capital.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

Our purpose, as stated in our articles of incotjgmmais to engage in any lawful act or activity fehich corporations may now or hereafter be
organized under the BCA. Our articles of incorpioragnd bylaws do not impose any limitations ondhaership rights of our stockholders.

The rights of our stockholders are set forth in anticles of incorporation and bylaws. Amendmeatsur articles of incorporation require the
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of alitstanding shares entitled to vote, exceptdnandments to certain provisions of our
articles of incorporation dealing with the rightsstockholders, the board of directors, our bylaand amendments to the articles of
incorporation require the affirmative vote of ads$e 75% of all outstanding shares entitled to vateendments to our bylaws require the
affirmative vote of at least 75% of all outstandsitares entitled to vote.

Under our bylaws, annual stockholder meetings lmélheld at a time and place selected by our bdaddextors. The meetings may be held
inside or outside of the Republic of The Marshsluhds. Special
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meetings may be called by the chairman of the boadirectors, the chief executive officer or a ordy of the board of directors. Our board
directors may set a record date between 15 anéy®liefore the date of any meeting to determinstihekholders that will be eligible to
receive notice and vote at the meeting. Our byla&rait stockholder action by unanimous written @mns

We are registered at The Trust Company of The Mdirt&tlands, Inc. under registration number 27394.
Directors

Under our bylaws, our directors are elected byuagtity of the votes cast at each annual meetinf@fttockholders by the holders of shares
entitled to vote in the election. There is no psah for cumulative voting.

Pursuant to the provisions of our bylaws, the badrdirectors may change the number of directorsatoess than three, nor more than 15,
vote of a majority of the entire board. Each dioechall be elected to serve until the third sudoegannual meeting of stockholders and until
his or her successor shall have been duly electédjaalified, except in the event of death, redigmeor removal. A vacancy on the board
created by death, resignation, removal (which mdy be for cause), or failure of the stockholderglect the entire class of directors to be
elected at any election of directors or for anyeotieason may be filled only by an affirmative vofe majority of the remaining directors then
in office, even if less than a quorum, at any sgplevieeting called for that purpose or at any regmieeting of the board of directors. The boarc
of directors has the authority to fix the amountsol shall be payable to the non-employee memlfesaraboard of directors for attendance at
any meeting or for services rendered to us.

Common Stock

Each outstanding share of common stock entitletidider to one vote on all matters submitted tot® wf stockholders. Subject to preference
that may be applicable to any outstanding shar@sedérred stock, holders of shares of common sdoelentitled to receive ratably all
dividends, if any, declared by our board of direstout of funds legally available for dividends.dspour dissolution or liquidation or the sale
of all or substantially all of our assets, afteymant in full of all amounts required to be paictcteditors and to the holders of preferred stock
having liquidation preferences, if any, the holdefrsur common stock will be entitled to receive pata our remaining assets available for
distribution. Holders of common stock do not hagawersion, redemption or preemptive rights to stibedo any of our securities. All
outstanding shares of common stock are fully paitimonassessable. The rights, preferences andegesi of holders of common stock are
subject to the rights of the holders of any shafgseferred stock which we may issue in the fut@ar common stock is not subject to any
sinking fund provisions and no holder of any shaviisbe required to make additional contributiasfscapital with respect to our shares in the
future. There are no provisions in our articleangbrporation or bylaws discriminating against argolder because of his or her ownership o
a particular number of shares.

We are not aware of any limitations on the rightswn our common stock, including rights of nonidest or foreign stockholders to hold or
exercise voting rights on our common stock, impdsgébreign law or by our articles of incorporationbylaws.

Preferred Stock
Our articles of incorporation authorize our boafdlicectors, without any further vote or action dmyr stockholders, to issue up to 20,000,000
shares of blank check preferred stock, of whicl®@,000 shares have been designated Series A Patiticj Preferred Stock, in connection

with our adoption of a stockholder rights

74



plan as described below under “—Stockholder Ritis,” and to determine, with respect to any sefgeeferred stock established by our
board of directors, the terms and rights of thakseincluding:

. the designation of the series;
. the number of shares of the series;

. the preferences and relative, participating, optionther special rights, if any, and any qualifizas, limitations or restrictions of
such series; an

. the voting rights, if any, of the holders of theiss.
Stockholder Rights Plat

Each share of our common stock includes a rightehttles the holder to purchase from us a unissgsiing of onghousandth of a share of ¢
Series A participating preferred stock at a puretgce of $25.00 per unit, subject to specifieflisitinents. The rights are issued pursuant to
stockholder rights agreement between us and Ame8tack Transfer & Trust Company, as rights agéntil a right is exercised, the holder

a right will have no rights to vote or receive diehds or any other stockholder rights.

The rights may have anti-takeover effects. Thetsiglill cause substantial dilution to any persom@mup that attempts to acquire us without
the approval of our board of directors. As a reshk overall effect of the rights may be to renare difficult or discourage any attempt to
acquire us. Because our board of directors caroappa redemption of the rights or a permitted offiee rights should not interfere with a
merger or other business combination approved byoard of directors. The adoption of the rightse@gnent was approved by our existing
stockholder prior to our initial public offering iMay 2008.

We have summarized the material terms and conditidthe rights agreement and the rights below.araymplete description of the rights,
encourage you to read the stockholder rights ageagrwhich we have filed as an exhibit to this aimaport.

Detachment of right

The rights are attached to all certificates représg our outstanding common stock and will attechll common stock certificates we issue
prior to the rights distribution date that we désebelow. The rights are not exercisable untéafhe rights distribution date and will expire at
the close of business on the tenth anniversaryafdtee adoption of the rights plan, unless we eed®r exchange them earlier as described
below. The rights will separate from the commorcktand a rights distribution date will occur, suttj specified exceptions, on the earlier of
the following two dates:

. ten days following the first public announcemeratth person or group of affiliated or associatadqes or an “acquiring person”
has acquired or obtained the right to acquire bheiaébwnership of 15% or more of our outstandiognenon stock; o

. ten business days following the start of a tendexxchange offer that would result, if closed, ipesison becoming an “acquiring
persor”

Our controlling stockholder, Vorini Holdings In@nd its affiliates are excluded from the definitifrifacquiring person” for purposes of the
rights, and therefore their ownership or futureretecquisitions cannot trigger the rights. Spedifieadvertent” owners that would otherwise
become an acquiring person, including
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those who would have this designation as a re$uéipurchases of common stock by us, will not bee@tqguiring persons as a result of those
transactions.

Our board of directors may defer the rights disiiidn date in some circumstances, and some inahteatquisitions will not result in a person
becoming an acquiring person if the person pronygtithgsts itself of a sufficient number of sharegs@imon stock.

Until the rights distribution date:

. our common stock certificates will evidence théntig and the rights will be transferable only whbse certificates; and

. any new shares of common stock will be issued vigthts, and new certificates will contain a notatincorporating the rights
agreement by referenc

As soon as practicable after the rights distributiate, the rights agent will mail certificatesnesenting the rights to holders of record of
common stock at the close of business on that datef the rights distribution date, only sepamgts certificates will represent the rights.

We will not issue rights with any shares of comnstatk we issue after the rights distribution dateept as our board of directors may
otherwise determine.

Flip-in event

A “flip-in event” will occur under the rights agremnt when a person becomes an acquiring persarilipFin event occurs and we do not
redeem the rights as described under the headirigedemption of rights” below, each right, other tlaay right that has become void, as
described below, will become exercisable at the finis no longer redeemable for the number ofeshaf common stock, or, in some cases,
cash, property or other of our securities, havicgment market price equal to two times the exsergirice of such right.

If a flip-in event occurs, all rights that then aoe in some circumstances that were, benefic@ayed by or transferred to an acquiring person
or specified related parties will become void ia tircumstances which the rights agreement specifie

Flip-over event
A “flip-over event” will occur under the rights aggment when, at any time after a person has beaoraequiring person:

. we are acquired in a merger or other business catibn transaction; or

. 50% or more of our assets, cash flows or earnimgepds sold or transferred.
If a flip-over event occurs, each holder of a rigither than any right that has become void asegeribe under the heading “—Flip-in event”
above, will have the right to receive the numbesttdres of common stock of the acquiring compamjnigea current market price equal to two
times the exercise price of such right.

Antidilution

The number of outstanding rights associated withcommmon stock is subject to adjustment for anglsgplit, stock dividend or subdivision,
combination or reclassification of our common stockurring prior to the rights
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distribution date. With some exceptions, the rigigseement does not require us to adjust the eseepeice of the rights until cumulative
adjustments amount to at least 1% of the exergise.dt also does not require us to issue fraetfishares of our preferred stock that are not
integral multiples of one one-hundredth of a sharel, instead, we may make a cash adjustment bastneg market price of the common stock
on the last trading date prior to the date of @getcThe rights agreement reserves us the rigtetoire, prior to the occurrence of any flip-in
event or flip-over event, that, on any exerciseigltits, a number of rights must be exercised sbvileawill issue only whole shares of stock.

Redemption of right

At any time until ten days after the date on whiwd occurrence of a flip-in event is first publielgnounced, we may redeem the rights in
whole, but not in part, at a redemption price af0dQper right. The redemption price is subjectdustment for any stock split, stock dividend
or similar transaction occurring before the dateegfemption. At our option, we may pay that redeéampprice in cash, shares of common stocl
or any other consideration our board of directoay 1select. The rights are not exercisable aftéiparf event until they are no longer
redeemable. If our board of directors timely ordbesredemption of the rights, the rights will témate on the effectiveness of that action.
Exchange of right

We may, at our option, exchange the rights (othan trights owned by an acquiring person or aniaffilor an associate of an acquiring persor
which have become void), in whole or in part. TRel@nge must be at an exchange ratio of one sfamrmon stock per right, subject to
specified adjustments at any time after the ocoueef a flip-in event and prior to

. any person other than our existing stockholder iméeg the beneficial owner of common stock with agtpower equal to 50% or
more of the total voting power of all shares of coom stock entitled to vote in the election of dices; or

. the occurrence of a flip-over event.
Amendment of terms of rigt
While the rights are outstanding, we may amendtbgisions of the rights agreement only as follows:
. to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or incaiesisy;
. to make changes that do not adversely affect tieeasts of holders of rights, excluding the intesed$ any acquiring person; or

. to shorten or lengthen any time period under tletsiagreement, except that we cannot changentieepieriod when rights may be
redeemed or lengthen any time period, unless srgthening protects, enhances or clarifies theflisrod holders of rights other
than an acquiring perso

At any time when no rights are outstanding, we @aend any of the provisions of the rights agreepwher than decreasing the redemption
price.

Dissenter’ Rights of Appraisal and Payment

Under the BCA, our stockholders have the rightissehnt from various corporate actions, including arerger or sale of all, or substantially
of our assets not made in the usual course of wsinkss, and receive
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payment of the fair value of their shares. In ther¢ of any amendment of our articles of incorporata stockholder also has the right to
dissent and receive payment for his or her shatee amendment alters certain rights in respethade shares. The dissenting stockholder
must follow the procedures set forth in the BCAdoeive payment. In the event that we and any wiisgpstockholder fail to agree on a price
for the shares, the BCA procedures involve, amdhgrahings, the institution of proceedings in kiigh court of the Republic of The Marshall
Islands or in any appropriate court in any jurifidit in which our shares are primarily traded docal or national securities exchange. The
value of the shares of the dissenting stockhokléked by the court after reference, if the caarielects, to the recommendations of a court-
appointed appraiser.

Stockholder’ Derivative Actions

Under the BCA, any of our stockholders may bringaation in our name to procure a judgment in ouofaalso known as a derivative action,
provided that the stockholder bringing the act®a holder of common stock both at the time thévdgve action is commenced and at the
time of the transaction to which the action relates

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Offcers and Directors

The BCA authorizes corporations to limit or elimimshe personal liability of directors and officéoscorporations and their stockholders for
monetary damages for breaches of directors’ fidyalaties. Our articles of incorporation includpravision that eliminates the personal
liability of directors for monetary damages foriant taken as a director to the fullest extent pigech by law.

Our bylaws provide that we must indemnify our dioes and officers to the fullest extent authoribgdaw. We are also expressly authorize
advance certain expenses (including attorneys’deesdisbursements and court costs) to our direetod officers and carry directors’ and
officers’ insurance providing indemnification fourodirectors, officers and certain employees fansdiabilities. We believe that these
indemnification provisions and insurance are usgfuttract and retain qualified directors and eige officers.

The limitation of liability and indemnification pvisions in our articles of incorporation and bylamvay discourage stockholders from bringing
a lawsuit against directors for breach of theiuéigry duty. These provisions may also have thecefff reducing the likelihood of derivative
litigation against directors and officers, evenuglo such an action, if successful, might otherbiseefit us and our stockholders. In addition,
stockholders’ investments may be adversely affettidble extent we pay the costs of settlement andagie awards against directors and
officers pursuant to these indemnification provisio

There is currently no pending material litigatianppoceeding involving any of our directors, offis@r employees for which indemnificatior
sought.

Anti-Takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of our Artes of Incorporation and Bylaws

Several provisions of our articles of incorporatamd bylaws, which are summarized in the followr@gagraphs, may have anti-takeover
effects. These provisions are intended to avoidlyctekeover battles, lessen our vulnerability toostile change of control and enhance the
ability of our board of directors to maximize stbokder value in connection with any unsolicitedeoffo acquire us. However, these anti-
takeover provisions could also delay, defer or enéa) the merger or acquisition of our companyrians of a tender offer, a proxy conte
otherwise that a stockholder might consider ibést interest, including attempts that may resudt premium over the market price for the
shares held by the stockholders, and (b) the rehodwacumbent officers and directors.
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Blank check preferred sto

Under the terms of our articles of incorporationr board of directors has authority, without ansttiar vote or action by our stockholders, to
issue up to 20,000,000 shares of blank check peafestock, of which 1,000,000 shares have beegui@sid Series A Participating Preferred
Stock, in connection with our adoption of a stodkleo rights plan as described above under “—StolcldidRights Plan.” Our board of
directors may issue shares of preferred stock mnstealculated to discourage, delay or prevenagh of control of our company or the
removal of our management.

Classified board of directors

Our articles of incorporation provide for a boafdlmectors serving staggered, three-year term@réyximately one-third of our board of
directors will be elected each year. This clasdifieard provision could discourage a third partyrfrmaking a tender offer for our shares or
attempting to obtain control of our company. It kcbalso delay stockholders who do not agree wighplicies of the board of directors from
removing a majority of the board of directors faotyears.

Election and removal of directo

Our articles of incorporation prohibit cumulativeting in the election of directors. Our bylaws rizgiparties other than the board of directors
to give advance written notice of nominations fog election of directors. Our articles of incorgmna and bylaws also provide that our
directors may be removed only for cause. Theseigioms may discourage, delay or prevent the remaf/edcumbent officers and directors.

Calling of special meeting of stockholders

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws providattipecial meetings of our stockholders may onlgdlled by our Chairman of the board of
directors, chief executive officer or by eithertlas request of a majority of our board of direstor

Advance notice requirements for stockholder profsoaad director nomination

Our bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to inabte candidates for election as directors or bagdousiness before an annual meeting of
stockholders must provide timely notice of theiowsal in writing to the corporate secretary.

Generally, to be timely, a stockholder’s notice trhesreceived at our offices not less than 90 daysnore than 120 days prior to the first
anniversary date of the previous year’'s annual imge®ur bylaws also specify requirements as tddh® and content of a stockholder’s
notice. These provisions may impede stockholddrityto bring matters before an annual meetingtotckholders or to make nominations for
directors at an annual meeting of stockholders.

C. Material Contracts
Not applicable

D. Exchange Controls and Other Limitations Affecting Scurity Holders

Under Marshall Islands law, there are currentlyesirictions on the export or import of capitaklirding foreign exchange controls or
restrictions that affect the remittance of dividenidterest or other payments to non-resident msldeour common stock.
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E. Tax Considerations

Marshall Islands Tax Consideration

We are a non-resident domestic Marshall Islandsaration. Because we do not, and we do not expattte will, conduct business or
operations in the Republic of The Marshall Islandsjer current Marshall Islands law we are notetttijp tax on income or capital gains and
our stockholders (so long as they are not citizenesidents of the Republic of The Marshall Isigndill not be subject to Marshall Islands
taxation or withholding on dividends and other @lgttions (including upon a return of capital) waka to our stockholders. In addition, so
long as our stockholders are not citizens or redfdef the Republic of The Marshall Islands, owckholders will not be subject to Marshall
Islands stamp, capital gains or other taxes omptinehase, holding or disposition of our commonlstand our stockholders will not be
required by the Republic of The Marshall Island§ilea tax return relating to our common stock.

Each stockholder is urged to consult their tax selor or other advisor with regard to the legal tadconsequences, under the laws of
pertinent jurisdictions, including the Republictdfe Marshall Islands, of their investment in usither, it is the responsibility of each
stockholder to file all state, local and non-U& well as U.S. federal tax returns that may baired of them.

Liberian Tax Considerations

Some of our vessel-owning subsidiaries are inceedrunder the laws of the Republic of Liberia. Republic of Liberia enacted a new
income tax act effective as of January 1, 2001 ‘(thexv Act”) which did not distinguish between theexation of “non-resident” Liberian
corporations, such as our subsidiaries, which cotnida business in Liberia and were wholly exempirfitaxation under the income tax law
previously in effect since 1977, and “resident” &iilan corporations which conduct business in Lébarid are, and were under the prior law,
subject to taxation. The New Act was amended byCiiesolidated Tax Amendments Act of 2011 which palslished and became effective
November 1, 2011 (th*Amended Act”). The Amended Act specifically exemfitom taxation non-resident Liberian corporatieash as our
Liberian subsidiaries that engage in internatiah@bping (and not exclusively in Liberia) and tdatnot engage in other business or activities
in Liberia other than specifically enumerated ia imended Act. In addition, the Amended Act madshsexemption from taxation retroactive
to the effective date of the New Act.

United States Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion of United States fedenglome tax matters is based on the Code, judic@sids, administrative pronouncements,
and existing and proposed regulations issued bythieed States Department of the Treasury, all loithy are subject to change, possibly with
retroactive effect. This discussion does not addagy United States state or local taxes, any Ui8tates federal tax other than federal incom
tax or the tax on net investment income impose&diution 1411 of the Code. This discussion doepudort to address the tax consequence:
of owning our common stock to all categories ofgstors, some of which (such as financial instindgioegulated investment companies, real
estate investment trusts, tax-exempt
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organizations, insurance companies, United Stadeateates, persons holding our common stock asgbar hedging, integrated, conversion or
constructive sale transaction or a straddle, parfahle for alternative minimum tax, pass-throegtities and investors therein, persons who
own, actually or under applicable constructive omgh# rules, 10% or more of our common stock, trade dealers in securities or currencies
and United States holders whose functional currémopt the United States dollar) may be subjesiiecial rules. This discussion only
addresses holders that hold the common stock apitakasset. You are encouraged to consult yourtaw advisors concerning the overall tax
consequences of the ownership of our common stagiag in your own particular situation under UnitStates federal, state, local or foreign
law.

If a partnership holds our common stock, the taeatment of a partner will generally depend uporsthtus of the partner and upon the
activities of the partnership. Partners in a pasinig holding our common stock are encouraged s their tax advisors.

Taxation of Our Shipping Income

For purposes of the following discussion “shippingome” means income that is derived by a non-Wdin8&ates corporation from:
(@  the use of vessel
(b)  the hiring or leasing of vessels for use on a tioperating or bareboat charter ba

(c) the participation in a pool, partnership, ggit alliance, joint operating agreement or otbertjventure it directly or indirectly
owns or participates in that generates such incamr

(d)  the performance of services directly related ts¢hoses

Shipping income attributable to transportation esilely between non-United States ports is generalt subject to United States income tax.
However, unless exempt from United States incometaer the rules contained in Section 883 of thde a norldnited States corporation
under the rules of Section 887 of the Code, sultjeat4% United States income tax in respect dlltdted States source gross transportation
income” (without the allowance for deductions). tédi States source gross transportation incomedasl60% of shipping income that is
attributable to transportation that begins or gfhds that does not both begin and end) in the driiates. Under Section 883 of the Code, a
non-United States corporation will be exempt fromiteld States income tax on its United States sogness transportation income if;

€)) it is organized in a foreign country (its “caynof organization”) that grants an “equivaleneaexption” to United States
corporations; an

(b) either

® more than 50% of the value of its stock is odindirectly or indirectly, by individuals who aregsidents’of its country o
organization or of another foreign country thatngsaan”equivalent exemptic’ to United States corporations;

(i)  its stock is “primarily and regularly tradedh @n established securities market” in its counfrgrganization, in another
country that grants £“equivalent exemptic’ to United States corporations, or in the Unitedest

We believe that we will not satisfy the requirenseot Section 883 of the Code. As a result, we béllsubject to the 4% United States income
tax on United States source gross transportaticonie. Since 50% of our
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gross shipping income for transportation that beginends in the United States would be treatednéted States source gross transportation
income, we expect that the effective rate of Uniégtes income tax on our gross shipping incomeuoh transportation would equal 2%.
Many of our charters contain a provision that ol the charterer to reimburse us for the 4% di8tates income tax that we are required tc
pay in respect of the vessel subject to the retestaarter.

In lieu of the foregoing rules, since the exemptbiBection 883 of the Code will not apply to usr bnited States source gross transportation
income that is considered to be “effectively coniadtwith the conduct of a United States tradeusitess would be subject to the United
States corporate income tax currently imposedtas maf up to 35% (net of applicable deductionskaddition, we may be subject to the 30%
United States “branch profits” taxes on earnindsatively connected with the conduct of such tradeusiness, as determined after allowance
for certain adjustments, and on certain interest padeemed paid attributable to the conduct ofldnited States trade or business.

We expect that none of our United States sourcesgransportation income will be “effectively contesl” with the conduct of a United States
trade or business. Such income would be considefézttively connected” only if:

(@  we had, or were considered to have, a fixedeptd business in the United States involved inedaming of our United
States source gross transportation income:

(b)  substantially all of our United States souroesg transportation income was attributable to leefyuscheduled
transportation, such as the operation of a vehagfollowed a published schedule with repeatelihggi at regular
intervals between the same points for voyagestégin or end in the United Stat

We believe that we will not meet these conditioasause we will not have, or permit circumstancaswould result in our having, any vessel
sailing to or from the United States on a reguladiieduled basis. In addition, income attributéblieansportation that both begins and ends i
the United States is not subject to the tax rutesscdbed above. Such income is subject to eitl38%b gross-basis tax or to United States
corporate income tax on net income at rates oblgb% (and the branch profits tax discussed ab@#)ough there can be no assurance, we
do not expect to engage in transportation thatywwesl shipping income of this type.

Taxation of Gain on Sale of Assets

Regardless of whether we qualify for the exemptinder Section 883 of the Code, we will not be stifie United States income taxation with
respect to gain realized on a sale of a vesseljged the sale is considered to occur outside etthited States (as determined under United
States tax principles). In general, a sale of aelasill be considered to occur outside of the BahiStates for this purpose if title to the vessel
(and risk of loss with respect to the vessel) pats¢he buyer outside of the United States. Weeixihhat any sale of a vessel will be so
structured that it will be considered to occur @dof the United States.

United States Federal Income Taxation of United &a Holders

You are a “United States holder” if you are a bamafowner of our common stock and you are a Wh#¢ates citizen or resident, a United
States corporation (or other United States erditalble as a corporation), an estate the incomehmfws subject to United States federal
income taxation regardless of its source, or & tfascourt within the United States is able t@eise primary jurisdiction over the
administration of the trust and one or more Uni¢akes persons have the authority to control &isuntial decisions of that trust.
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Distributions on Our Common Sto

Subject to the discussion of PFICs below, any iigtions with respect to our common stock that yeeeive from us will generally constitute
dividends, which may be taxable as ordinary incomualified dividend income” as described beldavthe extent of our current or
accumulated earnings and profits (as determinedriddited States tax principles). Distributionsiktess of our earnings and profits will be
treated first as a nontaxable return of capitdhtoextent of your tax basis in our common stockdalollar-for-dollar basis) and thereafter as
capital gain. Because we do not intend to determureearnings and profits on the basis of UnitedeStfederal income tax principles, any
distribution paid will generally be treated as a/fdend” for United States federal income tax piegs

Because we are not a United States corporatigouifare a United States corporation (or a UnitedeStentity taxable as a corporation), you
will not be entitled to claim a dividends-receivéeduction with respect to any distributions yoweree from us.

Dividends paid with respect to our common stock géinerally be treated as “passive category incdimepurposes of computing allowable
foreign tax credits for United States foreign taedit purposes.

If you are an individual, trust or estate, divideryau receive from us should be treated as “qedlifiividend income” taxed at preferential
rates, provided that:

(a) The common stock is readily tradable on anbdisteed securities market in the United Statesi{sscthe New York Stock
Exchange)

(b)  We are not a PFIC for the taxable year durihgctvthe dividend is paid or the immediately prensgdaxable year (see the
discussion below und“—PFIC Statu”);

(c) You own our common stock for more than 60 daythe 121day period beginning 60 days before the date orhvtie commo
stock becomes «~dividend,;

(d)  You are not under an obligation to make relatedrpayts with respect to positions in substantialtyilsir or related property; ai
(e)  Certain other conditions are m

Special rules may apply to any “extraordinary dérid.” Generally, an extraordinary dividend is aidind in an amount that is equal to (or in
excess of) 10% of your adjusted tax basis (orfeirket value in certain circumstances) in a shhmiocommon stock. If we pay an
“extraordinary dividend” on our common stock thatrieated as “qualified dividend income” and if yare an individual, estate or trust, then
any loss you derive from a subsequent sale or exgehaf such common stock will be treated as lomgrteapital loss to the extent of such
dividend.

There is no assurance that dividends you receara frs will be eligible for preferential rates. Qiends you receive from us that are not
eligible for any preferential rate will be taxedtla¢ ordinary income rates.

Sale, Exchange or other Disposition of Common Stock
Provided that we are not a PFIC for any taxable,yea generally will recognize taxable gain ordagpon a sale, exchange or other dispos
of our common stock in an amount equal to the difiee between the amount realized by you from sath exchange or other disposition

your tax basis in such stock. Such gain or loskbeiltreated as lo-term capital gain or loss if your holding peri@dgreater than one year at
the
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time of the sale, exchange or other dispositiochSapital gain or loss will generally be treatedaited States source income or loss, as
applicable, for United States foreign tax creditgmses. Your ability to deduct capital losses agfadndinary income is subject to limitations.

PFIC Status

Special United States income tax rules apply toify/gau hold stock in a non-United States corpanatihat is classified as a “passive foreign
investment company” (or “PFIC”) for United Stateséme tax purposes. In general, we will be treated PFIC in any taxable year in which,
after applying certain look-through rules, either:

(a) at least 75% of our gross income for such texgdar consists of “passive income” (e.g., dividigerinterest, capital gains and
rents derived other than in the active conduct i@raal business);

(b) at least 50% of the average value of our askhetag such taxable year consists of “passivetaséee., assets that produce, or
held for the production of, passive incomrr

For purposes of determining whether we are a PlEQwill be treated as earning and owning our propoate share of the income and assets
respectively, of any of our subsidiary corporatioms/hich we own at least 25% of the value of thksidiary’s stock. Income we earn, or are
deemed to earn, in connection with the performarficervices will not constitute passive income.d@ytrast, rental income will generally
constitute passive income (unless we are treatddrurertain special rules as deriving our rentabine in the active conduct of a trade or
business).

Because we have chartered all our vessels to tedetharterers on the basis of period time andtapetcharter contracts (and not on the basi
of bareboat charters) and because we expect ttmaertb do so, we believe that currently we shawdtlbe treated as being and should not
become a PFIC. We believe it is more likely thahthat our gross income derived from our time draattivities constitutes active service
income (as opposed to passive rental income) analrasult, our vessels constitute active assetspjposed to passive assets) for purposes of
determining whether we are a PFIC. We believe tlelegal authority supporting this position, catisig of case law and IRS pronouncement
concerning the characterization of income derivethftime charters as service income for other tapgses. However, there is no legal
authority specifically relating to the statutorypisions governing PFICs or relating to circumstmsubstantially similar to ours. Moreover, a
recent case by the United States Court of Appealthk Fifth Circuit held that, contrary to the ftios of the IRS in that case, and for purpose:
of a different set of rules under the Code, incoeseived under a time charter of vessels shoutdeaged as rental income rather than service
income. If the reasoning of the Fifth Circuit cagere extended to the PFIC context, the gross inceenderive or are deemed to derive from
our time chartering activities would be treatedeagtal income, and we would probably be a PFIC.

We have not sought, and we do not expect to seelR& ruling on this matter. As a result, the IR&@ourt could disagree with our position
that we are not currently a PFIC. No assurancébeagiven that this result will not occur. In addiitj although we intend to conduct our affairs
in a manner to avoid, to the extent possible, belagsified as a PFIC with respect to any taxabl ywe cannot assure you that the nature of
our operations will not change in the future, @ttive can avoid PFIC status in the future.

As discussed below, if we were to be treated dsl€ Ror any taxable year, you generally would bkjsct to one of three different United
States income tax regimes, depending on whetheotoyou make certain elections.
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Taxation of United States Holders That Make a TynG¥EF Election

If we were treated as a PFIC, and if you make altirelection to treat us as a “Qualifying Electifgnd” for United States tax purposes (a
“QEF Election”), you would be required to reporthBgear your pro rata share of our ordinary easangd our net capital gain for our taxable
year that ends with or within your taxable yeagarelless of whether we make any distributions 1. Wuch income inclusions would not
eligible for the preferential tax rates applicatiléqualified dividend income.” Your adjusted taadis in our common stock would be increase
to reflect such taxed but undistributed earnings fanofits. Distributions of earnings and profitatihad previously been taxed would result in
corresponding reduction in your adjusted tax bisstir common stock and would not be taxed agacge alistributed. You would generally
recognize capital gain or loss on the sale, exohan@ther disposition of our common stock. Eveyoifi make a QEF Election for one of our
taxable years, if we were a PFIC for a prior taggl#ar during which you held our common stock amdvhich you did not make a timely Q!
Election, you would also be subject to the moreeask rules described below under “Taxation of Uh&éates Holders That Make No
Election.”

You would make a QEF Election with respect to aegnthat our company is treated as a PFIC by cdimgland filing IRS Form 8621 with
your United States income tax return in accordanitie the relevant instructions. If we were to beeoaware that we were to be treated
PFIC for any taxable year, we would notify all WdtStates holders of such treatment and would gecadl necessary information to any
United States holder who requests such informatiarder to make the QEF election described above.

Taxation of United States Holders That Make a Tymiglark-to-Market” Election

Alternatively, if we were to be treated as a PRd€any taxable year and, as we believe, our constamk is treated as “marketable stockqlu
would be allowed to make a “mark-to-marketéction with respect to our common stock, provittet you complete and file IRS Form 862
accordance with the relevant instructions. If #lattion is made, you generally would include asr@ary income in each taxable year the
excess, if any, of the fair market value of our coon stock at the end of the taxable year over gdiusted tax basis in our common stock.
You also would be permitted an ordinary loss irpees of the excess, if any, of your adjusted tesidhm our common stock over its fair market
value at the end of the taxable year (but onhheoeaxtent of the net amount previously includeth@ome as a result of the mark-to-market
election). Your tax basis in our common stock wdwgdadjusted to reflect any such income or lossusnn@sain realized on the sale, exchange
or other disposition of our common stock would teated as ordinary income, and any loss realizeti@sale, exchange or other dispositic
the common stock would be treated as ordinaryttogise extent that such loss does not exceed thmark-to-market gains previously
included by you.

Taxation of United States Holders That Make No tidec

Finally, if we were treated as a PFIC for any tdeatear and if you did not make either a QEF Etettr a “mark-to-market” election for that
year, you would be subject to special rules wigpeet to (a) any excess distribution (that is pihetion of any distributions received by you
our common stock in a taxable year in excess o¥dabthe average annual distributions receivedday in the three preceding taxable years,
or, if shorter, your holding period for our comm&tock) and (b) any gain realized on the sale, exgbar other disposition of our common
stock. Under these special rules:

® the excess distribution or gain would be altechratably over your aggregate holding periodoiar common
stock;

(ii) the amount allocated to the current taxable yeaddvbe taxed as ordinary income; &
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(i)  the amount allocated to each of the otheatsl® years would be subject to tax at the highastaf tax in effect for
the applicable class of taxpayer for that year, @mihterest charge for the deemed deferral bewefild be
imposed with respect to the resulting tax attriblegdao each such other taxable ye

If an individual dies while owning our common stotte individual’'s successor generally would naeiee a step-up in tax basis with respect
to such stock for United States tax purposes.

United States Federal Income Taxation of Non-Unit&lates Holders

You are a “non-United States holder” if you areeadficial owner of our common stock (other tharagnership for United States tax
purposes) and you are not a United States holder.

Distributions on Our Common Sto

You generally will not be subject to United Staitesome or withholding taxes on dividends you reediom us with respect to our common
stock, unless that income is effectively conneetét your conduct of a trade or business in thetéthStates. If you are entitled to the benefits
of an applicable income tax treaty with respedhtise dividends, that income generally is taxabldéé United States only if it is attributable

a permanent establishment maintained by you itJtliteed States.

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Our Commioiels

You generally will not be subject to United Staitesome tax or withholding tax on any gain realizgubn the sale, exchange or other
disposition of our common stock, unless:

(a) the gain is effectively connected with your doct of a trade or business in the United Stafgmu are entitled to the benefits of
an applicable income tax treaty with respect td ¢faén, that gain generally is taxable in the Uthitates only if it is attributable
to a permanent establishment maintained by yohdrunited States; «

(b)  you are an individual who is present in the Unigdtes for 183 days or more during the taxable gkdisposition and certal
other conditions are me

If you are engaged in a United States trade omlegsifor United States tax purposes, you will ligesi to United States tax with respect to
your income from our common stock (including divids and the gain from the sale, exchange or oilposition of the stock) that
effectively connected with the conduct of that &adl business in the same manner as if you wenmgitad)States holder. In addition, if you are
a corporate non-United States holder, your earramgisprofits that are attributable to the effedfivaonnected income (subject to certain
adjustments) may be subject to an additional Urfitiedes branch profits tax at a rate of 30%, @rlatver rate as may be specified by an
applicable income tax treaty.

United States Backup Withholding and Information Rerting

In general, if you are a nazerporate United States holder, dividend paymeortsther taxable distributions) made within the tddiStates wil
be subject to information reporting requirements backup withholding tax if you:

(1) fail to provide us with an accurate taxpayer id@dtion number

(2) are notified by the IRS that you have faileddport all interest or dividends required to bevsh on your federal income tax
returns; ol
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(3) in certain circumstances, fail to comply with appble certification requiremen

Under legislation enacted in 2010, United Statdddre who are individuals generally will be reqdite report certain information with respi
to an interest in our common stock, including caime, address and such information as is necessatgrttify the class or issue of which the
shares of common stock are a part. These requitsraemsubject to exceptions, including an excedto shares held in accounts maintained
by certain financial institutions and an exceptmplicable if the aggregate value of all “specifieckign financial assets” (as defined in the
Code) held by the United States holder (and, abcaybe by his or her spouse) does not exceed @fsggeminimum amount.

If you are a non-United States holder, you maydugiired to establish your exemption from informatieporting and backup withholding by
certifying your status on IRS Form W-8BEN, W-8ECIMI-8IMY, as applicable. If you sell our commongitdo or through a United States
office or broker, the payment of the sales procégdsbject to both United States backup withha@dind information reporting unless you
certify that you are a non-United States persodeupenalties of perjury, or you otherwise estaibdis exemption. If you sell our common
stock through a non-United States office of a nanitddl States broker and the sales proceeds areqgddi outside the United States, then
information reporting and backup withholding getigraill not apply to that payment. However, Unit&dates information reporting
requirements (but not backup withholding) will appb a payment of sales proceeds, even if that paym made outside the United States, if
you sell our common stock through a -United States office of a broker that is a UniBtdtes person or has certain other connectionsthéth
United States.

Backup withholding tax is not an additional taxtika, you generally may obtain a refund of any amt®withheld under backup withholding
rules that exceed your income tax liability by a@ately completing and timely filing a refund claimith the IRS. You should consult your own
tax advisor regarding the application of the backithholding and information reporting rules.

F. Dividends and Paying Agent:

Not applicable

G. Statement by Experts

Not applicable

H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementthefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendied‘ixchange Act”). In accordance with
these requirements, we file reports and other in&ion as a foreign private issuer with the SECQu Yfay inspect and copy our public filings
without charge at the public reference facilitiegimained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Wasbimd>.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330 for further information about the pubtference room. You may obtain copies of alhoy part of such materials from the SEC
upon payment of prescribed fees. You may also ttsgports and other information regarding regrgBasuch as us, that file electronically
with the SEC without charge at a web site mainthiog the SEC atttp://www.sec.gov

l. Subsidiary Information

Not applicable

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
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A. Quantitative Information About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risl

We are subject to market risks relating to chamgé@sterest rates because we have floating ratealgbtanding, which is based on U.S. dollar
LIBOR plus, in the case of each credit facilitysgecified margin. Our objective is to manage thpaat of interest rate changes on our earr
and cash flow in relation to our borrowings andhis effect, when we deem appropriate, we use dtwvi¥ financial instruments. We had
entered into 17 interest rate swap agreements Beadmber 31, 2012, compared to the same numieteoést rate swap agreements as of
December 31, 2011, in order to manage future iste@sts and the risk associated with changingdaateates.

The total notional principal amount of these swap®f December 31, 2012 was $505.8 million, of Wi#id52.1 million was effective as of
December 31, 2012 and $53.7 million becomes effectiring 2013. The swaps have specified rateslarations. Refer to the table in Note
14 of our financial statements included at the efithis annual report which summarizes the interatst swaps in place as of December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2011. In January 2013, vegezhinto an interest rate transaction with a bankspect of one of our loan facilities for
an initial notional amount of $14 million and ducet of five years. For more information, refer totl 23 of our financial statements included
at the end of this annual report.

Under our interest rate swap transactions, the béfekts quarterly or semiannual floating-rate pawis to us for the relevant amount based
either on the three- or six-month U.S. dollar LIB@R we make quarterly or semiannual paymentsetdaimk on the relevant amount at the
respective fixed rates.

We entered into these interest rate swap agreertentiigate our exposure to interest rate fludarat and at a time when we believed long-
term interest rates were reasonably low. None ofrdarest rate swap meets hedge accounting eriteriler accounting guidance relating to
Fair Value Measuremel. Although we are exposed to credit-related logséise event of non-performance in connection witbh swap
agreements, because the counterparties are nmagorcial institutions, we consider the risk of lds® to their nonperformance to be minimal.

Through these swap transactions, we effectivelygbddhe interest rate exposure of 83.0% of ourdamaristanding as of December 31, 2012,
which bear interest at LIBOR.

The following table sets forth the sensitivity afr@xisting loans as of December 31, 2012 as @0abasis point increase in LIBOR taking into
account our interest rate swap agreements thauarently in place, during the next five years, aeftects the additional interest expense.

Year Amount

2013 $1.9 million
2014 $2.6 million
2015 $3.1 million
2016 $3.1 million
2017 $2.9 million

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We generate all of our revenues in U.S. dollarsfdnuthe year ended December 31, 2012 we inclapguoximately 26.42% of our vessel
operating expenses in currencies other than theddlfr. As of December 31, 2012, approximatelyd28o of our outstanding accounts
payable were denominated in
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currencies other than the U.S. dollar and wereestiltp exchange rate risk, as their value fluctiatigh changes in exchange rates.

A hypothetical 10% immediate and uniform adverseenia all currency exchange rates from the ratefect as of December 31, 2012,
would have increased our vessel operating expdrsapproximately $912,372 and the fair value of autstanding accounts payable by
approximately $85,919.

As of December 31, 2012 a portion of our remairgagital expenditures related to the agreementhéopurchase of newbuilds was
denominated in Japanese yen, equivalent to $2l®miA hypothetical 10% immediate adverse movehm Japanese yen exchange rate from
the rate in effect as of December 31, 2012, woabkkhincreased our remaining capital expendituresppyoximately $258,759. While, from
time to time, we have in the past used financialvdéves in the form of foreign exchange forwagteements to mitigate the risk associated
with exchange rate fluctuations, currently, no singtruments are in place, although we may enterforeign exchange forward agreements ir
the future in relation to the remaining paymentsateinated in Japanese Yen for the newbuild vesgelsave contracted to purchase.

There have been no material quantitative changesnket risk exposures between 2012 and 2011.
ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURIT IES

Not applicable

PART Il
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None.
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HO LDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
A. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Hdders

We adopted a stockholder rights plan on May 138a6at authorizes the issuance to our existingkstmders of preferred share rights and
additional shares of common stock if any third pareks to acquire control of a substantial bldobuw common stock. See “ltem 10.
Additional Information —B. Memorandum and ArticleEAssociation—Stockholder Rights Plan” includedhrs annual report for a
description of the stockholder rights plan.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
A. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleedcutive officer and chief financial officer, hegaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and proces] as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(@¢nthe Exchange Act as of December
31, 2012. Disclosure controls and procedures diretbunder SEC rules as controls and other praesdhat are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a companthe reports that it files or submits under theli&nge Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within required time pexi@isclosure controls and procedures include witfimitations controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by an issuer in the reports that it fdlesubmits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the issuer's mamagfe including its principal executive and priradifinancial officers, or persons
performing
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similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timdicisions regarding required disclosure. Therérdmerent limitations to the effectiveness of
any system of disclosure controls and procedunejding the possibility of human error and thegimvention or overriding of the controls
and procedures. Accordingly, even effective diaslescontrols and procedures can only provide redslerassurance of achieving their contro
objectives. Based on our evaluation, the chief ettee officer and the chief financial officer hasencluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2012.

B. Managemen’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaorting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act and for tlses@ment of the effectiveness of internal conwel éinancial reporting. Our internal
control over financial reporting is a process desiby, or under the supervision of, the Compaptiiscipal executive and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functioasd effected by the Compasyboard of directors, management and other per§dorgovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafitial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeein the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).

A companys internal control over financial reporting inclisdbose policies and procedures that (i) pertathéganaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatghenpreparation of financial statements in adaoce with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the company; and (iii)
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In making its assessment of our internal contr@rdinancial reporting as of December 31, 2012, agament, including the chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, used the crigeset forth in Internal Control—Integrated Franoekissued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ").

Management concluded that, as of December 31, 20t2anternal control over financial reporting weféective. Deloitte Hadjipavlou,
Sofianos & Cambanis S.A. (“Deloitte”), our indepentiregistered public accounting firm, has auditedfinancial statements included herein
and our internal control over financial reportingdéhas issued an attestation report on the effsntiss of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2012 which is repredun its entirety in Item 15(c) below.

C. Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accournihg Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Baf&ers, Inc.,
Majuro, Republic of The Marshall Islands,
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We have audited the internal control over finanglorting of Safe Bulkers, Inc., and its subsig®fthe “Company”) as of December 31,
2012, based on criteria establishedniternal Control — Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission. The Company’s managemensporesible for maintaining effective internal cohweer financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our r@sgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparngternal control over financial reporti
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the compapard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anltket preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internatteol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengradtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngen@aent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédisonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the posiii of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected tmely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods ateéhject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policgeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2012,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year endszeBber 31, 2012 of the Company and our reportidagbruary 28, 2013 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/sl Deloitte Hadjipavlou, Sofianos & Cambanis S.A.

Athens, Greece
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February 28, 2013
D. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

During the period covered by this annual reporthaee made no changes to our internal control fimancial reporting that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materiallyeaffour internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 16. [RESERVED]
ITEM 16A.  AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Audit Committee consists of three independémeictbrs, John Gaffney, Ole Wikborg and Frank Siglao is the chairman of the commit
Our board of directors has determined that Frank,Svhose biographical details are included infil& Directors, Senior Management and
Employees—A. Directors and Senior Management”,ifjgalas an audit committee financial expert asngef under current SEC regulations.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHti all officers and employees of our companlyicl incorporates a Code of Ethics
directors and a Code of Conduct for corporate effica copy of which is posted on our website,rangl be viewed at
http://www.safebulkers.com/corp_ethics.htiie will also provide a paper copy of this docuirfese of charge upon written request by our
stockholders. Stockholders may direct their requigsthe attention of Dr. Loukas Barmparis, Secyetaafe Bulkers, Inc., 32 Avenue
Karamanli, 16605, Voula, Athens, Greece. No waiwéthe Code of Business Conduct and Ethics haee geanted to any person during the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Aggregate fees billed to the Company for the fisears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 by the &voyrigpprincipal accounting firm,

Deloitte, Hadjipavlou, Sofianos & Cambanis S.A jlatiependent registered public accounting firm amdnioer of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Limited, by the category of service, were as fokow

2011 2012
(In Thousands)
Audit fees $ 50¢ $ 57¢
Total fees $ 50¢ $ 57¢

Audit fees represent compensation for professieanlices rendered for the integrated audit of tresclidated financial statements of the
Company and for the review of the quarterly finah@iformation as well as in connection with theiesv of registration statements and relatec
consents and comfort letters and any other auditcgs required for SEC or other regulatory filings

Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

The audit committee charter sets forth our poleyarding retention of the independent auditorangithe audit committee responsibility for
the appointment, compensation, retention and ayletrsif the work of the independent auditors. Theiteommittee charter provides that the
committee is responsible for reviewing and apprgvimadvance the retention of the independent argifor the performance of all audit and
lawfully permitted non-audit services. The chairnadithe audit committee or in the absence of tharaian, any
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member of the audit committee designated by thérola, has authority to approve in advance anyddiypermitted non-audit services and
fees. The audit committee is authorized to estialgliber policies and procedures for the pre-apprafvsuch services and fees. Where non-
audit services and fees are approved under detbgathority, the action must be reported to thedutlit committee at its next regularly
scheduled meeting.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COM MITTEES
Not Applicable.
ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

On June 10, 2009, the Company announced that Mddldings Inc. authorized a program under whiamday from time to time purchase
shares of the Company’s common stock on the opekandhe maximum number of shares of common stisgkcan be purchased annually
under the program and any private placement isoxppately 2% of the Company’shares outstanding. The program is still in ¢ffdo share
were purchased during 2012 pursuant to the prograecember 2012, Vorini Holdings Inc. purchasé0,600 shares of the Company at a
price of $3.00 per share in a block trade complétesugh a broker-dealer. As of February 15, 208,Company had 76,670,460 shares of
common stock outstanding. Approximately 46,426,6flthose shares, or 60.55% of common stock outsigndiere held by the Company’s
affiliates, according to information provided tet@ompany by such affiliates. The remaining 30,2438 shares, or 39.45% of common stock
outstanding, represented the public float.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not Applicable.
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Statement of Significant Differences Between our @porate Governance Practices and the New York StocExchange Corporate
Governance Standards for U.S. Non-Controlled Issusr

Overview

Pursuant to certain exceptions for foreign privaseiers and controlled companies, we are not redjuiér comply with certain of the corporate
governance practices followed by U.S. and non-afiett companies under the New York Stock Excharggimd) standards. However, pursuant
to Section 303.A.11 of the New York Stock Exchahgeged Company Manual and the requirements of F20rf, we are required to state any
significant differences between our corporate goagce practices and the practices required by éve YXbork Stock Exchange. We believe t
our established practices in the area of corp@aternance are in line with the spirit of the Neark Stock Exchange standards and provide
adequate protection to our shareholders. For exgropt audit committee consists solely of indepanhdé@ectors. The significant differences
between our corporate governance practices andéaheYork Stock Exchange standards applicable tedi&).S. companies are set forth
below.

Independent Director:

The New York Stock Exchange requires that listesiganies have a majority of independent directosspérmitted under Marshall Islands |
and our bylaws, our board of directors consista nfajority of non-independent directors.
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Executive Session

The New York Stock Exchange requires that non-meamamt directors meet regularly in executive sessigthout management. The New
York Stock Exchange also requires that all independirectors meet in an executive session at tgast a year. As permitted under Marshall
Islands law and our bylaws, our non-managementiire do not regularly hold executive sessionsauitimanagement and we do not expect
them to do so.

Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensatioon@nittee

The New York Stock Exchange requires that a lislesl company have a nominating/corporate governaogenittee and a compensation
committee, each composed of independent direddarpermitted under Marshall Islands law and ouaind, we have a combined corporate
governance, nominating and compensation committbieh at present is composed wholly of independéetctors.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Not Applicable.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reference is made to pages F-1 through F-26 indlhéecin by reference.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number Description
1.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporati
1.2 Articles of Amendment to Amended and Restated Assiof Incorporation*
1.3 Amended and Restated Bylaw
2.1 Form of Registration Rights Agreement between Bail&ers, Inc. and Vorini Holdings Inc
2.2 Stockholder Rights Agreemen
2.3 Specimen Share Certificat
4.1 Form of Management Agreement between Safety Manage@verseas S.A. and Safe Bulkers, It
4.2 Amendment No. 1 to Management Agreement betweestyskfanagement Overseas S.A. and Safe Bulkerg*in
4.3 Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement among Safl&eéBs, Inc., Polys Hajioannou, Vorini Holdings In8afeFixing Corp ar

Machairiotissa Holdings Inc.
4.4 Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement between Bafkers, Inc. and Polys Hajioanno

4.5 Amendment No. 1 to Restrictive Covenant Agreemeiiben Safe Bulkers, Inc. and Polys Hajioannot
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8.1

121

12.2

13.1

13.2

List of Subsidiarie!

Certification of principal executive officpursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of tlean®ees Exchange Act of 1934, as
amendec

Certification of principal financial officgrursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of tle®tées Exchange Act of 1934, as
amende

Certification of principal executive officearsuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as added biyo®e306 of the Sarbané3xley Act
of 2002

Certification of principal financial officgursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as added byoBe306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

K%k

*k%

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company'sgistration Statement on Form F-1 (Reg. No. 3338%95)filed with the SEC and
hereby incorporated by reference to such Registr&tatemen

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Compan¥srm 6K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2009 and heriloprporated by reference
such Form -K.

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Companysrm 20-F filed with the SEC on February 29, 2ah@ hereby incorporated by
reference to such Form-F.

SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets athe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Hehal

February 28, 2013

By

/sl KONSTANTINOS ADAMOPOULOS

Name: Konstantinos Adamopoulc
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Directt
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Safe Bulkers, Inc.
Majuro, Republic of the Marshall Islands

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Safe Bulkers, Inc. and subsidiares“@ompany”)as of December 31, 20
and 2012, and the related consolidated stateménisame, shareholdergquity, and cash flows for each of the three yaatke period ende
December 31, 2012. These financial statementshareesponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspaman
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disas in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetaeresent fairly, in all material respects, thmaficial position of Safe Bulkers, Inc. ¢
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2012thentksults of their operations and their cash dléov each of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with acciognprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the Company’
internal control over financial reporting as of Bewer 31, 2012, based on the criteria establighéatérnal Control—ntegrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatwinthe Treadway Commission and our report dateorliery 28, 2013 expressed
unqualified opinion on the Company'’s internal cohtiver financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte Hadjipavlou, Sofianos & Cambanis S.A.

February 28, 2013
Athens, Greece
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SAFE BULKERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2012

(In thousands of U.S. Dollars, except for share anper share data)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivabl

Due from Manage

Inventories

Accrued revenu

Restricted cas

Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current assets

FIXED ASSETS:

Vessels, ne

Advances for vessel acquisition and vessels unatestouction
Total fixed assets

OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS:
Deferred finance charges, t
Restricted cas

Accrued revenu

Long-term investmen

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Current portion of lon-term debt

Unearned revent

Trade accounts payak

Accrued liabilities

Derivative liabilities

Due to Manage

Total current liabilities

Derivative liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portic
Unearned revent— Long-term

Total liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Shareholder equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 autbdyi70,891,916

and 76,661,451 issued and outstanding at Decenih@031 and

2012, respectivel

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 aizthdy none issued or

outstanding
Additional paid in capita
Retained earning
Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

December 31

Notes 2011 2012
28,12 102,72
4 5,55 37,04
3 24 —
2,65¢ 5,90(
19 — 554
— 22,80(
1,611 2,80
37,95¢ 171,82
5 655,35t 810,00:
6 122,30° 39,90:
777,66 849,90:
7 6,22¢€ 6,46
5,42 3,92
19 — 92
9 50,00( 50,00
877,27: 1,082,21
8 18,48¢ 19,19¢
19 23,21 18,20
1,18¢ 3,061
15 6,55¢ 6,36
14 2,23 591
3 — 73
51,67 47,49
14 10,13¢( 8,97¢
8 465,80 596,46t
19 17,82: 3,41¢
545,42 656,35t
11 — —
10 71 77
114,91¢ 150,26
216,85 275,51(
331,84 425,85
877,27: 1,082,21

The accompanying notes are an integral part of teesnsolidated statements.
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SAFE BULKERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2@
(In thousands of U.S. Dollars, except for share anper share data)

Year Ended December 31

Notes 2010 2011 2012
REVENUES:
Revenue: 12 159,69¢ 172,03t 187,55
Commissions (2,679 (3,129 (3,267
Net revenues 157,02( 168,90¢ 184,29¢
EXPENSES:
Voyage expense (610 (1,989 (7,286
Vessel operating expens 13 (23,129 (26,06¢) (34,54()
Depreciatior 5 (19,679) (23,637 (32,25()
General and administrative expen
-Management fee to related pa 3,18 (4,880 (6,026 (7,726
-Third party expense 18 (2,139 (2,469 (2,220
Early redelivery income, ni 16 132 207 11,671
Gain on sale of assets 20 15,19¢ — —
Operating income 121,92. 108,93¢ 111,95:
OTHER (EXPENSE)/INCOME:
Interest expens 8 (6,429 (5,250 (9,072
Other finance cosl (330 (1,05%) (1,269
Interest incomt 2,627 1,04¢ 1,122
Loss on derivative 14 (8,169 (12,49) (5,389
Foreign currency gain/(los 281 (799 ©)]
Amortization and write-off of deferred finance cpes 7 (266€) (659) (1,226
Net income 109,64 89,73¢ 96,12(
Earnings per share in U.S. Dollars, basic and dilwd 22 1.7: 1.2¢ 1.27
Weighted average number of shares, basic and diludi 63,300,46 69,463,09 75,468,46
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SAFE BULKERS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF SHAREHOLDERS'’ EQUITY FOR THE YEARS
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(In thousands of U.S. Dollars, except for per shardata)

Additional Retained
Common Stock Paid in Capital Earnings Total
Balance as of January 1, 201 55 90 97,07 97,21¢
Net income — — 109,64 109,64
Issuance of common sto 11 74,95¢ — 74,96
Share based compensat — 12C — 12C
Dividends ($0.60 per share) — — (37,820 (37,820
Balance as of December 31, 20: 66 75,16¢ 168,90: 244,13
Net income — — 89,73« 89,73«
Issuance of common sto 5 39,63: — 39,63
Share based compensat — 12C — 12C
Dividends ($0.60 per share) — — (41,787 (41,787
Balance as of December 31, 20: 71 114,91¢ 216,85: 331,84.
Net income — — 96,12( 96,12(
Issuance of common sto 6 35,23! — 35,23
Share based compensat — 12C — 12C
Dividends ($0.50 per share) — — (37,469 (37,469
Balance as of December 31, 20: 77 150,26 275,51( 425,85t

The accompanying notes are an integral part of teeonsolidated statements.
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SAFE BULKERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2@
(In thousands of U.S. Dollars)

December 31

2010 2011 2012
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income 109,64 89,73 96,12(
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash pwided by operating

activities:
Depreciatior 19,67: 23,631 32,25(
Gain on sale of asse (15,199 — —
Amortization and writ-off of deferred finance charg 26¢€ 653 1,22¢
Unrealized foreign exchange (ga (326) — —
Unrealized (gain)/loss on derivativ (4,509 263 (2,799
Share based compensat 12C 12C 12C
Change in:
Accounts receivable trac 62C (4,265 303
Due from Manage — (249 24
Inventories (172 (1,236 (3,247
Accrued revenu 1,69: — (64€)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (37 (452) (575)
Due to Manage 43C (449 73
Trade accounts payak (2,199 (287) 1,87¢
Accrued liabilities (1,529 547 (255)
Unearned revent 8,66 (1,059 (19,409
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 118,14 107,18¢ 105,06!
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Vessel acquisitions including advances for vessetter constructio (192,419 (160,969 (136,84)
Proceeds from sale of ass 32,16¢ — —
Increasein restricted cas (650) — (23,300
Restricted cash releas 6,382 — 2,00(
Increase in bank time depos (86,54%) — —
Maturity of bank time deposi 109,35 35,08( —
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (131,709 (125,889 (158,149
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from lor-term debt 74,50( 84,00( 312,63(
Principal payments of loi-term debt (50,99 (94,457 (181,25,
Dividends paic (37,82() (41,787 (37,469
Payment of deferred financing co (519 (5,916 (1,467
Proceeds on issuance of common stock | 74,967 39,63’ 35,231
Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Financing Activitie: 60,13¢ (18,519 127,68:
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. 46,57 (37,219 74,60:
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 32¢ — —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yei 18,43t 65,33t 28,12:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 65,33: 28,12: 102,72:
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest (excluding capitalized iest): 6,41 5,05( 8,53¢
Non cash Investing activities (represent advanodscapitalized interest f

newbuildHull No. J0131) — — 32,41

The accompanying notes are an integral part of teesnsolidated statements.
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SAFE BULKERS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of United States Dollars—except forrgre and per share data, unless otherwise stated)

1. Basis of Presentation and General Information:

Safe Bulkers, Inc. (“Safe Bulkers”) was formed oac®@mber 11, 2007, under the laws of the Republichef Marshall Islands for the purpose
of acquiring an ownership interest in 19 compargesh of which owned or was scheduled to acquirenebuild drybulk vessel, all of which
were under the common control of Polys Hajioanmnud fais family. The shares of the 19 companies wengributed to Safe Bulkers by Vorini
Holdings, Inc. (“Vorini Holdings”), a Marshall Istals corporation controlled by Polys Hajioannou hisdfamily. Safe Bulkers became the
owner of 100% of each of the 19 companies, andrWVéidldings became the sole shareholder of Safedssi

Safe Bulkers successfully completed its initial jpubffering (the “IPO”) on June 3, 2008 and itsmmon stock trades on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “SB.” Followitige IPO, Vorini Holdings became the controlling igtenlder of Safe Bulkers.

Since its IPO Safe Bulkers successfully compléeedet additional public offerings. Vorini Holdingerttinues to be the controlling shareholder
of Safe Bulkers, and, accordingly, can controlahtcome of matters on which shareholders are edtit vote, including the election of the
entire board of directors and other significanpooate actions

As of December 31, 2012, Safe Bulkers held 35 wholned companies which are referred to hereirSabsidiaries”, and which together
owned and operated a fleet of 24 drybulk vessal$ veere scheduled to acquire an additional six méab (the “Newbuilds”) and one second-
hand vessel.

Safe Bulkers and the Subsidiaries are collectivelgrred to in the notes to the consolidated fiteratatements as the “Company.”

The Company’s principal business is the acquisitimmership and operation of drybulk vessels. Them@any’s vessels operate worldwide,
carrying drybulk cargo for the world’s largest congers of marine drybulk transportation servicesetydManagement Overseas S.A., a
company incorporated under the laws of the RepufllRanama (“Safety Management” or the “Managexiglated party controlled by Polys
Hajioannou, provides technical, commercial and aistriative management services to the Company.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the operations, assets and liabilitiehef€ompany, using the historical carrying
costs of the assets and the liabilities of the Blidoges listed below.

Subsidiary Vessel Name Type Built
Marindou Shipping CorporatiorMarindov”) (1) Maria Panama April 2003
Maxeikosiexi Shipping CorporatioiMaxeikosiex”) ) Koulitsa Panama April 2003
Avstes Shipping Corporatior* Avste¢”) (1) Vassos Panama February 200:
Kerasies Shipping Corporatio“Kerasie”) 1) Katerina Panama May 2004
Marathassa Shipping Corporatic‘Marathass”) (1) Maritsa Panama January 200!
Maxeikositessera Shipping Corporati¢ Maxeikositesser’) ) Efrossini Panama February 201:
Pemer Shipping Ltd“Peme”) 1) Pedhoulas Merchar Kamsarmay March 200¢€
Petra Shipping Ltd.“Petre") @) Pedhoulas Trade Kamsarmay May 2006
Pelea Shipping Ltd“Pele) @ Pedhoulas Leade Kamsarmay March 2007
Staloudi Shipping Corporatior Staloud”) (1) Stalo Pos-Panama: January 200
Marinouki Shipping CorporatiorMarinouk?”) (1) Marina Pos-Panama; January 200!
Soffive Shipping Corporatior* Soffive”) @) Sophia Pos-Panama: June 200°
Eniaprohi Shipping Corporatio®Eniaproh”) ) Eleni Pos-Panama; November 200
Eniadefhi Shipping Corporatior* Eniadefh”) ) Martine Pos-Panama: February 200!
Maxdodeka Shipping Corporatio“Maxdodek:") (1) Andreas K Pos-Panama; September 200
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Maxdekatria Shipping Corporatio*Maxdekatri') (1)
Maxdeka Shipping Corporatio“Maxdek:') ®

Shikoku Friendship Shipping Compar*Shikokt”) ©)
Maxenteka Shipping Corporatio“Maxentek:") ®
Maxpente Shipping Corporatio“Maxpent’) (1)

Eptaprohi Shipping Corporatio*“Eptaproh”) )

Maxeikosi Shipping Corporatior* Maxeikos”) ()
Maxeikositria Shipping Corporatio’Maxeikositrie”) )
Maxeikosiena Shipping Corporatic Maxeikosien”) (1)
Glovertwo Shipping CorporatiorGlovertwc”) )
Shikokutessera Shipping In¢ Shikokutesser") ()
Shikokupente Shipping Inc* Shikokupent”) )
Maxtessera Shipping Corporatic* Maxtesser”) 3
Shikokuexi Shipping Inc“ Shikokuex”) )

Shikokuepta Shipping Inc* Shikokuept”) )
Maxeikosipente Shipping Corporatic‘Maxeikosipent”) (16
Maxeikosiepta Shipping Corporatic* Maxeikosiept”) ()@
Vassone Shipping Corporatio“Vasson”) (1@

Efragel Shipping Corporatior* Efrage”) (D(7)

/-
S.B. Sea Venture Company L(®

(1) Incorporated under the laws of the Republitibgria.
(2) Second-hand vessel acquisitions. Refer to R8te

Panayiota K
Venus Heritage
Venus Histon
Venus Horizot
Kanaris
Pelopidas
Pedhoulas Builde
Pedhoulas Fighte
Pedhoulas Farme
TBN-H 814
TBN-H 1659
TBN-H 1660
TBN- H 8126
TBN- H 2396
TBN- H 2397

Efrossini (hereinafter
called'* Old Efrossin’’)

(3) Incorporated under the laws of the Republi@ioé Marshall Islands.

(4) Estimated completion date for newbuild vessels.

(5) New estimated completion date for newbuild eésRefer to Note 23.

(6) Cancellation of Newbuild. Refer to Notes 4 drid
(7) Company dissolved in October 2012.

(8) Vessel sold in January 2010. Refer to Note 20.

(9) Incorporated under the laws of the Republi€gprus.

Pos-Panama:
Pos-Panama:
Pos-Panama:
Pos-Panama:
Capesize
Capesize
Kamsarmav
Kamsarmav
Kamsarmav
Panama:
Panama:
Panama:
Capesize
Pos-Panama:
Pos-Panama:

Panama;

April 2010
December 201
September 201
February 201:
March 201C
November 201
May 2012
August 201z
September 201
2H 20134

2H 20134

1H 20144

1H 2014®)

2H 20154

2H 20154

February 200:®

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 ar®j #t following charterers individually accounfed more than 10% of the Company’s

charter revenues as follows:

Daiichi Chuo Kisen Kaish
Kawasaki Kisen Kaish
Cargill International S.#

2. Significant Accounting Policies:

December 31

2010 2011
44.92% 48.1%
18.7¢% 17.99%
12.61% —

2012

46.48%
16.3¢%



Principles of Consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statemiese been prepared in accordance with accountingipies
generally accepted in the United States of AmgtidaS. GAAP”) and include the accounts of Safe Bulkand its subsidiaries. All intra-group
and intercompany balances and transactions havedbieginated upon consolidation.

Use of EstimatesThe preparation of the consolidated financial statets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires manageirto make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, the disclosfimatingent assets and liabilities at the da
the consolidated financial statements and the teg@mounts of revenues and expenses during tbetirepperiod. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)he Company follows the accounting guidance rejptirStatement of Comprehensive Incombeich
requires separate presentation of certain tramsecthat are recorded directly as components a€bbéders’ equity. The Company has no
other comprehensive income/ (loss) and accordiogiyprehensive income/(loss) equals net incomehfoperiods presented.

Foreign Currency Translation:The reporting and functional currency of the Comyprthe United States (“U.S.”) dollar or (“USD").
Transactions incurred in other currencies are kaded into U.S. dollars using the exchange ratesfact at the time of the transaction. At the
balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabthig¢sre denominated in other currencies arelttausto reflect the period end exchange r:
Resulting gains or losses from foreign currencggeations are recorded within Foreign currency/¢jass) in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income in the period in which thegear

Cash and Cash Equivalent€ash and cash equivalents consist of current,tcak, deposits and certificates of deposit witlyioral maturities
of three months or less at the time of purchasendrich are not restricted for use or withdrawal.

Time DepositsTime deposits are held with banks with original unigies longer than three months at the time otpase. In the event original
maturities are shorter than twelve months at the of purchase, such deposits are classified asntuassets; if original maturities are longer
than twelve months, such deposits are classifiatbascurrent assets.

Restricted CashRestricted cash represents minimum cash depositssbr collateral deposits required to be maintaiméd certain banks
under the Compang’borrowing arrangements or in relation to bankrguiees issued on behalf of the Company. In thatdiat the obligatio
relating to such deposits is expected to be termihaithin the next twelve months, these deposdshassified as current assets; otherwise
they are classified as non-current assets.

Accounts ReceivableAccounts receivable reflects trade receivables fiiame or voyage charters and other receivables fsparational
activities, net of an allowance for doubtful acctsurt each balance sheet date, all potentiallyliectible accounts are assessed individually
for purposes of determining the appropriate provisor doubtful accounts. No allowance for doub#atounts was recorded for any of the
periods presented.

Inventories: Inventories consist of bunkers and lubricants owmgthe Company remaining on board the vesselseagnd of each reporting
period, which are stated at the lower of cost orketa Cost is determined using the first—in, fiost- method.

Vessels, Netvessels are stated at their historical cost, wharsists of the contracted purchase price and megtdnaterial expenses incurred
upon acquisition (including improvements, on-siipexvision expenses incurred during the constrogieriod, commissions paid, delivery
expenses and other expenditures to prepare thelJes$er initial voyage), less accumulated dejatgan. Financing costs incurred during the
construction period of the vessels are also cépataland included in the vessels’ cost. Certairsegbent expenditures for conversions and
major improvements are also capitalized if it isedmined that they appreciably extend the liferéase the earning capacity or improve the
efficiency or safety of the vessels.

Vessels’ DepreciationDepreciation is computed using the straight-linghroé over the estimated useful life of the vessafter considering
the estimated residual value. Management estintfatesseful life of the Company’s vessels to be @aryg from the date of initial delivery from
the shipyard.

Accounting for Special Survey and Drydocking CosSpecial survey and drydocking costs are expenstkiperiod incurred and are
included in vessel operating expenses in the acaogipg consolidated statements of income.

Repairs and MaintenanceAll repair and maintenance expenses, including majerhauling and underwater inspection expenses, a
expensed when incurred and are included in veggghting expenses in the accompanying consolidastements of income.

Impairment of Lonc-lived AssetsThe Company follows the Accounting Standards Codifon (“ASC”) Subtopic 360-10Property, Plant ar
Equipment” (“ASC 360-10"), which requires impairntéosses to be recorded on long-lived assets useddrations when indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted casls #stimated to be generated by those assetssaréhbin their carrying amounts. If
indicators of impairment are present, the Comparjopms an analysis of the anticipated undiscoufitede net cash flows of the related long
lived assets. If the carrying value of the relaisdet exceeds the undiscounted
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cash flows, the carrying value is reduced to itsvalue and the difference is recorded as an impait loss in the consolidated statement of
income. Various factors including anticipated feteharter rates, estimated scrap values, futudogiing costs and estimated vessel oper:
costs are included in this analysis. No impairmess was recorded during the years ended Decenih@030, 2011 and 2012.

Assets Held for SaleThe Company may dispose of certain of its vessbkwsuitable opportunities occur, including priothe end of their
useful lives. The Company classifies assets agli@td for sale when the following criteria are m{@tmanagement is committed to sell the
asset; (ii) the asset is available for immediate saits present condition; (iii) an active prograo locate a buyer and other actions required to
complete the plan to sell the asset have beeat®ij (iv) the sale of the asset is probable, eamtsfer of the asset is expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one yegrth@ asset is being actively marketed for sake@ice that is reasonable in relation to its
current fair value; and (vi) actions required tongete the plan indicate that it is unlikely thigrsficant changes to the plan will be made or
that the plan will be withdrawn.

Long-lived assets classified as held for sale awasured at the lower of their carrying amount onfalue less cost to sell. These assets are n
longer depreciated once they meet the criterieeofdheld for sale. There were no assets helddleras at December 31, 2012.

Deferred Financing CostsFinancing fees incurred for obtaining new loans eradlit facilities are deferred and amortized dberterm of the
respective loan or credit facility using the effeetinterest rate method. Any unamortized balarfam®sts relating to loans repaid or refinanced
is expensed in the period in which the repaymeméfinancing is made, subject to the guidance giggrDebt Extinguishment. Any
unamortized balance of costs related to creditifi@s repaid is expensed in the period. Any undined balance of costs relating to credit
facilities refinanced is deferred and amortizedrdlie term of the respective credit facility in fheriod in which the refinancing occurs, subjec
to the provisions of the accounting guidance negatoChanges in Line-of-Credit or Revolving-Debt Arrangants.

Derivative InstrumentsThe Company may enter into foreign exchange forwartdracts to create economic hedges for its expdsu

currency exchange risk on payments relating tatupiisition of vessels and on certain loan oblayesi The Company also enters into interest
rate derivatives to create economic hedges faxip®sure to interest rate risk of its loan obligasi (see also Notes 8 and 14). When such
derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting@mmpany records these financial instruments irctiresolidated balance sheet at their fair
value as either a derivative asset or a liabilityd recognizes the fair value changes theretceicdinsolidated statements of income. When the
derivatives do qualify for hedge accounting, defpregdipon the nature of the hedge, changes in fdirevof the derivatives are either offset
against the fair value of assets, liabilities omficommitments through income, or recognized irepttomprehensive income/(loss) (effective
portion) until the hedged item is recognized in ¢basolidated statements of income. For the yeatedeDecember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012,
no derivatives were accounted for as accountingé®d

Financial Instruments: Over-the-counter foreign exchange forward contrantbinterest rate derivatives are recorded awédire. Other
financial instruments, including cash equivalemtd debt are recorded at amortized cost.

(a) Interest rate risk. The Company’s interest rates and long-term loaaye@nt terms are described in Note 8 .The Company
manages its interest rate risk by entering intergsgt rate derivative instruments which are desdrih Note 14.

(b) Concentration of credit riskFinancial instruments, which potentially subjea thompany to significant concentrations of credit
risk, consist principally of trade accounts recbleacash and cash equivalents, time deposits arebtive instruments. The Compe
limits its credit risk with accounts receivable fpgrforming ongoing credit evaluations of its custosi financial condition and
generally does not require collateral for its tradeounts receivable. The Company places its aadlcash equivalents, time deposits
and other investments with high credit quality fingl institutions. The Company performs periodialaations of the relative credit
standing of those financial institutions. The Comp& exposed to credit risk in the event of nonfgpenance by its counterparties to
derivative instruments; however, the Company lintigexposure by transacting with counterpartieth Wwigh credit ratings.

(c) Fair value measurementtn accordance with the requirements of accountinigance relating t&air Value Measurementhe
Company classifies and discloses assets and tiebitiarried at fair value in one of the followitigee categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketddentical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unolddevinputs that are corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroteatdy market data.
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Accounting for Revenues and Related ExpensThe Company generates its revenues from chartienetise charter hire of its vessels. Ves
are chartered under time charter, where a corigaeitered into for the use of a vessel for a $igagdyage or a specific period of time and at a
specified daily charter rate. Time charter reveraresrecognized as earned on the straight-lines loagir the term of the charter as service is
provided. Revenues from time charter may also ohelballast bonus, which is an amount paid by ttaeteher for repositioning the vessel at
charterer’s disposal (delivery point), which isagnized as revenue over the term of the charterpémer miscellaneous revenues from vessel
operations. Expenses relating to the Company’s tinagters are vessel operating expenses and ceoigige expenses, which are paid by the
Company and recognized as incurred. Vessel opgrakpenses that are paid by the Company includs tmscrewing, insurance, lubricants,
spare parts, provisions, stores, repairs, maintanatatutory and classification expense, drydagkimermediate and special surveys and othe
minor miscellaneous expenses. Voyage expenses &tecllso recognized as incurred and paid by thepaay include costs for draft surve
hold cleaning, postage, extra war risk insuranaekbrs during ballast period and other minor misoelous expenses related to the voyage.
The charterer is responsible for paying the costumikers and other voyage expenses (e.g., porhegpeagents’ fees, canal dues, extra war
risks insurance and any other expenses relatdutoatrgo).

Revenue is recognized when a charter agreemerts gtkis vessel is made available to the charterécallection of the related revenue is
reasonably assured. Unearned revenue includesv@hue received prior to the balance sheet dktting to services to be rendered after the
balance sheet date and (ii) deferred revenue negditbm straight-line revenue recognition in restpaf charter agreements that provide for
varying charter rates. Accrued revenue results staight-line revenue recognition in respect airtér agreements that provide for varying
charter rates. Commissions (address and brokenaggxdless of charter type, are always paid byCthmpany, are deferred and amortized
over the related charter period and are presemstedsaparate line item in revenues to arrive atavenues in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income.

Pension and Retirement Benefit Obligatic—Crew: The Subsidiaries included in the consolidated fa@rstatements employ the crew on
board under short-term contracts (usually up t@ mronths) and accordingly, they are not liableasfoy pension or post-retirement benefits.

Taxes:Entities within the group that are incorporated emithe laws of either the Republic of Liberia og Republic of The Marshall Islands
are not subject to Liberian or Marshall Islandsome taxes. However, each vessel-owning Subsidissybject to registration and tonnage
taxes under the laws of the Republic of CypruserRepublic of The Marshall Islands depending oeneteach Company’s vessel is
registered, which is not an income tax. As of Janda2013, each vessel managed in Greece is subjesnnage tax, under the laws of the
Republic of Greece, which is not an income tax.sehegistration and tonnage taxes are recordeithwitsssel Operating Expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Furthermore, the Subsidiaries are subject to a #¥ted States federal tax in respect of its U.Sra®shipping income (imposed on gross
income without the allowance for any deductionsihay do not meet the requirements for an exemgtaom such tax provided by Section 883
of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986. As altethe Subsidiaries file U.S. federal tax retuansl pay the relevant U.S. federal tax on 1
U.S. source shipping income, which is not an incéaxe Such taxes have been recorded within Voyagereses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. In many cakesettaxes are recovered from the charterers;asuohnts recovered are recorded within
Revenues in the accompanying consolidated statsroémcome.

Dividends:Dividends are recorded in the period in which they declared by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Segment ReportingThe Company reports financial information and eatds its operations by total charter revenue ahtbynthe type of
vessel or vessel employment for its customers.Adm@pany’s vessels have similar operating and ecanohnaracteristics. As a result,
management, including the chief operating decisiakers, reviews operating results solely by revgrareday and operating results of the
fleet, and thus the Company has determined tlogieitates as one reportable segment. Furthermoss thie Company charters a vessel to a
charterer, the charterer is free to trade the Vegsddwide and, as a result, the disclosure ofggaphic information is impracticable.

Recent Accounting PronouncementThere are no recent accounting pronouncementsdibygtian of which would have a material effect
the Company’s consolidated financial statementhéncurrent period.

3. Transactions with Related Parties

Safety Management Overseas S.A., Panama “Manager”): On May 29, 2008, Safe Bulkers signed a managengeaement (the
“Management Agreement”) with Safety Managemenglated party that is controlled by Polys Hajioanridader such Management
Agreement, each vessel-owning Subsidiary has ehtete, or in the case of vessels not yet delivevélll enter into, a management agreement
with the Manager (the “Shipmanagement Agreemenit#ifler these Shipmanagement Agreements, chartegegations, technical and
accounting services are provided to the vessethdmanager. In accordance with the Managementekgeat and the Shipmanagement
Agreements, the Manager receives a fixed fee peselealculated proportionally to the number of ewship days, (the “Fixed fee”), plus a
variable fee calculated on gross freight, charie, ballast bonus and demurrage (the “Variablé)fdéxed
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fees and Variable fees are recorded in Generahdnunistrative Expenses (refer to Note 18). In &éddi under the Supervision Agreements,
the Manager receives a supervision fee in exchéorgen-site supervision services with respect tmelbuilds, of which 50% is payable upon
the signing of the relevant Supervision Agreemanti 50% upon successful completion of the sea tolaéach newbuild (the “Supervision
fee”). Supervision fees are recorded in Advancesédssel acquisition and vessels under constru¢tafar to Note 6). Furthermore under the
Management Agreement, the Manager receives afeg&mlculated on the contract price for each Vesdd, (the “Sales fee”) payable upon
the conclusion of the vessel sale, and an acquisiéie calculated on the contract price of eackelenstructed or purchased, (the
“Acquisition fee”) payable upon the conclusion bétvessel acquisition, in exchange for servicesigeal in relation to a sale or an acquisition
of a vessel respectively. Sales fees are record€ain on sale of assets (refer to Note 20). Adtipiisfees are recorded in Advances for vesse
acquisition and vessels under construction (refétdte 6).

The management fees can be adjusted annuallyie&fiddty 29 of each year, the anniversary of ouneimto the Management Agreement. On
May 29, 2011, the Fixed fee was readjusted to ®0fitn $0.575 per day, and the Supervision feeneadjusted to $550 from $375, while all
other management fees remained constant. No réadjnshas been made since then on any of the fees.

Fees pursuant to the Management Agreement, then@hggement Agreements and the Supervision Agresmame as follows:

For the Years Ended May 29
(In thousands of U.S. Dollars, except of VariableSales and
Acquisition fees)

2010 2011 2012
Fixed fee $ 0.57¢ $ 0.57¢ $ 0.70(
Variable fee 1.0(% 1.25% 1.25%
Supervision fet $ 37t $ 37t $ 55C
Sales fe¢ 1.00% 1.0(% 1.0(%
Acquisition fee 1.0(% 1.0(% 1.0(%

Fees pursuant to the Management Agreement, then8higgement Agreements and the Supervision Agresraemcomprised of the
following:

Year Ended December 31
(In thousands of U.S. Dollars)

2010 2011 2012
Fixed and Variable fee $ 4,88( $ 6,02¢ $ 7,72€
Supervision fee 93¢ 2,11z 1,37t
Sales fee 33C — —
Acquisition fees 1,84( 1,34¢ 1,81(

4. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable trade are comprised of thefotg:
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December 31

2011 2012
Trade receivable $ 5,55( $ 5,247
Other receivables — 31,80(
Total $ 5,55( $ 37,047

Trade receivables reflect the current receivablas time or voyage charters.

Other receivables amounting to $31,800 as of Deee@b, 2012, reflect the receivables related tacreellation of the acquisition agreement
of newbuildHull No. J0131 The Company had entered into a shipbuilding eattwith Zhoushan Jinhaiwan Shipyard Co., (the pgaid”)

for the construction, sale and delivery by the $aid to it of one 180,000 DWT Capesize class neldhugssel Hull No. J0131) in exchange
for USD $53 million. In December 2012, after havpayd $31.8 million in advances during constructitie Company exercised its termina
right under the agreement due to the Shipyard’'ssige construction delays and delivered demaneadb of the Shipyard and the refund
guarantor, The Export Import Bank of China (a beatkd Aa3 by Moody’s Investor Services), pursuarihe shipbuilding contract and the
refund guarantees, respectively, for a refund efftiti amount of advances paid, with interest.dsponse, in January 2013, the Company
received a notice of arbitration, and arbitratioageedings with the shipyard were initiated in LondEngland. The Shipyard alleges that the
Companys termination constitutes a breach of the agreemmmhtargues that the Company is not entitled &fund of any of the advances p

or interest. Under the terms of the shipbuildingtcact and the relevant refund guarantees, the @oynis entitled to receive interest on the
advances paid, the accrued amount of which as oémber 31, 2012, was $2,541, (refer to Note 11ltg. Gapitalized expenses in relation to
newbuildHull No. J0131until the time of the contract cancellation amodrte$612, and the accrued legal expenses amotm#8] as of
December 31, 2012, (refer to Note 11c). If the Canypwins the arbitration claim, the Company willdsgtitled to a full refund of the $31.8
million paid in advances, of interest on advancad pnd of arbitration expenses. On the basisgafl ladvice received, the Company believes
that the advances paid, as well as the interesitese, are recoverable under both the shipbuildimgract and the refund guarantees. Howeve
arbitration is inherently uncertain and the Compeagnot provide assurance that it will prevail hesgait is not possible to predict what the
final outcome will be of any legal proceeding. T®empany is and will continue vigorously pursuing #rbitration and believes that the merits
in this dispute rest in the Company’s favor. An evagainst the Company would require the Comparigdar the cost thereof, which includes
the amount of advances already paid, the capithbzpenses recorded and any further damages ghipgard without receipt of the vessel.

5. Vessels, Net

Vessels, net, are comprised of the following:

Vessel Accumulated Net Book
Cost Depreciation Value

Balance, January 1, 201.: 605,36 (64,127 541,24
Transfer from Advances for vessel acquisitions agsbels under

constructior 137,74¢ — 137,74¢

Depreciation expense — (23,637 (23,63))

Balance, December 31, 201 $ 743,11¢ $ (87,760 $ 655,35t
Transfer from Advances for vessel acquisitions aesbels under

constructior 186,89! — 186,89!

Depreciation expense — (32,250 (32,250

Balance, December 31, 201 $ 930,01: $ (120,01() $ 810,00:

Transfer from Advances for vessel acquisitions egbels under construction represents advance$npaspect of the acquisition of second
hand vessels and newbuild vessels which were wuestruction and delivered to the Company. Fop#réods presented, the Company
accepted delivery of the following vessels:

. During the year ended December 31, 2(Venus HistonandPelopidas; and
. During the year ended December 31, 2@fPossini, Venus Horizon, Pedhoulas Bidlr,Pedhoulas Fighter Pedhoulas Farmer
andKoulitsa.

As of December 31, 2012, vessels with a carryirlgevaf $795,966 have been provided as collateragtmre the Company’s bank loans as
discussed in Note 8.
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6. Advances for Vessel Acquisition and Vessels urd@onstruction

Advances for vessel acquisition and vessels uratestouction are comprised of the followir

Balance, January 1, 2011 $ 99,01
Advances paid, including capitalized expenses atedes! 161,04:
Transferred to vessel cost g137,745)

Balance, December 31, 201 $ 122,30°
Advances paid, including capitalized expenses atetest 136,90:
Asset purchase cancellati (32,419
Transferred to vessel cost £186,89!)

Balance, December 31, 201 $ 39,90:

Advances Paid for vessel acquisitions and vessglsruconstruction comprise payments of installmémaswere due to the respective shipyar
or third-party sellers, capitalized interest andaia capitalized expenses. During 2011 and 20&tB payments were made for the following
vessels:

. During the year ended December 31, 20/&ihus History Pelopidas, Venus Horizon, Efrossini, Hull No. JO18uLIl 1659, Hull
1660andHull 2396; and

. During the year ended December 31, 20/&hus Horizon, Efrossini, Pedhoulas Builder, Peda®righter, Pedhoulas Farmer,
Koulitsa, Paraskev(refer to Note 23)Hull No. J0131, Hull 814, Hull 1659, Hull 1660, H2396, Hull 2397andHull 8126.

Transfers to vessel cost relate to the delivethéoCompany from the respective shipyard or thadypseller of the following vessels:
. During the year ended December 31, 2(Venus HistonandPelopidas; and

. During the year ended December 31, 2(Efrossini, Venus Horizot, Pedhoulas Builde, Pedhoulas Fightel
Pedhoulas FarmeandKoulitsa.

Asset purchase cancellation relates to the caricellaf the acquisition offull No. J0131during the year ended December 31, 2012, discusse
in Note 4.

7. Deferred Finance Charges, Net

Deferred finance charges are comprised of thewatig:

Balance, January 1, 201. $ 93C
Additions 5,94¢
Write-off (60)
Amortization expense 5595:)

Balance, December 31, 201 $ 6,22¢
Additions 1,467
Amortization expense (1,220

Balance, December 31, 201 $ 6,467
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8. Bank Debt

Bank debt is comprised of the following securedtwings:

December 31

Borrower Commencement Maturity 2011 2012

Peles June 2007 December 2012 31,98 $—
Marindou January 2008 December 2012 28,50( —
Avstes April 2008 December 2012 28,28¢ —
Eniadefhi February 2009 December 2012 34,50( —
Eniaprohi November 2008 December 2012 34,00( —
Maxdodeke February 2010 December 2012 — —
Maxeikosi August 2012 August 2014 — 17,87¢
Maxpente July 2010 January 2015 38,20( 33,90(
Maxdodeke December 2012 February 2016 — 23,15(
Marathassi February 2005 February 2017 16,56¢ 13,30¢
Marindou December 2012 January 2018 — 28,40(
Marinouki March 200€ March 201€ 27,69¢ 25,17
Avstes December 201 April 2018 — 22,70(
Eniaprohi December 201 November 201! — 24,00(
Petra January 200° January 201! 24,97 22,22(
Eniadefhi December 201 February 2019 — 33,75(
Pemel March 2007 March 201¢ 24,96¢ 22,21¢
Eptaprohi April 2012 April 2019 — 42,80(
Peles December 201 June 201¢ — 32,29¢
Maxeikosieng October 201: October 201¢ — 18,00(
Soffive November 200° November 201! 35,40( 33,00(
Kerasies December 200 December 201 33,06¢ 30,93:
Maxdekatria March 2012 March 202C — 20,80(
Maxdeka August 2011 December 202 37,49¢ 34,08
Staloudi July 2008 July 2023 43,86( 27,52(
Shikoku October 201: August 202: 44,80( 41,06°
Maxeikositesser September 201 February 202: — 33,97:
Maxenteke April 2012 April 2024 — 34,50(
Total 484,29: $ 615,66
Current portion 18,48¢ $ 19,19¢
Long-term portion 465,80! $ 596,46!

The above loans and credit facilities generally lig@rest at LIBOR plus a margin, except for atipor of the principal amounts of Maxdeka,
Shikoku, Maxenteka and Maxeikositessera loan fa&sli which bear interest at the Commercial InteReserence Rate (“CIRR”) published by
the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Deu@ent applicable on the date of signing of tHewant loan agreements. The above
loans and credit facilities are generally repayatlsemi-annual installments and a balloon payragntaturity except for the Maxdeka,
Shikoku, Maxenteka and Maxeikositessera loan tasli which are repayable in semi-annual instalisiefhe fair value of the long term debt
outstanding on December 31, 2012 amounted to $63@yhen valuing the respective portions of the Meked Shikoku, Maxenteka and
Maxeikositessera loan facilities on the basis efrélevant CIRR applicable on December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, an aggregate amount 67$8was available for drawing under certain ofaheve loans and reducing revolving
credit facilities. The estimated minimum annuahpipal payments required to be made after Dece®be2012, based on the loan and credit
facility agreements as amended, are as follows:

To December 31

201z $ 19,19¢
201¢ 49,01:
201¢ 73,43¢
201¢ 67,76:
2017 52,52¢
201¢ and thereafter 353,72!
Total $ 615,66
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Total interest incurred on long-term debt for tlears ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 andaor$é,738, $6,722, and $10,038,
respectively, which includes interest capitaliz€$315, $1,472 and $966 for the years ended DeceB81he2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.
The average interest rate (including the marginpfbloan and credit facilities during the yeafsl, 2011 and 2012 was 1.394% p.a., 1.439%
p.a., and 1.850% p.a., respectively.

Certain of the above loans or credit facilities dnavcurrency conversion option whereby the borranay elect to convert the outstanding loan
amount or any part thereof to certain currenciesisigd in each agreement, using the spot excheatgeapplicable on the date of conversion.
Specified currencies include Japanese Yen (“JPS#fjiss Franc (“CHF"), Euro (“EUR"), Canadian dol@CAD") or pound sterling (“GBP”),
depending on the relevant agreement. In all theabmns or credit facilities with a currency corsien option, no consideration has been or
will be paid by any of the borrowers to the respectenders in connection with the conversion apsice the parties did not ascribe value to
the conversion option as the conversion optionsilavays based on the market or spot rates atrtieettiey are exercised. The exercise of the
conversion option in any of the above loans oritfedilities results in a change in both the caogdenomination of the loan and the basis of
the interest rate (that is, a USD-denominated hmars interest based on USD LIBOR and, upon coiorensto a JPY-denominated loan, will
bear interest based on JPY LIBOR). All other teohthe loans or credit facilities, including the mpim and the repayment terms, will remain
the same upon exercise of the currency convergitioro

The Company considered the accounting guidancéngle Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjiities, and concluded th:
the conversion options are embedded derivativasatbald require bifurcation and separate accountiecgause of the following:

0] The economic characteristics and risks of an ins#nt in which the underlying is both a foreign emcy and interest rate are
clearly and closely related to the economic charastics and risks of a debt ha

(i)  The borrowing arrangement that embodies lthéhconversion option and the debt host is noessuared at fair value under
otherwise applicable generally accepted accoumtiimggiples with changes in fair value reported amnéngs as they occur; a

(i) A separate instrument with the same termshe conversion option would be a derivative imstent subject to the requirements
of this accounting guidanc

However, the Company believes that the conversaioo under the borrowing arrangements has novédire due to the fact that the
conversion into a different currency, and, accaglyininto a corresponding LIBOR interest rate, willvays be at the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rate (spot rate) and prevailiteyést rate at the time of the conversion. Funtioee, both the Company and the bank did
ascribe value to the currency conversion optionsoasonsideration was sought by the bank and neevabs paid by the Company, as noted
above.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2012 all loans weremdémted in US Dollars.

The foregoing loans and credit facilities are sedwuas follows:

. First priority mortgages over the vessels ownethieyrespective borrower

. First priority assignment of all insurances ancheays of the mortgaged vesse

. Second priority mortgage over tMaritsaas security for the Kerasies lo:

. Agreement for second priority mortgage overKanarisas security for the Marinouki and Soffive loa
. Second priority mortgage over tPedhoulas Mercharas security for the Petra loc

. Second priority mortgage over tPedhoulas Tradeas security for the Pemer loan; ¢

. Corporate guarantee from Safe Bulk:

The loan and credit facility agreements, as amenotmttain debt covenants including restrictionsoashanges in management and ownership
of the vessels, additional indebtedness and martgag vessels without the respective lender’'spemnsent, minimum vessel insurance covel
ratio requirements, as well as minimum fair vessdlie ratio to outstanding loan principal requiretsethe fair vessel value being determined
according to the provisions of the individual laarcredit facility agreements with the relevant béhe “Minimum Value Covenant”). The
borrowers are permitted to pay dividends to theiners as long as no event of default under theemse loan has occurred or has not been
remedied.
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One of the loan and facility agreements requireséispective borrowers to maintain at all times@mum balance of $150 per vessel in the
respective vessel operating accounts. One of trednd facility agreements requires the respebtiveower to maintain at all times a
minimum balance of $500 in the vessel operatingact

In addition, the corporate guarantees, as amemd&#ife Bulkers include the following financial emants:

. its total consolidated liabilities divided by itstél consolidated assets must not at any time ex88% or 85% as the case may
(“Consolidated Leverage Covenant”). The total cdidated assets are based on the fair market vdliig wessels and the book
values of all other assets, on an adjusted basistamut in the relevant guarant

. the ratio of its aggregate debt to EBITDA (&éirnkd in the loan agreement) must not at any greeed 5.5:1 on a trailing 12
months’ basis or as the case may be the ratis eiggregate debt after deducting cash to EBITDAtmotsat any time exceed
8.5:1 on a trailing 12 mont’ basis “EBITDA Covenar”);

. its consolidated net worth (total consolidatsdets less total consolidated liabilities) (“Cdigsded Net Worth Covenant”) must
not at any time be less than $150,C

. payment of dividends is subject to no event of défaaving occurred

. maintenance of minimum free liquidity of $5@&0required on deposit with a relevant lender orravpssel basis for five vessels;
and

. a minimum of 51% of its shares shall remain diseotl indirectly beneficially owned by the Hajioannfamily for the duration «

the relevant credit facilitie:
As of December 31, 2012, the Company was in compdiavith all debt covenants with respect to its®and credit facilities.
9. Long-term Investment

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Cowipaested $50,000 in a five-year Floating RateeNssued by HSBC Bank Middle East
Limited, which is recorded in the consolidated batasheet at amortized cost as the Company interfdsd the investment until its maturity
on October 14, 2014. The Company receives interestquarterly basis, based on the three-monthddl&r LIBOR plus a margin of 1.5%.
The fair market value of the Floating Rate Not@fBecember 31, 2012 was approximately $49,500¢ckvhias equal to the exit price the
Company would receive from the relevant bank, bagedn indicative bid price received from the relevbank. Subject to certain conditions,
the Company may borrow up to 80% of the FloatingeRdote amount.

10. Share Capital

The Company was incorporated on December 11, 207anthorized share capital of 500 shares of comatock with a par value of $0.001
per share. On May 9, 2008, the Company’s Articiescorporation were amended. Under the amendeidl@stof Incorporation, the
Company'’s authorized capital stock consists of @00,000 shares of common stock with a par val0d01 per share, of which 54,500,000
shares were issued prior to the listing of the Camyfs common stock on the NYSE, which was completedune 3, 2008, and 20,000,000
shares of preferred stock with a par value of $@&xishare, none of which has been issued andstgading. In connection with the IPO
process, Vorini Holdings sold 10,000,000 sharesomimon stock of the Company of a par value of $D@€r share at a price of $19 per share
No proceeds were paid to the Compe

In March 2010, the Company successfully completpdidic offering, whereby 10,350,000 shares of camrmstock of Safe Bulkers were
issued and sold at a price of $7 per share, amvat@ placement, whereby 1,000,000 shares of camstaxk of Safe Bulkers were issued and
sold to Vorini Holdings. The net proceeds of thélmuoffering and the private placement were $74,9€t of underwriting discount of $3,150
and offering expenses of $861.

In April 2011, the Company successfully completguiblic offering, whereby 5,000,000 shares of comrstock of Safe Bulkers were issued
and sold at a price of $8.4 per share. The netgedg of the public offering were $39,637, net afamvriting discount of $2,100 and offering
expenses of $263.

In March 2012, the Company successfully completpdidic offering, whereby 5,750,000 shares of commsimck of Safe Bulkers were issued
and sold at a price of $6.5 per share. The netgea of the public offering were $35,237, net afamvriting discount of $1,869 and offering
expenses of $268.

Pursuant to an arrangement approved by the Compahgreholders’ and the corporate governance, miminand compensation committee,
effective July 1, 2008, the audit committee chammeceives the equivalent of $15 every quarterapkeyin arrears in the
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form of newly issued common stock of the Companpars compensation for services rendered as aadihittee chairman. The number of
shares to be issued is determined based on thaglmsce of the Company’s common stock on theti@sting day prior to the end of each
quarter in which services were provided and angeidsis soon as practicable following the end ofjtheter. During the years ended Decen
31, 2011 and 2012, 7,705 shares and 9,767 shaspgatively, were issued to the audit committedrictzan.

Pursuant to an arrangement approved by the Compahgreholders and the corporate governance, nongraad compensation committee,
effective January 1, 2010, the independent direaibthe Company other than the audit committeérictzan each receive the equivalent of 4
every quarter, payable in arrears in the form eflpessued common stock of the Company as part emsgtion for services rendered as
independent directors. The number of shares tedued is determined as noted above. During the yemled December 31, 2011 and 2012,
7,704 shares and 9,768 shares, respectively wareddo the independent directors of the Compamgrdhan the audit committee chairman.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
(a) Commitments under Shipbuilding Contracts and Merandums of Agreement (“MoAs”)

As of December 31, 2012 the Company had commitmerdsr one shipbuilding contract and six MoAs fo¥ icquisition of six newbuilds
and one second hand vessel. The Company expesfiisnthese commitments as follows:

Due to Shipyards / Due to
Year Ending December 31 Sellers Manager Total
2013 $ 78,37¢ $ 2,432 $ 80,80¢
2014 57,70( 1,37¢ 59,07¢
2015 51,23t 1,79( 53,02
Total $ 187,30¢ $ 5,59¢ $ 192,90°

(b) Other contingent liabilities

The Subsidiaries have not been involved in anyl lpgaceedings other than an arbitration legal peda®g in relation to the cancellation of the
acquisition of newbuildHull No. J0131, as discussed in Note 4, that may have, or hageehsignificant effect on their business, finahcia
position, results of operations or liquidity, nerthe Company aware of any proceedings that amimgior threatened that may have a
significant effect on its business, financial piosit results of operations or liquidity. From tingetime various claims, suits and complaints,
including those involving government regulations @noduct liability, arise in the ordinary courdelwe shipping business. In addition, losses
may arise from disputes with charterers, agentpyahds, insurance providers and other claimsirgjab the operation of the Company’s
vessels. Management is not aware of any mategaahslor contingent liabilities which should be dised, or for which a provision should be
established in the accompanying consolidated fiahstatements.

The Company accrues for the cost of environmeiathilities when management becomes aware thabéitjais probable and is able to
reasonably estimate the probable exposure. Managaseot aware of any such claims or contingatiilities which should be disclosed, or
for which a provision should be established indheompanying consolidated financial statements.a&imum of $1,000,000 of the liabilities
associated with the individual vessel actions, igdior sea pollution, is covered by P&l Club insoca.

(c) Contingent gain

In relation to the cancellation of the acquisitafmewbuildHull No. J0131discussed in Note 4, the Company expects, basétediacts and
circumstances surrounding the cancellation of trestuction of the vessel due to delays in the itoagon process and on the basis of legal
advice received from legal counsel, to record dingent gain of $1,923, on successful settlemetii@legal case, which represents accrued
interest income of $2,541 on the advances paibgshipyard, net of capitalized expenses of $64ated to vessel’s construction and of
accrued legal expenses related to the cancellafiéé.
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12. Revenues

Revenues are comprised of the following:

Year Ended
December 31
2010 2011 2012

Time charter revent $ 157,66: $ 167,75¢ $ 179,65:
Ballast bonu — 2,38: 6,397
Other income 2,03t 1,89~ 1,507
Total $ 159,69¢ $ 172,03¢ $ 187,55
13. Vessel Operating Expenses
Vessel operating expenses are comprised of thanfivlg:

Year Ended

December 31

2010 2011 2012

Crew wages and related co $ 11,44: $ 13,19¢ $ 17,20z
Insurance 1,88( 2,26( 2,82¢
Repairs, maintenance and drydocking ¢ 1,76¢ 2,10¢ 2,28¢
Spares, stores and provisic 3,941 4,05¢ 6,93¢
Lubricants 2,80¢ 3,05¢ 3,29¢
Taxes 17¢€ 212 30z
Miscellaneous 1,11(C 1,17¢ 1,684
Total $ 23,12¢ $ 26,06¢ $ 34,54(

14. Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Derivaives Instruments

Over-the-counter foreign exchange forward contrantsinterest rate derivatives are recorded avédire. The carrying values of the current
financial assets and current financial liabiliteee reasonable estimates of their fair value dukeshort-term nature of these financial
instruments. The fair values of the variable indefeng-term debt approximate the recorded valdies,to their variable interest rates. The fair
value of the fixed interest long-term debt is estied using prevailing market rates as of the pegiwtl The fair values of the long-term debt
and long-term investment (the floating rate note)disclosed in Notes 8 and 9, respectively.

Derivative instruments

The Company enters into interest rate swap traiogecto manage interest costs and the risk assdaorath changing interest rates with respec
to its variable interest rate loans and creditlitiecs. The Company from time to time may also eimiéo foreign exchange forward contracts to
create economic hedges for its exposure to currerclyange risk on payments relating to acquisitiovessels and on certain loan obligations
or for trading purposes. Foreign exchange forwamtracts are agreements entered into with a baakdbange, at a specified future date,
currencies of different countries at a specifierdts of December 31, 2011 and 2012, the Compadybautstanding derivative instruments
relating to currency exchange contracts.

The Companys interest rate swaps and foreign exchange fora@mttacts did not qualify for hedge accounting. Twmpany marks to mark
the fair market value of the interest rate swapbsfareign exchange forward contracts at the erglvefy period and accordingly records the
resulting unrealized loss/gain during the periothim consolidated statement of income. Informatiorthe location and amounts of derivative
fair values in the consolidated balance sheetdanstative gains/losses in the consolidated statésnaf income are shown below:
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Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Fair Values Fair Values
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
Type of Contract Balance sheet locatiol 2011 2012 2011 2012
Interest Rate Derivative liabilities / Current
liabilities — — % 22371 % 591
Interest Rate Derivative liabilities / Non-current
liabilities — — 10,13( 8,97¢
Total Derivatives $ —  $ — % 12367 $ 9,56¢
Amount of (Loss) Recognized on Derivative
Year ended December 31
2011 2012
Foreign Exchange Forward Contra $ (155) $ —
Interest Rate Contracts (12,336 (5,384)
Net (Loss) Recognize: $ (12,497 $ (5,38¢)

The gain or loss is recognized in the consolidatatement of income and is presented in Other (Esg)@ncome — Loss on Derivatives.

The Company'’s interest rate derivative instrumangspay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swagsed on the USD LIBOR swap rate. The
fair value of the interest rate swaps is determumgdg a discounted cash flow approach based oketibased LIBOR swap yield curves.
LIBOR swap rates are observable at commonly quiotedvals for the full terms of the swaps and theneare considered Level 2 items in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The folltg table summarizes the valuation of the Compafipancial instruments as of December
31, 2011 and 2012.

Significant Other Observable Inputs
(Level 2)
December 31
2011 2012
Derivative instrument- liability position 12,361 9,56¢

As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, no fair valuesmeaments for assets or liabilities under Levet lLavel 3 were recognized in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

Interest Rate Derivative

Details of interest rate swap transactions entertedwith certain banks in respect of certain loand credit facilities as of December 31, 2011
and 2012 are presented in the table below:
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Notional amount

Loan or Credit Fixed December 31 December 31
Facility Inception Expiry Rate 2011 2012
Marindou® January 14, 200 January 14, 201 3.950% $ 27,25: $ 25,75¢
Petra(®) February 19, 200 January 18, 201 2.885(% 30,47: 28,27:
Pemer® March 07, 200¢ March 07, 201: 2.745% 30,46¢ 28,26¢
Marinouki @ March 19, 200¢ March 05, 201: 2.730(% 27,69t 26,05
Avstes® April 25, 2008 April 18, 2013 3.890(% 27,34 25,68¢
Staloudi® January 07, 200 January 07, 201 3.385(% 45,68( —
Eniadefhi® April 01, 2009 February 12, 201 3.350(% 39,37t 37,12¢
Marathassi{?®) November 23, 200 November 23, 201 1.650(% 16,56¢ —
Maxdodeke?@ February 01, 201 February 01, 201 3.910% 32,25( 30,60(
Kerasie<? December 14, 201 December 14, 201 1.650(% 33,06¢ 30,93:
Maxpente(® January 31, 201 January 31, 201 1.220(% 38,20( 36,40(
Eniaprohi® November 14, 201 November 14, 201 1.4000% 37,77¢ 35,55
Soffive @) November 20, 201 November 20, 201 1.350(% 37,20( 34,80(
Pelee® December 15, 201 December 15, 201 2.050(% 36,46: 34,93t
Marathass{? November 23, 201 November 21, 201 1.950(% 14,93t 14,93t
Staloudi® January 09, 201 January 07, 201 1.450(% 43,86( 42,04(
Maxdekatria(® September 28, 201 September 28, 201 0.900(% — 20,80(
Marindou® January 14, 201 January 16, 201 1.600(% 28,50( 28,50(
Marinouki @ March 05, 2013 March 05, 2018 1.480(% — 25,17+
Total $ 547,090 $ 505,82t

(@8] Under these swap transactions, the banktsffegni-annual floatingate payments to the Company for the relevant atroasec
on the six-month U.S. dollar LIBOR, and the Compaffgcts semi-annual payments to the bank on tkegart amount at the
respective fixed rate

(2) Under these swap transactions, the banktsftparterly floating-ate payments to the Company for the relevant aoased o1
the three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR, and the Compefiigcts quarterly payments to the bank on the egleamount at the
respective fixed rate

The notional amounts of the above transactionsesheced during the term of the swap transactiosedan the expected principal outstandin
under the respective facility. In the Petra, Peamet Marinouki transactions, the respective bankthadight to cancel each swap on January
18, 2011, March 5, 2011 and March 7, 2011, respagtiand at six-month intervals thereafter, whiemcellation rights were not exercised.
15. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

December 31

2011 2012
Interest on lon-term debt $ 1212 $ 1,72(
Vessel’ operating and voyage expen: 1,36¢ 1,92¢
Commission: 65 65
Interest on derivatives and other finance expe 3,571 2,43¢
General and administrative expenses 341 211
Total $ 6,55¢ $ 6,364

16. Early Redelivery Income, Net

From time to time, the Company enters into arrareggmfor early redelivery of its vessels from chagts and may continue to do so in the
future, depending on market conditions. Early riedey costs are incurred where the contracted diigd charter rates are substantially lower
than the daily charter rates the vessels couldnpiatly earn in the current market. Income is ratagd in connection with early termination of
a period time charter, resulting from a requegshefrespective vessel charterers for early redslimad agreement to compensate the Comj
Early redelivery costs for the periods present@dasent costs incurred in connection with earlgnteation of charters for which no
replacement charter contract for the relevant ‘dmsebeen secured at the time of concluding thetehtermination agreement, and are
recognized at the time the charter termination@gent is concluded. Early redelivery income is gaized when a charter termination
agreement exists, the vessel is redelivered t€tmpany and
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collection of the related compensation is reasgnab$ured. If at the time of concluding the eaelyalivery agreement, a replacement charter
contract had been secured, any costs incurrectorria recognized would have been amortized ovetetine of the replacement charter cont

Year Ended
December 31,
Company Date 2010 2011 2012

Kerasies (&) March 25, 201( (1,520 — —
Pemer (b) April 13, 2010 3,581 — —
Pelea (c) April 28, 2010 (1,765 — —
Marindou (d) December 15, 201 — — 3,20z
Eniadefhi (e) December 21, 201 — — 8,47¢
Other minor early redeliverie Various (164 $ 207 $ —
Total $ 132 $ 207 $ 11,67

Details of the transactions presented in the alavie are as follows:

(a) On March 25, 2010, Kerasies agreed with theterers of the&aterinato terminate the $15.5 daily fixed rate time chawhich had
commenced on June 26, 2009, and was due to expBefitember 15, 2011. As compensation for earlgliegty, Kerasies agreed to pay the
charterers $1,520, net of commissions.

(b) On April 13, 2010, Pemer took early redelivefythePedhoulas Merchaninstead of on November 5, 2010. In connection Witk early
redelivery, we recognized early redelivery incom&2581, comprising cash compensation paid bydlevant charterer of $4,799, net of
commissions, less accrued revenue of $1,218.

(c) On April 28, 2010, Pelea agreed with the chiarteof thePedhoulas Leadeo terminate the $18.50 daily fixed rate time chavthich had
commenced on July 19, 2009, and was due to expifeptember 30, 2011. As compensation for earlgliegty, Pelea agreed to pay the
charterers an amount of $1,765, net of commissions.

(d) On December 15, 2012, Eniadefhi took early lieelsy of theMartine, instead of on January 21, 2014. In connection ik early
redelivery, we recognized early redelivery incom&®&475, comprising cash compensation paid bydlevant charterer of $8,644, net of
commissions, less accrued revenue of $169.

(e) On December 19, 2012, Marindou took early tigdg} of theMaria, instead of on February 24, 2014. In connection with early
redelivery, we recognized early redelivery incom&2,202, comprising cash compensation paid bydlevant charterer of $3,375, net of
commissions, less accrued revenue of $173.

In all the cases presented above, no replacemartecitontract had been secured at the time dktingination of the respective early
redelivery agreement.

17. Lease Arrangements—Charters-out

The future minimum time charter revenue, net of cossions, based on vessels committed to non-caiediene charter contracts (including
fixture recaps) as of December 31, 2012, is asvial

December 31

2013 $118,91¢
2014 57,96(
2015 27,44¢
2016 22,05¢
2017 22,95¢
Thereafter 175,65
Total $424,99(
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Future minimum time charter revenue excludes theréuacquisitions of the vessels discussed in Mbfesince estimated delivery dates are no
confirmed. Revenues from time charters are notigdlgeeceived when a vessel is off-hire, includtimge required for normal periodic
maintenance of the vessel. In arriving at the miminfuture charter revenues, an estimated off-rime bf 12 days to perform any scheduled
drydocking on each vessel has been deducted, aad heen assumed that no additional off-hire tinecurred, although such estimate may
not be reflective of the actual off-hire in theuta.

18. General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses for the yeateceDecember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 were asviallo

December 31

2010 2011 2012
Management fee- related part $ 4,88( $ 6,02¢ $ 7,72¢
Professional fees (legal and accounti 81C 83¢ 58¢
Director fees 24C 24( 24(
Listing fees and expens 63 58 53
Miscellaneous 1,02¢ 1,32¢ 1,33¢
Total $ 7,01¢ $ 8,48¢ $ 9,94¢

19. Unearned Revenue /Accrued Revenue

Unearned Revenue represents cash received in adoéitdeing earned, whereas Accrued Revenue septe revenue earned prior to cash
being received. Revenue is recognized as earnadstraight-line basis at their average rates wbleagter agreements provide for varying
annual charter rates over their term. Total UnehRevenue /Accrued Revenue during the periods ptedare as follows:

December 31

2011 2012
Unearned Revenue
Revenue received in advance of service prov— Current liability $ 4,131 $ 3,93¢
Deferred revenue resulting from varying chartees
Current liability 19,08( 14,27(
Non-current liability 17,82: 3,41¢
Total Unearned Revenue $ 41,03: $ 21,62¢
Accrued Revenue
Resulting from varying charter rat— Current asse $ — $ 554
Resulting from varying charter rates —Non Curressea — 92
Total Accrued Revenue $ — $ 64€

20. Gain on Sale of Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynpamcluded the sale of the ves&dd Efrossinito an unrelated third party for gross
consideration of $33,000. The sale realized a aiet of $15,199 after taking into account commissiand other directly related expenses
amounting to $832 for the vessel.

There were no sales of vessels in 2011 and 2012.

21. Dividends
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During 2012, the Company declared and paid thresemutive quarterly dividends of $0.15 per shallevi@d by one quarterly dividend of
$0.05 per share, totaling $37,463.

22. Earnings Per Share

The computation of basic earnings per share istbas¢he weighted average number of common shartstaoding during the year and
includes the shares issuable to the audit comnitiagman and the independent directors at theoétite year for services rendered. Diluted
earnings per share are the same as basic earingbare. There are no other potentially dilutiveres.

23. Subsequent Events

(&) Interest Rate Derivativeln January 2013, the Company entered into an istea¢e transaction with a bank in respect of thteePoan fo
an initial notional amount of $14,000 and duratidfiive years at a fixed rate of 0.98

(b) Second HancVessel Acquisitionsin January 2013, Maxeikosiepta took deliveryPafaskevia 74,300 dwt, Japanese built second-hant
Panamax class vessel. The relevant MoA had beardig December 2012 and provided for a purchase pf $13,850, of which
$2,770 was paid on signing of the MoA and the rerngi $11,080 was paid on vessel’s delivery to then@any in January 2013. In
January 2013, Vassone entered into a MoA for tlyeiaition of a 83,700 dwt Japanese built secondlikamdsarmax class vessel, to be
namedPedhoulas CommandeiThe MoA provides for purchase price of $19,400ybich $1,940 was paid on signing of the MoA and
the remaining $17,460 will be paid on ve’s delivery to the Company scheduled in March 2

(c) Formation of subsidiary:In January 2013, the Company formed the subsidfagstwo Shipping Corporation, incorporated under th
laws of the Republic of Liberi:

(d) Addendum of MoA:In January 2013, the Company agreed to a new stdtedalivery ofHull 1659, to be in the first half of 2014,
instead of the initial scheduled delivery in thea® half of 2013

(e) Early redelivery:On December 28, 2012, the Company agreed withithgerer of thélaritsathe early termination of a charter party of
which the contracted earliest redelivery date veamdry 29, 2015. The vessel was redelivered t€tmpany in January 2013,
whereupon the Company received cash compensati®h30860. The vessel has subsequently been chartétiethe same charterer fo
minimum period of 22 months at a gross daily chad&e of $8

() Dividend declaration:On February 18, 2013, the Board of Directors dedar dividend of $0.05 per common share, totalB\g34,
payable to all shareholders of record as of Marc043, on March 8, 201
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SUBSIDIARIES OF SAFE BULKERS, INC.

The following companies are subsidiaries of Saftk&s, Inc. as of February 15, 2013.

Subsidiary

Avstes Shipping Corporatic
Eniadefhi Shipping Corporatic
Eniaprohi Shipping Corporatic
Eptaprohi Shipping Corporatic
Glovertwo Shipping Corporatic
Kerasies Shipping Corporatit
Marathassa Shipping Corporati
Marindou Shipping Corporatic
Marinouki Shipping Corporatio
Maxdeka Shipping Corporatic
Maxdekatria Shipping Corporatic
Maxdodeka Shipping Corporatic
Maxeikosi Shipping Corporatic
Maxeikosiena Shipping Corporatit
Maxeikositria Shipping Corporatic
Maxeikositessera Shipping Corporat
Maxeikosipente Shipping Corporati
Maxeikosiexi Shipping Corporatic
Maxeikosiepta Shipping Corporati
Maxenteka Shipping Corporatic
Maxpente Shipping Corporatic
Maxtessera Shipping Corporati
Pelea Shipping Ltc

Pemer Shipping Ltc

Petra Shipping Ltc

Shikoku Friendship Shipping Compa
Soffive Shipping Corporatio
Staloudi Shipping Corporatic
Shikokutessera Shipping i
Shikokupente Shipping Ir
Shikokuexi Shipping In:
Shikokuepta Shipping In

S.B. Sea Venture Company Limit
Vassone Shipping Corporatis
Vasstwo Shipping Corporatic

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Marshall Island:
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Marshall Island:
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Marshall Island:
Liberia
Marshall Island:
Liberia
Liberia
Liberia
Marshall Island:
Liberia
Liberia
Marshall Island:
Marshall Island:
Marshall Island:
Marshall Island:
Cyprus
Liberia
Liberia



Exhibit 12.1
CERTIFICATION

I, POLYS HAJIOANNOU, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Bafe Bulkers, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by

this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1580 and internal control over financial reporti@@g defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Company, including its consolidatetsidiaries, is made known
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

b. Designed such internal control over finanoéglorting, or caused such internal control oveatfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Companigsiasure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyélis report, based on such

evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the gany's internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the period
covered by the annual report that has materiaflgcedd, or is reasonably likely to materially affabe Company’s internal
control over financial reporting; ar

5. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) andalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the Company'’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the Company’s board of directors @ispns performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Comy’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; an

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that inke8 management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the Company’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 201 /sl POLYS HAJIOANNOU

Polys Hajioannol
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 12.2
CERTIFICATION

I, KONSTANTINOS ADAMOPOULOQS, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Bafe Bulkers, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by

this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1580 and internal control over financial reporti@@g defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Company, including its consolidatetsidiaries, is made known
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

b. Designed such internal control over finanoéglorting, or caused such internal control oveatfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Companigsiasure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyélis report, based on such

evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the gany's internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the period
covered by the annual report that has materiaflgcedd, or is reasonably likely to materially affabe Company’s internal
control over financial reporting; ar

5. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) andalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the Company'’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the Company’s board of directors @ispns performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Comy’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; an

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that inke8 management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the Company’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 201 /sl KONSTANTINOS ADAMOPOULOS

Konstantinos Adamopoulc
Chief Financial Officer and Directt



Exhibit 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20ffSafe Bulkers, Inc. (the “Companyfyr the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012 as
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Reporthe undersigned officer of the Company certifiesspant to 1¢
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requiremesit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadition and results of operations of the
Company as of, and for, the periods presentedemehort.

The foregoing certification is provided solely faurposes of complying with the provisions of Sett@®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and is not intended to be used or relied upontigrather purpose.

Date: February 28, 201 /s POLYS HAJIOANNOU

Polys Hajioannol
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 13.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20ffSafe Bulkers, Inc. (the “Companyfyr the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012 as
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Reporthe undersigned officer of the Company certifiesspant to 1¢
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requiremesit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadition and results of operations of the
Company as of, and for, the periods presentedemehort.

The foregoing certification is provided solely faurposes of complying with the provisions of Sett@®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and is not intended to be used or relied upontigrather purpose.

Date: February 28, 201 /sl KONSTANTINOS ADAMOPQOULOS

Konstantinos Adamopoulc
Chief Financial Officer and Directt



